Public Document Pack

Health and Wellbeing Board
Agenda
BRISTOL CCG

Date: Wednesday, 28 July 2021
Time: 2.30 pm
Venue: The Council Chamber - City Hall, College
Green, Bristol, BS1 5TR

Issued by: Jeremy Livitt, Democratic Services
City Hall College Green Bristol BS1 5TR
E-mail: democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk
Date: Tuesday, 20 July 2021

Health and Wellbeing Board – Agenda

Agenda
1.

Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information
(Pages 5 - 7)

2.

Apologies for Absence and Substitutions

3.

Declarations of Interest

To note any declarations of interest from the Councillors. They are asked to
indicate the relevant agenda item, the nature of the interest and in particular
whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest.
Any declarations of interest made at the meeting which is not on the register of
interests should be notified to the Monitoring Officer for inclusion.

4.

Minutes of Previous Formal Board Meeting held on Thursday
18th March 2021

To agree the minutes of the above meeting as a correct record.

5.

Public Forum

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item
Any member of the public or Councillor may participate in Public Forum. The
detailed arrangements for so doing are set out in the Public Information Sheet at
the back of this agenda. Public Forum items should be emailed to
democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk and please note that the following deadlines
will apply in relation to this meeting:Questions - Written questions must be received 3 clear working days prior to the
meeting. For this meeting, this means that your question(s) must be received in
this office at the latest by 5pm on Thursday 22nd July 2021
Petitions and Statements - Petitions and statements must be received on the
working day prior to the meeting. For this meeting this means that your
submission must be received in this office at the latest by 12 Noon on Tuesday
27th July 2021.
Members of the public who wish to present their public forum statement,
question or petition at the meeting must register their interest by giving
at least two clear working days’ notice prior to the meeting by 2pm on Monday

(Pages 8 - 14)

Health and Wellbeing Board – Agenda

26th July 2021.
PLEASE NOTE THAT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE NEW STANDING ORDERS
AGREED BY BRISTOL CITY COUNCIL, YOU MUST SUBMIT EITHER A
STATEMENT, PETITION OR QUESTION TO ACCOMPANY YOUR REGISTER TO
SPEAK.
In accordance with previous practice, please note that you may only be allowed
1 minute subject to the number of requests received for the meeting.

6.

Forward Plan

2.45 pm

To note the Forward Plan for the meeting.

7.

COVID-19 Update - Verbal Report From Sally Hogg

2.50 pm

8.

Community Mental Health Framework - Victoria Bleazard,
Steve Rea, Rhian Loughlin and Lindsay Gee

3.05 pm
(Pages 15 - 101)

9.

All Age Carers Strategy

3.35 pm
(Pages 102 - 107)

10. Building Rights Report - Hugh Evans and Stephen Beet

3.55 pm
(Pages 108 - 138)

11. Health Protection Report - Katie Porter, Consultant in Public
Health

4.15 pm
(Pages 139 - 171)

12. Healthier Together Memo of Understanding - Hugh Evans and
Nicola Knowles - Presentation

4.35 pm

13. Any Other Business

4.50 pm

(1) Link House, commended by the WHO
(2) City Funds Well Being Grant Decision

Health and Wellbeing Board – Agenda

14. Date of Next Meeting
The next formal Board meeting is scheduled to be held at 2.30pm on Wednesday
20th October 2021 in a Committee Room in the City Hall, College Green, Bristol.

Agenda Item 1
www.bristol.gov.uk

Public Information Sheet
Inspection of Papers - Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
You can find papers for all our meetings on our website at www.bristol.gov.uk.
Changes to how we hold public meetings
Following changes to government rules, public meetings including Cabinet, Full Council, regulatory
meetings (where planning and licensing decisions are made) and scrutiny will now be held at City Hall.
COVID-19 Precautions at City Hall (from July 2021)
When attending a meeting at City Hall, COVID-19 precautions will be taken, and where possible we
will:
 Have clear signage inviting you to check in to the venue using the NHS COVID-19 app or record
your contact details for track and trace purposes.
 Provide public access that enables social distancing of one metre to be maintained
 Promote and encourage wearing of face coverings when walking to and from the meeting
 Promote good hand hygiene: washing and disinfecting hands frequently
 Maintain an enhanced cleaning regime and continue with good ventilation
COVID-19 Safety Measures for Attendance at Council Meetings (from July 2021)
To manage the risk of catching or passing on COVID-19, it is strongly recommended that any person
age 16 or over attending a council meeting should follow the above guidance but also include the
following:





Show certification of a negative NHS COVID-19 lateral flow (rapid) test result: taken in the 48
hours prior to attending. This can be demonstrated via a text message or email from NHS Test
and Trace.
An NHS COVID-19 Pass which confirms double COVID-19 vaccination received at least 2 weeks
prior to attending the event via the NHS App. A vaccination card is not sufficient.
Proof of COVID-19 status through demonstrating natural immunity (a positive NHS PCR test in
the last 180 days) via their NHS COVID-19 pass on the NHS App.
Visitors from outside the UK will need to provide proof of a negative lateral flow (rapid) test
taken 48 hours prior to attendance, demonstrated via a text message or email.

Reception staff may ask to see this on the day of the meeting.
No one should attend a Bristol City Council event or venue if they:
 are required to self-isolate from another country
 are suffering from symptoms of COVID-19
 have tested positive for COVID-19 and are requested to self–isolate

Page 5

www.bristol.gov.uk

Members of the press and public who wish to attend City Hall are advised that you may be asked to
watch the meeting on a screen in another room due to the maximum occupancy of the venue.
Other formats and languages and assistance for those with hearing impairment
Other o check with and
You can get committee papers in other formats (e.g. large print, audio tape, braille etc) or in
community languages by contacting the Democratic Services Officer. Please give as much notice as
possible. We cannot guarantee re-formatting or translation of papers before the date of a particular
meeting.
Committee rooms are fitted with induction loops to assist people with hearing impairment. If you
require any assistance with this please speak to the Democratic Services Officer.
Public Forum
Members of the public may make a written statement ask a question or present a petition to most
meetings. Your statement or question will be sent to the Committee Members and will be published
on the Council’s website before the meeting. Please send it to democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk.
The following requirements apply:



The statement is received no later than 12.00 noon on the working day before the meeting and is
about a matter which is the responsibility of the committee concerned.
The question is received no later than 5pm three clear working days before the meeting.

Any statement submitted should be no longer than one side of A4 paper. If the statement is longer
than this, then for reasons of cost, it may be that only the first sheet will be copied and made available
at the meeting. For copyright reasons, we are unable to reproduce or publish newspaper or magazine
articles that may be attached to statements.
By participating in public forum business, we will assume that you have consented to your name and
the details of your submission being recorded and circulated to the Committee and published within
the minutes. Your statement or question will also be made available to the public via publication on
the Council’s website and may be provided upon request in response to Freedom of Information Act
requests in the future.
We will try to remove personal and identifiable information. However, because of time constraints we
cannot guarantee this, and you may therefore wish to consider if your statement contains information
that you would prefer not to be in the public domain. Other committee papers may be placed on the
council’s website and information within them may be searchable on the internet.

Page 6

www.bristol.gov.uk

During the meeting:









Public Forum is normally one of the first items on the agenda, although statements and petitions
that relate to specific items on the agenda may be taken just before the item concerned.
There will be no debate on statements or petitions.
The Chair will call each submission in turn. When you are invited to speak, please make sure that
your presentation focuses on the key issues that you would like Members to consider. This will
have the greatest impact.
Your time allocation may have to be strictly limited if there are a lot of submissions. This may be as
short as one minute.
If there are a large number of submissions on one matter a representative may be requested to
speak on the groups behalf.
If you do not attend or speak at the meeting at which your public forum submission is being taken
your statement will be noted by Members.
Under our security arrangements, please note that members of the public (and bags) may be
searched. This may apply in the interests of helping to ensure a safe meeting environment for all
attending.
As part of the drive to reduce single-use plastics in council-owned buildings, please bring your own
water bottle in order to fill up from the water dispenser.

For further information about procedure rules please refer to our Constitution
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/how-council-decisions-are-made/constitution

Webcasting/ Recording of meetings
Members of the public attending meetings or taking part in Public forum are advised that all Full
Council and Cabinet meetings and some other committee meetings are now filmed for live or
subsequent broadcast via the council's webcasting pages. The whole of the meeting is filmed (except
where there are confidential or exempt items). If you ask a question or make a representation, then
you are likely to be filmed and will be deemed to have given your consent to this. If you do not wish to
be filmed you need to make yourself known to the webcasting staff. However, the Openness of Local
Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now means that persons attending meetings may take
photographs, film and audio record the proceedings and report on the meeting (Oral commentary is
not permitted during the meeting as it would be disruptive). Members of the public should therefore
be aware that they may be filmed by others attending and that is not within the council’s control.
The privacy notice for Democratic Services can be viewed at www.bristol.gov.uk/about-ourwebsite/privacy-and-processing-notices-for-resource-services

Page 7

Public Document Pack

Agenda Item 4

Bristol City Council
Minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board
18 March 2021 at 2.30 pm

Board Members Present: Councillor Helen Holland (Chair for this meeting), Alison Bolam (Co-Chair),
Asher Craig (Vice-Chair), Christina Gray, David Jarrett (substitute for Julia Ross), Tim Poole, Vicky
Marriott, Tim Keen (substitute for Evelyn Barker), Zahra Kosar, Hugh Evans and Janet Rowse
Officers in Attendance:Sally Hogg, Mark Allen, Raquel Aguirre and Jeremy Livitt

1. Welcome and Introductions
Councillor Helen Holland acted as Chair for this meeting and asked all parties to introduce themselves.
2. Apologies for Absence and Substitutions
Apologies for absence were received from Julia Ross (David Jarrett substituting) and Evelyn Barker (Tim
Keen substituting).
3. Declarations of Interest
There were no declarations of interest.
4. Minutes of previous meeting held at 2.30pm on Wednesday 27th January 2021
The minutes of the meeting held on 27th January 2021 were agreed as a correct record.
5. Public Forum
It was noted that two written questions had been received from James Ilett-Jones and written responses
provided to these.

Page 8

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

In response to two supplementary questions, Sally Hogg and Councillor Asher Craig advised that they
would be happy to engage on either issue and would provide contact details accordingly. Action: Sally
Hogg/Mark Allen
The Chair also drew the Board’s attention to recent national coverage today of the CQC's multi-system
review into 'living and dying well during Covid-19' and the headline finding relating to inappropriate use
of DNA CPR across the country. She indicated that she would arrange for information about this from
JuliaRoss to be circulated to all Board Members. Action: Jeremy Livitt
6. Forward Plan
The Board noted the Forward Plan and their attention was drawn to the following future dates:
1st April 2021 – Joint Meeting of the Health and Well Being Board (Hosted by North Somerset)
26th April 2021 – Development Board session which would include discussions concerning the One City
Plan and Mental Health
26th May 2021 – Provisional Next Meeting Date for the next Health and Well Being Board
7. COVID-19 update - Christina Gray, Director of Public Health - Verbal Report
Christina Gray provided a verbal update on COVID-19.
She made the following key points:









The case rate was now below 50 (at 46) per 100,000. However, the reduction rate was
slowing so there was a need to keep pace with this. the Board was reminded that Leicester
had gone intolockdown when the rate was in the 30s and that there was therefore a need to
avoid complacency
The positivity rate had now reduced from 10% to 1.8%
The vaccine rollout had been extremely good with approximately 30% of the whole population of
Bristol having been vaccinated, although take up of the vaccine was lower in some wards. Pop up
and outreach work was going in in some faith-based communities to address this
The UK Health Regulator had confirmed that the benefits of the vaccine far outweighed the risks
of side effects. The instances of blood clots in those who had received the vaccine was far lower
than the normal rate and there was not believed to be any causal link
The cohorts 1 to 9 consisting of the over 50’s and clinically vulnerable would shortly be vaccinated
and accounted for 99% of those who were the most clinically vulnerable at highest risk
Whilst vaccination for under 50’s would be paused in April 2021, this would not impact on the
target for all adults to be vaccinated by July 2021

Page 9

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk




Containing new variants will be the key priority within the next year or two. An updated vaccine
will be produced as a result of work that was being carried out by virologists and pharmaceutical
companies who were obtaining the necessary data to keep the vaccine ahead of the virus
It was important to stop the chains of transmission. However, there were only about 35 variants of
concern in the country which were very small numbers

The Chair thanked the work that had been carried out to ensure the calm and logical message concerning
the vaccine, whilst acknowledging that the numbers could mask that there remained areas of concern,
such as the homeless. She referred to recent work carried out by Carol Slater and Mohammed ElSharif in
this area and suggested that a report might be helpful to a future meeting Action: Mark Allen/Sally Hogg
In response to questions from Board Members, Christina Gray made the following further points:





Information concerning testing referred to both lateral flows and rapid tests. Whilst not all
negative results were reported, all positive tests were including all Pillar 2 results
In relation to surge testing, there had been over 40,000 additional asymptomatic PCR tests which
was about 1% of all those tested. It was noted that all of these had been followed up, isolated and
contained. As a result of these, two additional cases had been identified, in comparison with 35
cases identified by traditional enhanced contact tracing
Following the concerns that had arisen as a result of misleading recent information concerning the
Astra Zeneca vaccine, information would be given for NHS staff to provide to those taking the
vaccine
It was also noted that there would shortly be a press release indicating the different side effects
arising from each of the two vaccines.

8. Building an Age-Friendly City - - Carly Urbanski, Head of Programme, Bristol Ageing Better,
Age UK Bristol
Carly Urbanski gave a presentation on this item, supported by Kay Libby and made the following key
points:





The Bristol Ageing Better Programme (BAB) aimed to tackle isolation and loneliness and was
currently working across the city to carry out evaluations in this area
The original bid had been made in Adult Social Care supported by the Help Early Intervention
Strategy and assisted by Educate Bristol
BAB were not sole providers and operated across the city with 30 different partners. It was
important to embed learning and ensure it fitted together
Older people were at the heart of the programme through a combination of interviews which
would identify and inform a response, working with communities and supporting individuals

Page 10

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk





The goal was to bring all delivery partners together through age friendly city work and decreasing
loneliness. Details of the outcomes of the measures of the projects were listed
The Board was requested to provide oversight to an age friendly work plan in its final remaining
year and support its work including setting targets in the One City Plan
BAB understood the impact of the current situation on older people in the city and was working
with the Older People’s Forum to tackle this issue. They also wanted to ensure the legacy of their
work lasted

Board members made the following comments and Carly Urbanski responded as appropriate:











This was a very important project which needed support and would benefit everyone. It was
noted that there had been a recent LGA webinar concerning elderly isolation and that Barnsley
Council had recently carried out a project in this work area
This was a fantastic example of innovative ways of working, training, providing support as
peers as well as involving communities in their own health
The health of participants was a good result of the project and whilst social contact between
family and friends remained good, this work needed to be scaled up. An analysis of what had
and had not worked was being produced and would be submitted to the Healthier
Communities Working Group
All surgeries had access to social prescribing link workers which were an important resource in
combatting loneliness and isolation. It was also important to develop a Mental Health
Framework
It was noted that language could be a big barrier in this area in instances where English was an
additional language. Local organisations had worked with BAB to produce translations of much
of the material ie Oasis Talking Therapies had 10 partner organisations who funded different
partners
The results of this project were extremely good. A recent workshop on Population Health
Management had many parallels and contained examples of data sharing and evidence
building
Although there had been a huge change in the last year, learning remained very important
across the city. Intervention and partnership working were important to ensure the
achievements were maintained

9. Bristol Health Partners Academic Health Science Centre - Professor David Wynick
(Director, Bristol Health Partners AHSC), Lisa King and Olly Watson (Joint Chief Operating
Officers, Bristol Health Partners AHSC)
David Wynick, supported by Oliver Watson, gave a presentation on this issue and made the following key
points:


The Bristol Health Partners Academic Health Science Centre had been operating since 2021

Page 11

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk







Bristol was one of 8 UK Centres and had been expanded to include South Gloucestershire, North
Somerset, Acute Trusts, CCG and Sirona
The organisation had been set up to provide a multi-disciplinary care through a partnership
bringing together health professionals, voluntary organisations and research teams to provide a
group focused on work in this area
The three key pillars of their work were tackling inequalities in care, Children and Young People
and Mental Health with the aim of mapping these onto the targets in the One City Plan
Impacts had been achieved across areas such as Chronic Care Prevention, broad research and
design
These workstreams would continue to operate Post-COVID to address the areas affected by the
pandemic for children, such as isolation and loss of learning. Evidence suggested that this would
take three to five years to fix the problems caused by COVID

Board members made the following comments, together with responses from David Wynick as
appropriate:






Mental health remained a concern for each city. Work was being carried out between Health
Partners through Integrated Partnerships to tackle this issue which created real opportunities for
overlap
Social deprivation and inequalities in rural and coastal areas were very different and required
work, particularly involving members of the public and had been part of this approach for a while.
However, there was no mention of the need for research and evidence for value-based health care
in the recent white paper in this area which was disappointing
Discussions with population health, health inequality and the prevention hub could be important
to bring into discussions on this subject
The link between health partners and the community mental health framework and how
resources were allocated was important

10 Fast-Track Cities Bristol (HIV) - Dr Joanna Copping, Consultant in Public Health, Bristol City
Council
The Board received a presentation from Dr Joanna Copping, supported by Mark McNally concerning the
Fast Track Cities Programme who made the following key points





HIV had caused 32 million deaths globally and was one of the most prevalent and deadly viruses in
the world
The Fast Track Cities Programme was a global initiative
HIV remained a problem. There had been extensive work done in addressing it such as education,
condoms and treatment. Early diagnosis was crucial. Late diagnosis was worse in terms of
transmissions, morbidity, mortality and costs
Bristol had a significantly higher than average prevalence of HIV. Around 900 people in the city
lived with it, including significant numbers of people over 15. The disease was particularly

Page 12

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk












prevalent in the Black African Heterosexual community but was also related to deprivation and
male/male sex
Bristol had been designated a Fast Track City in 2019 under the Health and Well Being Board
An action plan had been produced driven by an HIV Needs Assessment
One key target was to reduce the stigma surrounding HIV by 2030
Further details of the programme were set out, including a signed pledge, a published Needs
Assessment and a National HIV Commission visit in March 2021 which had been attended by
Gareth Thomas, the retired former Rugby Player who had HIV, an action plan and three
workstreams, a website, a conference, the recently launched Common Ambition Programme
(supported by the University) and the Undetectable to Me Campaign
The Fast Track City partners had recently signed up with the African Voices Forum to improve the
uptake of the Sexual Health Service in this community
A National HIV Plan was due in 2021 with a commitment to end HIV throughout the UK by 2030,
to normalise HIV testing and develop a local plan for Bristol
Key challenges were to keep HIV as a priority, address persistent inequalities and the implications
of the complexity of commissioning and funding arrangements
The draft Fast Track Cities Plan for 2021/22 would focus on increased testing, reducing stigma
surrounding HIV and systems leadership
HWBB’s role in supporting this included addressing the barriers to ensuring zero new cases,
addressing stigma through their own organisations and helping with the wider implications of the
Common Ambition Programme
It was noted that this topic might be a useful item to discuss at a future Development Session
meeting. Action: Mark Allen/Sally Hogg

11 Final Meeting for Elaine Flint and Alison Bolam
The Chair pointed out that this was the last meeting for Elaine Flint and Alison Bolam who were thanked
for the amazing work they had carried out in putting policies into practice.
Elaine and Alison both thanked the Board and said that they had enjoyed joint working and the
opportunity to find out how Bristol City council worked.
12 Date of Next Meeting
It was noted that the next meeting is provisionally fixed for 2.30pm on Wednesday 26th May 2021
(subject to cabinet appointments following the forthcoming local government elections).
Meeting ended at 4.20 pm
CHAIR

Page 13

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

Page 14

Agenda Item 8

Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board
Title of Report:
Author (including organisation):

Date of Board meeting:
Purpose:

Community Mental Health – Target Operating
Model Update
Nick Goff (BNSSG CCG), Victoria Bleazard
(BNSSG CCG), Mark Allen (Bristol Public
Health)
28th July
Information and discussion

1. Purpose of the Paper
The purpose of the presentation and discussion at Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board is to
provide an update on our approach to developing an integrated community mental health
service target operating model, timeframes and hear from our Bristol shadow ICPs on the
emerging plans in response to the target operating model.

2. Background and evidence base
BNSSG’s Integrated Community Mental Health Service’s Target Operating Model has been
co-designed with a wide range of partners. It focuses on what matters most to people, their
carers’ and our staff. The Target Operating Model and a supporting overview document are
included as appendices (Appendix 1 and 2 respectively).
The Target Operating model was released in June 2021 to our 6 shadow ICPs with a call for
these partnerships to develop proposals in response to the model over the summer months
with final responses due in November 2021.
Shadow ICP have started to develop approaches and idea proposals for the Target
Operating model and wish to share an update with the board.

3. Community/stakeholder engagement
Extensive engagement was undertaken through the Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy,
the community services review, Long Term Plan response and COVID-19 Mental Health
Business Case which has informed the development of the Target Operating Model.
The ‘Discovery’ phase of this programme included over 40 engagement discussions with
people with lived experience and professional colleagues from across BNSSG (between
November 2020 and January 2021).
This Target Operating Model has been co-designed with a wide and diverse range of system
partners, including people who use our mental health services and their carers. A full
summary of engagement feedback is available.
A draft version of the target operating model was shared with system partners at the end of
March for feedback and organisation and group feedback was sought which has
strengthened and informed this version.
Over the summer months individuals shadow ICP will be seeking to develop their own
engagement methods to help in developing the proposals in response to the Target
Operating Model.

Page 15

4. Recommendations
To note the developments of the Community Mental Health Target Operating Model and the
developing plans by each Bristol Shadow ICP.

5. City Benefits
The Community Mental Health Service will provide integrated, personalised, proactive and
preventative support and care at a local level making the most of an individual’s and
communities’ assets. The Target Operating Model includes a focus on equalities – delivering
equity of access and outcome. The service supports several One City Plan goals including
the 2021 action on supporting community assets to improve mental wellbeing which was
voted the top priority for the city at the City Gathering

6. Financial and Legal Implications
N/A

7. Appendices
Appendix 1: Overview of BNSSG’s CMH Target Operating Model
Appendix 2: BNSSG’s Integrated Community Mental Health Service – Target Operating
Model (please note appendices for the model available on request).

Page 16

Target Operating Model for
Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire’s
Integrated Adults Community Mental Health Service
Vision
We want everyone across Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire to have happier,
healthier and more fulfilled lives. In developing BNSSG’s Integrated Community Mental Health
Service we are sparking the beginning of a radically different approach to drive better outcomes. It
is a new model of proactive, personalised and preventive mental health care that brings people,
communities and organisations together to offer the right support, at the right time, in the right
place.
Mental illness is our largest cause of disability and for far too long people with mental health
problems have been stigmatised, have experienced care that treats their minds and bodies
separately, and have failed to consistently receive the support they needed – sometimes with
tragic consequences.
It is imperative that we improve outcomes and offer people what they need to recover and thrive.
To do this we must provide co-designed support tailored to people’s needs – be that clinical,
practical, social and financial. This requires a different model of care that leaves behind the
historic boundaries between services. We are seeking new, local partnerships to be developed for
care to be integrated and provided closer to home, enabling people to benefit from the assets and
support within their neighbourhoods and communities.
Our ambition includes developing a new workforce with lived experience to strengthen local
teams, with all staff members providing support that is accessible, trauma-informed and culturally
inclusive. We need a new style of partnership through a ‘one team’ approach – with primary,
secondary, voluntary and community sector partners supporting people, together. The different,
complementary expertise each brings will be recognised and valued, providing a model of care
that that sees a whole person – recognising their emotional, physical, social and spiritual needs,
and their aspirations in life.
Crucially, BNSSG will be a great place to work. Staff will have the skills and resources to deliver
high-quality, evidence-based services in a kind and compassionate environment. Each day teams
will see the positive impact their work has on people’s lives.
Our Integrated Community Mental Health Service is a key part of BNSSG’s mental health
improvement journey, with a focus on continuous progress and measurable impact. As a priority,
we seek the fastest improvements in those with the poorest outcomes and will tackle the
entrenched mental health inequalities people experience. We will be transparent and accountable
throughout.
We have a huge opportunity to improve the mental health of our population. We all have a
responsibility to make the most of it and ensure that people can access the right support, at the
right time, in the right place – able to thrive in, and with, their communities.

Page 17
1

Target Operating Model
Author and purpose of
document





Service
Period
Further Information
1.





This Target Operating Model has been developed by BNSSG
Clinical Commissioning Group.
It seeks to provide a vision for BNSSG’s Integrated Community
Mental Health Service for adults.
This model will be developed further by all localities (including
NHS, Local Authority, Voluntary, Community and Social
Enterprise and Lived Experience partners) over May –
September 2021. This document should guide this process, but
there is significant opportunity for localities individually or in
collaboration to propose innovation and alternatives.
Integrated Community Mental Health Service
Ten years
A glossary is provided to clarify key terms (Appendix 9).

Population Needs

National and local context and evidence base
The Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire (BNSSG) Integrated Community Mental
Health Service will fundamentally change the way people experience mental health support. It will
deliver a new model of proactive, personalised and preventive mental health care, aligned with the
national Community Mental Health Framework published in September 20191 and the
Government White Paper ‘Integration and innovation: working together to improve health and
social care for all’ published in February 20212. It will provide a mixed medical and social model,
offering people and their carers the right interventions, at the right time, in the right place. This
includes clinical, practical, social, financial and physical health support, to prevent mental health
crisis and help people live to their full potential. The Service will continually evolve and improve,
informed by the latest research and evidence.
National context
Mental ill health is the largest cause of disability in the UK, closely connected with other issues,
including poor physical health, education and work prospects. The national Community Mental
Health Framework set out a transformational move away from secondary mental health care
delivered exclusively by NHS Trusts across large geographies. Instead, it is now expected that
mental health support will be delivered at a locality level through partnerships of providers.
Traditional divisions, such as those between primary and secondary care, will no longer exist.
Support is expected to be fundamentally preventative and tailored to an individual’s needs, as and
when they need it. Figure 1 below summarises a person’s links to a typical community, showing
the services that might be available to help them stay well.

1
2

www.england.nhs.uk/publication/the-community-mental-health-framework-for-adults-and-older-adults/
www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all/integration-and-innovationworking-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-html-version a summary of which can be found here:
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-social-care-white-paper-explained

Page 18

2

Figure 1: National vision for community mental health services1

The Government’s White Paper ‘Integration and innovation: working together to improve health
and social care for all’ (published in February 2021)’ seeks to:
 Establish Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) across England to develop greater integration
between the NHS and social care.
 Reduce the requirement for competitive procurements within the health system.
 Increase the focus on commissioning at a smaller population level (than CCGs have
traditionally served) and give partners within those populations greater agency to decide
what services are needed for their populations.
Local context
The overall ambitions of BNSSG’s emergent Integrated Care System are to:
 Build an integrated health and care system where the community becomes the default
setting of care, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, and where high quality hospital based
services are only used when needed.
 Support people to maximise their health, independence and be active participants in their
own wellbeing.
 Increase the number of years people in BNSSG live in good health.
 Reduce inequality in health outcomes between social groups.
 Create communities that are healthy, safe and positive places to live.
Supporting mental health and wellbeing in the community is integral to achieving these ambitions.
A Value-Based approach is at the heart of our vision, as set out in Appendix 1.
Local mental health needs
An Initial Mental Health Data Set which analyses mental health data from across BNSSSG is
provided in Appendix 5. Further to this, localities will be offered Population Health Management
support to strengthen their understanding of local mental health needs and model demand to
inform their integrated community mental health response. This next iteration will also be
aggregated to a Local Authority and system level to support consideration of the elements of care
that could appropriately be considered at those levels.
As an example, the diagram below illustrates the different health costs associated with supporting
people with a mental health condition within BNSSG. A breakdown of this diagram is available for
each locality area within Appendix 5 to support consideration of tailored approaches to improve
care and outcomes.

Page 19
3

Mental health needs are not always well defined and people can experience stigma and barriers to
accessing mental health support. Given this, there is a risk of under reporting of prevalence and
unmet need in relation to mental health service access rates. In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic
has led to a rise in stressors linked to mental ill health, such as complex bereavement and
economic instability, and it is common for reaction to traumatic events to be delayed. The Service
will be expected to use Population Health Management to model and respond to demand.
A broad summary of BNSSG’s mental health and wellbeing needs as at 2019/20 is noted below:
 According to Public Health England profiles, the estimated prevalence of common mental
disorders aged 16 and over in England is 16.9% of the population3. In BNSSG this includes
18.7% in Bristol, 14.2% in North Somerset and 13.6% in South Gloucestershire.
 According to the Quality and Outcomes Framework reporting by General Practices, in
BNSSG the prevalence of depression for people aged 18+ is 12.6% / 105,500 people, and
mental health (defined by QOF as schizophrenia, bipolar affective disorder, and other
psychoses – effectively Serious Mental Illness ) is 0.8% / 8,400 people4.
 There were 93.7 (Bristol) per 100,000, 60.7 per 100,000 South Gloucestershire and 59.3
per 100,000 North Somerset admission episodes for mental and behavioural disorders due
to the use of alcohol (narrow). The England average is 69.2.
 The prevalence of mental health problems disproportionately affects people living in the
most deprived areas.
 In parts of BNSSG, hospital admissions for self-harm are 40% above the England average.
 People living with severe and enduring mental illness experience a reduced life expectancy
of up to 20 years, predominantly due to unmet physical health needs.
 53% of all admissions via A&E are linked to drug, alcohol or mental ill health.
 Bed occupancy in our mental health trust often exceeds 100% compared with a more
3
4

2017 Public Health England fingertips tool https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health
QOF Definition: The Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) is a voluntary scheme within the General Medical Services (GMS)
contract. It aims to support contractors to deliver good quality care. The objective of the Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF)
is to improve the quality of care patients are given by rewarding practices for the quality of care they provide, based on a number
of indicators across clinical care and public health. There are 4 areas which relate to mental health; Depression, Dementia,
Learning Disabilities and Mental Health (SMI). Data from the QOF provides prevalence, achievement and personalised care
adjustments for each clinical care or public health area at a national to practice level. QOF 2019-20 Interactive QOF Data
Further detail and maps of this data are included in Appendix 5.

Page 20

4




appropriate occupancy of 85%. This results in high use of expensive ‘out of area’
admissions, adversely impacting on the person, their family and carers.
BNSSG has one of the highest mental health nurse vacancy rates in England.
Poor mental health impacts upon wider society and is estimated to carry an economic and
social cost of £105 billion a year in England, including £1.9 billion in BNSSG.

Appendix 5 contains further information about our population’s needs and includes information on
how this breaks down by locality.

Current community mental health services
Currently we have the following services supporting mental health in the community:
There are 78 general practices across BNSSG, arranged in six localities:
 Bristol has three localities: Bristol North and West; Bristol South; Bristol Inner City and East.
 South Gloucestershire is one locality.
 North Somerset has two localities: Woodspring and Weston, Worle and Villages.
Each Primary Care Network has a Board consisting of GPs, nurses and practice managers.
BNSSG has 19 Primary Care Networks, covering 30,000-50,000 patients within localities. Above
this level each primary care locality has a GP Membership Forum which is currently run by the
CCG to provide an opportunity to feedback on current and future projects. Integrated Partnership
Boards have also formed for each locality bringing together wider locality partners including the
Local Authority and VCSE which it is anticipated will develop into Integrated Care Partnerships.
The BNSSG population has one secondary care mental health provider, Avon and Wiltshire
Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust (AWP). Our Improving Access to Psychological Therapies
(IAPT) provider is Vita Health. BNSSG also commissions a range of Voluntary, Community and
Social Enterprise (VCSE) providers to deliver secondary mental health care in close partnership
with AWP.
The system also has three Local Authorities with differing populations and urban, suburban and
rural geographies. Each Local Authority has differing arrangements for mental health social care
and a different offer in terms of services commissioned to provide universal, targeted or specialist
support that could be accessed by people living with mental illness.
The current Mental Health provider landscape is broadly summarised by the following diagram. It
should be noted that this diagram is for illustrative purposes only. The size of the circles and
boxes do not represent the relative size of services. For example, we know that a huge amount of
mental health care happens within a primary care setting:

Page 21
5

Need for local transformation
BNSSG’s Integrated Community Mental Health Service ambitions have been developed through
extensive engagement with people with lived experience of mental ill health, their families and
health and care professionals, alongside undertaking reviews of our current mental health
services. This evidence has highlighted the need to fundamentally redesign services:


People have shared stories about having to be on the verge of crisis before they get the
help they need. The frustration and anxiety of trying to get support has escalated
symptoms, for some to a point of crisis. People feel that they are treated like they are a
burden being ‘bounced’ between services, confused as to why they are too ill to be
supported by one service and not serious enough to be eligible for support by another.



When people with mental health problems require physical health support, providers,
(including acute trusts), are not consistently able to meet their needs. Physical health staff
can lack the training, knowledge and skills required to recognise and support people,
detrimentally affecting their physical and mental health outcomes.



People feel unclear about where to go to find help as care can be fragmented. This is
particularly true where people have additional complexity and require a strong, integrated
response from services, such as a co-morbidity of problematic substance use.



Transitions are difficult: a proportion of young people moving into adult mental health
services are ‘lost’ in the transition and may then present to adult services later in their life
with more complex needs. Older people, and people whose care is transferred from drug
and alcohol misuse services to community mental health services, can also experience
discontinuities in their care.

Page 22
6



Mental ill health is not experienced equally and some groups are at a higher risk than
others5.
o Poverty increases the risk of mental health problems and children from the poorest
20% of households are four times as likely to have serious mental health difficulties
by the age of 11 as those from the wealthiest 20%6.
o People from Black and minority ethnic groups are at increased risk of poor mental
health and inequalities exist in access to mental health treatment, experiences of
care and outcomes. For example, Black adults are more likely than adults in other
ethnic groups to have been detained under the Mental Health Act7.
o Women are ten times as likely as men to have experienced extensive physical and
sexual abuse during their lives: of those who have, 36% have attempted suicide,
22% have self-harmed and 21% have been homeless8.
o The prevalence of mental ill health is also higher amongst other marginalised
groups, such as LGBTQ+ people, people who are disabled and care leavers9.



Our clinical staff feel overburdened by the weight of too many assessments and trying to
find services for people only to have referrals rejected. Staff say that they feel frustrated
and overwhelmed by the responsibility of a caseload without the resources to provide the
high quality support they know is needed. In redesigning our system, we must make it
easier for staff to work productively together as ‘One Team’ valuing each other’s
contributions, and developing a healthy and fulfilled workforce.



As a system we have some of the highest nurse vacancy rates in the NHS. We have high
occupancy rates in Psychiatric Intensive Care (PICU) and are often still left with no option
but to use Out of Area Placements for people as a last resort. When someone is placed Out
of Area it means they are far from the support networks of family, friends and local
professionals and it generally leads to poorer outcomes and longer lengths of stay.

What is important to local people?
This Target Operating Model has been co-developed with people with lived experience of mental
health care in the community, including family members and carers, and people providing care.
We expect Service delivery partner(s) to continue and build on this approach so that our
communities and those with lived experience are directing and deciding on service delivery to
most effectively meet local needs.
We have co-produced a set of ‘I Statements’ to show what ‘good’ looks and feels like to local
people (overleaf). We have developed the local Outcomes Measures and key performance
indicators for this Service in line with these statements (see Appendix 2).

5

Commission for Equality in Mental Health (2020), Mental health for all?, Centre for Mental Health
6 Morrison Gutman, L. Children of the new century. London: Centre for Mental Health and University College London ; 2015.
7
HM Government . Detentions under the Mental Health Act. [Online]. Available from: https://www.ethnicity-factsfigures.service.gov.uk/health/mental-health/detentions-under-the-mental-health-act [Accessed 20 April 2021].
8 Scott, S. & McManus, S. (2016) Hidden Hurt: Violence, abuse and disadvantage in the lives of women. Agenda
9 NHS Digital (2018) The mental health of children and young people, 2017, www.gov.uk/government/statistics/mental-health-ofchildren-and-young-people-in-england-2017-pas

Page 23

7

Experts by Experience
 I want to be listened to, be seen and respected, and have choice.
 I want to be assessed once.
 I want to know who to call when I need support & helped to access care.
 I want care that is tailored to my needs – from both clinicians and my community.
 I want care that is sensitive to my experiences and trauma, from people who understand.
 I want care to be joined up and accessible across my different life stages.
 I want to access care when I need it and expect waiting times kept to a minimum.
Carers
 I want to know that help is available if / when I need it
 I want to be heard, respected and valued as an equal partner in supporting the person.
Workforce
 I want to be effective
 I want to be kind
 I want people to be supported to be as well as possible
 I want to feel part of “one team” providing care that wraps around people when they need it
(no more “wrong doors”; primary/secondary gaps; “referral cliff edges”)
 I want us to move from talking about health inequalities to addressing them
 I want trusted relationships to proactively manage risk across organisations
 I want IT systems that will allow me to do my job.

This Target Operating Model sets out:





What we want to achieve from the Integrated Community Mental Health Service to help
address local needs (Section 2 and 3.1)
Who the Service is for (Section 3.2)
What the Service will include (Section 3.2)
How we will measure the value of the Service (Section 5)

2.

Outcomes

2.1

NHS Outcomes Framework Domains and Indicators

The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will help to achieve the following domains.
These are subject to change following the national annual review.
Domain 1
Domain 2
Domain 3
Domain 4
Domain 5

2.2

Preventing people from dying prematurely
Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term conditions
Helping people to recover from episodes of ill-health or following injury
Ensuring people have a positive experience of care
Treating and caring for people in safe environment and protecting them
from avoidable harm

X
X
X
X
X

Locally defined outcomes

The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will help to achieve the BNSSG-wide Mental
Health and Wellbeing Outcomes Framework, summarising the system’s collective ambition for
improvement. This Outcomes Framework is under development. Appendix 2 provides an
indication of its content.

Page 24
8

The Integrated Community Mental Health Service’s delivery partners are not expected to achieve
all of the indicators in the Framework alone. This is a system-wide Framework and will be part of
the key performance indicators used to monitor the Integrated Community Mental Health Service.
The Outcomes Framework includes quality measures and will be considered alongside the quality
requirements of the service set out in Section 5.
The Mental Health and Wellbeing Outcomes Framework will include process measures, outcomes
and impacts:
 Developed and agreed upon locally from standard sets, or where necessary, bespoke
measures.
 Common to the BNSSG’s Integrated Care Outcomes Framework (e.g. measures of
integration).
 Common to the Integrated Care System Outcomes Framework (e.g. reductions in health
inequalities and as per the value framework).
 Nationally directed (NHS, Public Health, social care).
We expect to publish the performance of all BNSSG system partners against this Framework at
least annually, with improvement supported through a regularly updated dashboard. This includes
partners involved in the Integrated Community Mental Health Service and those that are not.
3.

Scope

3.1

Aims and objectives of service

Overarching aims
The BNSSG Integrated Community Mental Health Service aims to put people and communities at
the centre of mental health and wellbeing support, providing integrated services tailored around
the needs of people and their families.

It will use a place-based approach, enabling people to benefit from the assets and support within
their neighbourhoods and communities.
It will bring services closer together as ‘one team’ of equal partners across physical and mental
health, community, social care, housing, primary and secondary care, community pharmacy, drug
and alcohol services, and fully involving voluntary and community sector partners. The different,
complementary expertise each brings will be recognised and valued.
It will offer personalised, proactive and preventative care. People’s emotional, physical, social and
spiritual needs, and their aspirations in life, will be recognised and supported, helping people to
live to their full potential and prevent mental health crisis. This is a fundamental shift from reactive
to proactive and preventive care.
It will help people to live lives free from stigma and discrimination.
It will develop a new workforce with lived experience to strengthen local teams, with all staff
providing support that is accessible, trauma-informed and culturally inclusive. Staff will have the
skills and resources to deliver high-quality, evidence informed services in a kind and
compassionate environment.
It will deliver consistent outcomes across BNSSG, whilst reflecting the different needs of
communities. It will tackle significant health inequalities, seeking the fastest improvement in those
with the poorest outcomes, and will be transparent and accountable for the progress made.

Page 25
9

Objectives
The Service will:
 Ensure patients, their families and carers have a high quality experience of placebased care, while demonstrating measurable improved outcomes.
 Enable patients and carers to easily access and navigate the care they require
ensuring parity of esteem with physical healthcare.
 Eradicate duplication, fragmentation and confusion by providing a ‘front door’ for
mental healthcare, with staff working as “One Team” across all service delivery partners
and ensuring comprehensive, integrated, person centred health and social care support
is delivered.
 Focus on prevention and proactive care, through improving access to community
assets and implementing the Making Every Contact Count (MECC)10 approach,
preventing the escalation of mental illness.
 Help people to recover from mental illness, achieve their recovery goals, maximise
independence, have a good quality of life and sustain their wellbeing. For example,
through support to engage in employment or developing a social support network.
 Eliminate Out of Area placements and reduce growth of aftercare spend, including
S117.
 Manage resources efficiently to deliver an excellent standard of service within the
financial envelope available, and support the system to achieve financial balance for
mental health.
 Continually review and improve the model of care and service delivery.
3.2

Service description/care pathway

Population covered
The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will be accessible to the population aged 18 and
over registered with a GP practice in Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire CCG,
with provision of transitional care for those aged 16-18 as detailed within this target operating
model. There will be no barriers to vulnerable patients accessing services e.g. homeless patients
who may not be registered with a GP, but should still be offered services according to their needs.
Providers will adhere to the NHS Choice Framework.
There may be cases where it is clinically appropriate for adult services to provide treatment to
those under the age of 16. This provision should be appraised on a case-by-case basis in
conjunction with Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services and relevant paediatric services.
The Service delivery partner(s) should deliver care where it is safe and clinically appropriate for an
adult service clinician to do so.
Unregistered patients living in the Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire area
including those who are homeless or vulnerably housed will also have equitable access to
services and should be encouraged and facilitated to register with a GP. Referrals for patients
registered with a GP practice in another CCG should be directed to the equivalent commissioned
service in that local area.
It should be noted that Local Authority responsibility is defined by ‘ordinary residence’ which has
different legal definition to that of health, meaning that local authorities and health partners will
have a small cohort of patients where legal responsibility does not coincide. Localities will need to
work across Local Authority boundaries to provide support where that is the case.
The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will support people with mental illness, their
carers and families. It will support people with mental health problems, whatever their origin,
10 https://www.makingeverycontactcount.co.uk/

Page 26
10

severity or complexity - irrespective of diagnosis.

It includes people with the following specific needs:













Common mental health needs, such as anxiety or depression.
Complex mental health difficulties associated with a diagnosis of “personality disorder” /
personality difficulties and complex trauma; people who use alcohol and other drugs,
and other addiction needs, including gambling problems.
Severe mental illnesses such as psychosis, schizophrenia or bipolar disorder.
Eating disorders.
Coexisting frailty (likely in older adults).
Coexisting neurodevelopmental conditions.
Complex lives, including people who do not wish or are unable to engage with mental
health services
Self-harm
At risk of suicide
Carers
People who have experienced developmental trauma, including adverse childhood
experiences.

It will also include groups experiencing higher levels of discrimination and marginalisation and
therefore needing specific, tailored approaches to meet their needs:
 People from minority ethnic groups
 The Gypsy, Roma and Traveller community
 Refugees and asylum seekers
 People with a learning disability
 Disabled People
 LGBTQ+ people
 People who are at high risk of mental health problems, including:
o People affected by domestic and sexual abuse; trauma; torture.
o People misusing substances.
o People with life threatening illnesses.
o People who have been bereaved.
o People leaving the criminal justice system; people with multiple vulnerabilities or
frequently in contact with the police.
o People who are homelessness, including people who sleep rough.
o Socially excluded people.
o People with economic insecurity; in debt
o People not in employment/workless (newly or long term)
o People leaving the armed forces (may have experienced trauma, struggling to
find work, a suitable home or forming new relationships)
o Students away from home for first time - feeling disconnected from family
(particular foreign students); living in a new town/country; stress of study.
o Young people leaving care
The Service must ensure equity of access to services for their whole population.

Page 27
11

The Service must provide information in an accessible way, and where appropriate in a range of
languages and formats that are easily used and understood by the intended audience. This will
include:
 Providing reasonable adjustments and changes to service delivery to ensure that the
service is inclusive and accessible to the population, including people with learning
disabilities and autism; people with co-morbidities, e.g. substance misuse; and people
from marginalised groups.
 Meeting the Accessible Information Standard (AIS) to support people with a disability,
impairment or sensory loss.
 Complying with the Learning Disability Standard (NHS Trusts) and Autism Strategy.
 Providing support for people who have limited or no English; who have limited literacy;
or who have a condition which limits their ability to communicate.
 Demonstrating cultural competence, and building trust and strengthened partnerships
with local community groups, ensuring services are designed around population
characteristics.
 Providing regularly updated information about the breadth of local mental health support
in a central place (for the public and professionals).
 Addressing psychological barriers – including demonstrating implementation of key
approaches, e.g. Trauma Informed Practice; Psychological Informed Environments.
 Demonstrating how equality and diversity data is being used to inform service
improvements and improve access.
 Ensuring interventions are in locations most appropriate to a person’s needs.
The Service will use a flexible structure for the delivery of services, accommodating people’s
changing needs over time. As outlined in the Royal College of Psychiatrists’ Community Mental
Health guidance11, the term ‘complexity’ is used to capture the different requirements for services
that people with mental health problems may have, ranging from ‘less complex’ to ‘complex’ and to
‘more complex’: The levels of complexity will be overlapping and there will not be gaps in provision
between them. For example, it will not be possible for people to fall between services such as
when people are deemed too complex for their GP but not suitable for IAPT or too complex for
IAPT but not complex enough for secondary care.
‘Less complex needs’
 For a significant number of people with less complex needs, these will be met by timelimited, brief interventions often involving one practitioner. These could be, for example,
a brief consultation with a GP, involvement in a community support group or treatment in
the IAPT (Improving Access to Psychological Therapies) programme.
‘Complex needs’
 Many people with complex needs, including those with psychosis, bipolar disorder,
severe depression, complex post-traumatic stress disorder or people with complex
mental health difficulties who are diagnosed with a personality disorder, can be well
cared for in the community, with the support of an integrated mutli-disciplinary mental
health service in which care is shared with primary care staff and community mental
health staff. Such staff will be based in the community service that also provides care for
less complex needs. As well as the direct provision of care, it will also involve care
coordination for some people with complex needs.
‘More complex needs’
 For those with more complex needs, a specialist multidisciplinary team will be required,
11

Royal College of Psychiatrists / National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health (2021). The Framework for Community Mental
Health for Adults and Older Adults: Support, Care and Treatment.

Page 28

12

which will involve the staff mentioned above, as well as further input from specialist
mental health staff. This team can function in a wider geographical area than services
for those with less complex needs.
Underpinning principles
The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will be person-centred and provide and
coordinate a high quality, holistic response to an individual’s care needs, whatever mental health
needs they may have. People will be enabled to use their own skills and assets to keep them well
or to support the achievement of their recovery goals and milestones.
The BNSSG Integrated Care System incorporates the goals set out in NHS England’s Community
Mental Health Framework, which include mental health support being delivered at a locality level
to enable care to be integrated and wrap around the person.
The Service will provide early intervention, but also respond quickly, proactively and holistically
when an individual’s needs increase. Through effective care planning, the Service will deliver
continuity of care to support a person to stay healthy, well and independent in the community. The
Service will be ambitious for achieving recovery goals, working with someone to reduce support
and maximise independence as and when they are ready. It will work as one, meeting the breadth
of people’s needs and creating a joined-up experience of care for people in their locality.
The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will be based on these founding principles:

12



Whole system approach: The Service will be a key part of BNSSG’s approach to
improving mental health and wellbeing. It will consider the whole population’s needs, not
individual service silos, to provide proactive and effective support and system
leadership.



Collaborative culture: The Service will succeed or fail on the basis of its relationships –
both relationships between people using and providing services, and between different
organisations providing support. Breaking the traditional divide between primary care,
community services including pharmacy, social care, mental health services, hospitals
and VCSE provision, requires leaders (including Lived Experience leaders) to play a key
role and for all those involved to be treated as equal partners. The Service will support
the creation of open and collaborative ways of working.



‘One team’ approach to consistent support will be embedded to ensure that people
never “fall between the gaps” of care. This will remove service boundaries and
thresholds. It will reduce the reliance on referral and discharge and the transactional,
linear model that previously underpinned the links between organisations. It will include
trusted single assessment models12, new approaches to ‘accountable multidisciplinary
team’ working (through new Mental Health Integrated and Personalised Care Teams)
where resources are pooled, and caseloads and outcomes are jointly owned by teams.
There will be parity between service delivery partner(s). All will be respected for their
expertise and have a responsibility for offering integrated care, and embedding support
within communities (including housing, debt and employment), building on, and
complementary to, social prescribing link workers.



Coproduction: This Target Operating Model has been developed in partnership with
local people with lived experience of mental illness, their families and carers and service
delivery partners. When services are co-designed they are more effective for the people

A trusted assessment involves a trusted assessor carrying out an assessment of health and/or social care needs in a variety of
health or social care settings. It aims to speed up assessment processes so the person being assessed waits no longer than
necessary before moving on to the next stage of their care.

Page 29

13

using them. The Service needs to embed a robust and inclusive model of coproduction
and co-design, led with communities and people with lived experience.


Delivering value for individuals: The Service will be designed according to our
Integrated Care System Value Based Health and Care approach (detailed below) and
driven by outcomes that matter to the people we serve, as defined by people with lived
experience and our communities including the wider determinants of health.



Community asset based support: The Service will increase people’s access to
community assets. These assets promote health and maintain wellness within the
community, and may provide a preventive function as well providing support. This may
include health and social care services; local facilities and services (including parks,
libraries and peer support groups); personal interests (including creative groups,
workplaces and employers and places of worship), and personal relationships with
family, carers, friends and neighbours. Everyone involved in a person’s care has a
potential role to play in facilitating their connection with community resources.



Evidence-based and informed support: The Service will offer evidence-based
psychological and/or pharmacological approaches that:
o Build on strengths and support choice.
o Are underpinned by a single care plan, accessible to all involved in the person’s
care.
o Focus on prevention.
o Improve quality of life, including supporting individuals to contribute to and
participate in their communities as fully as possible and connect with meaningful
activities.
o Create or fulfil hopes and aspirations in line with their individual wishes.



Care is wrapped around the person, tailored to their individual needs, responsive to
them and co-designed with them. The Service will ensure that care will be convenient
and responsive, there when needed, and consistent. It will be provided by people who
know and understand them to meet the breadth of their needs: clinical, practical, social,
housing, financial and physical health support.



A mixture of clinical and non-clinical workforce: The Service will increase the
provision of non-medical support for service users and carers, appointing new peer
support roles and Link Workers, enabling personalised care, choice and access to the
right support, first time.



Continuity of care: making sure the person experiences an ongoing relationship with a
team member and care is coordinated and progresses smoothly as they move between
different parts of the health and care system. This team member must be recognised
and able to work across organisations.



Access: everyone with a mental health need will have been connected with or offered
some level of support within 24 hours. The Service will work towards a same day access
principle for all services and ensure that local mental health support is fully accessible.



A model of care based on inclusivity will be provided, particularly for people with
coexisting needs, with the highest levels of complexity and who experience
marginalisation. Support will be trauma informed and culturally inclusive and an
approach of equality, diversity and inclusion will be embedded. The Principles and
Knowledge and Skills Framework developed by the BNSSG Trauma Subgroup will
inform the service approach. The Service must implement NHS England’s Advancing

Page 30

14

Mental Health Equalities strategy13 in full – through co-production with community
partners. The Service will be accountable for reducing inequalities in access, experience
and outcomes. No one will be turned away on the basis of complexity, but will be
helped to access the right support for them.


A data-driven model focusing on outcomes, with high levels of transparency around
performance and improvement. This will involve investment in digital infrastructure and
the shared care record to support a new trusted assessment model, warm transfers, and
integrated outcomes data collection. This will allow professionals to understand a
person’s care journey in real-time, and allow the person to feel the professional knows
them and understands their story without having to fully repeat it.



A model that embeds quality improvement to sustain and build upon effective
approaches.

Value Based Health and Care Approach
Partners will be required to take a Value Based Health and Care approach. This means:


Meeting the goals of Population Health: improving physical and mental health outcomes,
promoting wellbeing and reducing health inequalities, for a whole population and not just
those who present to services.



Focusing on achieving the outcomes that matter to people and making the best use of
resources (value).

The service will take part in the Population Health Management (PHM) development programme
which pulls data from across the system to understand people’s risk of becoming unwell, the
needs of groups of the population and how they use services, and use this information to shape
services accordingly. Further details are provided in Appendix 1.

Expected Service delivery structure
BNSSG’s new model of care will predominantly be place-based. Unless noted, the service
requirements in this target operating model are to be provided at locality level.
Services which need to be provided at BNSSG level could be delivered by a collaboration of the
service delivery partner/s to deliver at scale. We will expect the following services to be at BNSSG
or Local authority level:
 The BNSSG Open Door (Integrated Response Line) Service: service delivery partner (s)
will need to provide a Service that is integrated with each locality, for example, to
connect people to local community support.


13

Specialist pathways: service delivery partner(s) will need to provide a Service that is
integrated with each locality. There will be a system- led approach to developing care
pathways for people with specific additional needs, so that there is a smooth transition
between the Service and specialist pathways.
o Personality Difficulties and Complex Trauma
o Eating Disorders
o Community Rehabilitation
o ADHD
o Autism
o Dementia
o Perinatal

NHS England (2020) ‘Advancing Mental Health Equalities’ www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/00159-advancingmental-health-equalities-strategy.pdf

Page 31

15

Overview of specific elements of the Service
The diagram below offers an overview of BNSSG’s Integrated Community Mental Health Service.
Our Six BNSSG localities will provide a locality based integrated community health service offer
drawing in BNSSG system support to assist delivery.
BNSSG overview of Integrated Community Mental Health Services

The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will provide a Locality-based service offer. This
will include locality partners coming together to offer a more intensive level of support when
needed, as well as preventative and proactive wraparound support. Localities will be able to draw
in support from specialist community, inpatient and crisis mental health teams and BNSSG’s
talking therapy provider, to ensure a fully integrated model of care.
The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will be supported by an open door integrated
response line to help direct people into the right support who might otherwise be ‘lost’ within the
system or struggle to find the right access.

Page 32
16

Locality Based Integrated Community Mental Health Service

Page 33
17

Part A) Accessing the Service and linking with others
Upon initial contact with the Service, a person, their carer or supporting professionals, including
GPs, will be able to directly access support regardless of their level of need. The open access
support will be:




The BNSSG Open Door (Integrated Response Line) will provide advice, guidance, brief
interventions and an introduction to the Community Mental Health Service Offer. This
element of the service is not the only route in as people will be able to access support
through many routes e.g. primary care, VCSE. It is, however, expected to direct people
into the right support who might otherwise be ‘lost’ within the system or struggle to
access the care they need. It will also need to link with any social care front doors or
Single Points of Access in place in each of the Local Authority areas.
Their Link Worker (who could be, for example, a primary care worker, mental health
specialist, peer support VCSE worker), if the person is already receiving help from a
service.

The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will include Integrated and Personalised Care
Teams (Mental Health Multi-Disciplinary Teams) which will offer a more intensive level of support
when that is needed, as well as preventative and proactive wraparound support (such as social
prescribing, debt or housing advice) to anyone across the mental health system that would benefit
from that.
The central functions of the integrated team will be to effectively treat, care for and support people
with the full range of mental health needs in the community setting. This will involve:




Assessment and advice or brief interventions, support and treatments
Specific Bio-psychosocial and pharmacological interventions, collaborative care
planning and coordination
Support to access community assets as part of a stepped or integrated package of care

Where needed, care navigation led by Link Workers will be available to support someone to move
through the system and access appropriate help. If someone has complex needs they may also
have a Care Co-ordinator who is a clinical or social care professional such as a mental health
nurse, social worker, occupational therapist, psychiatrist etc.
Given the fluctuating nature of mental health throughout people’s lives, support will need to be
flexible and have the ability to be quickly adapted in order to meet someone’s needs.
The following sections of the target operating model describe individual components of the
Service.
Open Door (Integrated Response Line)
A new Open Door (Integrated Response Line, which could include a digital element) will be
required as part of the Integrated Community Mental Health Service. The ‘front door’ will need to
recognise and address the barriers people face, including confidence, technology, poverty and
stigma.
The core functions of Open Door are to:


Help people, their carers’ and other supporting professionals to get a quick response to
connect them with the immediate and most appropriate support for their mental health
needs. This will include quick access to:
o Preventative support in people’s communities – linking with VCSE lead
organisations (e.g. Social Prescribing; debt; housing; physical activity support)

Page 34

18

o Community Mental Health Support – including Mental Health Integrated and
Personalised Care Teams.
o Specialist community pathways.
o Community based crisis care.
o IAPT (Improving Access to Psychological Therapies).


Use the existing infrastructure of NHS 111 and the developments of 111 First, helping to
avoid unnecessary attendances at high acuity services.



Get people to the right place based on their need. This includes developing support for
people who may have accessibility needs.



Keep professionals informed when a patient or carer accesses the Open Door
(Integrated Response Line) directly.

The Service will need to have a single connection point for all mental health enquiries. The
approach being that when someone phones 111 they will be offered an option to be immediately
put through to this service if they require mental health support.
Linking with other mental health specialist services aligned to people’s needs
Most people with mental health issues will have their needs met by the Integrated Community
Mental Health Service, but for people with more complex needs specialist support may be
required. For example, the provision of specialist therapies for personality disorders.
The Service needs to provide care and planning beyond linear pathways, and have an agreed
approach to draw in support from specialist services in a way that maintains the principles of
person centred, proactive integrated care.

Partners that may need to be drawn in to support a response from the Community Mental Health
Service are likely to include:


Specialist community mental health teams, which will provide support, care and
treatment for people with the most complex needs, in particular for people with
psychosis or people with a diagnosis of personality difficulties, and complex trauma.



Rehabilitation teams for people with long-term complex needs who may need additional
support with activities of daily living. This support includes the provision of, care
coordination, and additional support and planning tailored to meet specific rehabilitation
needs.



Crisis resolution and home treatment services and inpatient care for people in crisis who
need urgent and emergency high-intensity support, care and treatment.



Specialist inpatient treatment services for people whose needs cannot be effectively met
by core community mental health services, for example perinatal mental health services,
eating disorder services or community forensic mental health services.



Support for those who may be at risk of exclusion from their community, including
socially excluded people, people who sleep rough, people leaving the criminal justice
system or people with multiple vulnerabilities frequently in contact with the police.

Flexing people’s support, care and treatment to draw in specialist care should be simple,
supported by dedicated Link Workers assigned to the person.

Page 35

19

Specialist support will be integral to the ‘one team’ approach at a locality level (outlined below) and
will have a core role in providing advice, guidance and clinical supervision to services provided at
a locality level.

Part B) Mental Health Integrated and Personalised Care Teams functions and roles
The Service will establish Mental Health Integrated and Personalised Care Teams (IPCTs) to
support the coordination of care for people with varying levels of need, including those with longer
term and complex requirements. This will support people who may not traditionally meet the
diagnostic thresholds for services, through a model that focuses on complexity, encompassing
physical health and wider social needs. It is expected that each locality will have an IPCT, but this
could be part of a broader existing MDT approach.
The IPCT will take a community asset based multi-disciplinary approach, working as ‘One Team ’
across service delivery partners. Multidisciplinary professionals (from different organisations) will
build a culture of trust, openness, and compassion, and support the development of a biopsychosocial model. The different, complementary expertise each brings will be recognised and
valued, providing a holistic model of care. Many people will live with mental ill health throughout
their life, experiencing periods of wellness and periods where they are unwell. At different points
people may need support from a range of different people, many of whom may not be mental
health specialists. The IPCT will ensure that care is provided in a flexible manner. Interventions
offered to people will be tailored according to their needs. As needs change so can the
interventions, without multiple referrals and repeated assessments.
This ‘One Team’ approach will be an ethos across all care and interventions and will not be
confined to formal multi-disciplinary meetings. It will ensure a better experience for patients,
meaning they are not ‘bounced between different agencies, that they experience care that
empowers them and addresses all of their needs. This will align with wider approaches across the
health and care system, e.g. High Intensity User programmes, social care programmes etc.
Each IPCT will:












Ensure people are treated as people first and ensure all care is personalised, not the
sum of their needs or conditions. This will require having a trauma informed and
culturally sensitive approach that involves training staff to work relationally and
holistically.
Provide a collaborative shared Care Plan for every person which takes a holistic, asset
based and person centred approach to meet the individual’s needs and complexity
whilst making the most of their strengths.
Deliver care co-ordination across all agencies involved in care and support. This will be
delivered by a named Link Worker or Care Coordinator whose skills will be appropriate
to an individual’s level of need.
Ensure care records are accessible to all relevant agencies where consent has been
granted.
Ensure people are able to access their Link Worker or Care Coordinator flexibly when
they need support.
Ensure records are complete and shared so that people do not need to repeatedly tell
their story.
Provide evidence-informed, holistic interventions and treatment to support the
achievement of recovery goals and milestones. Minimum expected interventions are
described under part C) and treatment and interventions below, but this is not an
exhaustive list as the service will be innovative in testing new interventions.
Have a multi-disciplinary team with appropriate skill mix, clinical supervision and

Page 36

20









reflective practice to support varying levels of need, including but not limited to peers,
recovery and wellbeing workers, clinicians, social care professionals, community
pharmacy, drug and alcohol workers, employment advisors and volunteers.
Have paid peer support roles within the model with appropriate training, support and
guidance.
Ensure that where someone needs more or less support, they are introduced to the
person ororganisation that will help them next, whether that is a crisis service or, for
example, a social prescribing offer (including green social prescribing) or access to
another agency, such as Citizen’s Advice.
Ensure someone who doesn’t currently need intensive support from the IPCT support
has a wellbeing plan based on the individuals’ assets and achievements through their
recovery journey. This plan will be held both by the person, their carer and on the
person’s shared clinical record. It will include the wrap around support that the
individual will continue to access; what previous triggers have caused illness and how
the individual and their network can monitor and respond to these. It will also explicitly
contain how the person can re-access IPCT support should this be required. In codesigning these plans the Locality Based Integrated Service should utilise technological
solutions such as pre-existing NHSE authorised or reviewed apps available nationally.
Ensure carers are supported to access care assessments and other support.
Take a Making Every Contact Count Approach to addressing needs, e.g. physical
health.

The Mental Health Primary Care Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS) roles will
become part of the Integrated and Personalised Care Teams.
Coproducing care plans
The IPCT will undertake assessment and care planning in collaboration with the person and their
families, carers and support network (where the person requests this). There will be a shared
approach to decision making within care planning.
The Service need to include collaborative care planning for people using services and carers,
partners or a family member who the person may rely on. Whilst the care plan is owned by the
person, a carers’ consideration section or a separate support plan for carers should also be
included.
It is particularly important for people who have more complex needs to have a well-constructed
care plan that is developed collaboratively at the outset and reviewed frequently to ensure it
supports the achievement of recovery goals and milestones and gives the right level of support. All
care plans need to be co-produced and owned by the person, taking into account all of their
needs, preferences and what is important to them, as well as their rights under the Care Act, and
Section 117 of the Mental Health Act when required.
People will be able to hold their own copy of their care plan. The person will receive a
comprehensive evidence-informed assessment and plan which views them as a person first. The
plan will include:









Their aspirations, ambitions and goals for their recovery and wellbeing.
Their mental health
Their physical and mental health medication
Psychosocial and psychological needs
A plan for when someone’s needs increase
Strengths and areas for development
A Care Act assessment, where appropriate
Social determinants of health, such as housing and any co-morbid substance misuse

Page 37

21



Physical health checks and interventions

This method for coordinating and planning care will replace the Care Programme Approach (CPA).
The CPA’s key elements are a needs assessment, a care plan, regular review and care
coordination. This target operating model sits on top of those aspects of the CPA, including care
planning and care coordination, and reframes them in a system that will work for everyone. This
will focus on improved outcomes and will deliver place based integrated mental health care to
people whatever their level of need.
Providing Trusted Core Assessments
The Service will develop and implement a model of ‘Trusted Core Assessments’ co-designed with
people with lived experience. This will offer a core assessment that is consistent across patient
care, recognised and built upon by different professionals and partners. Trusted Core
Assessments will be carried out by a trusted assessor who is authorised by the Service and all
affiliated organisations to carry out a Trusted Assessment on behalf of others. Feedback from
people going through the process should be regularly collected to review and improve it.
The Trusted Core Assessment would be built upon by partners to ensure that people do not have
to repeat their story, but also to allow additional information to be added to give the most holistic
view of someone’s strengths and needs. This approach will also support professionals in meeting
their relevant professional regulatory requirements.
The Trusted Core Assessment is not intended to act as a single and final assessment and people
using services will have the agency to jointly consider with their supporting professionals when a
revised assessment may be helpful.
Link Workers (name to be chosen by locality partners)
The IPCT will include Link Workers. The Service will ensure that anyone who needs mental health
support in their locality will have a named ‘Link Worker’ to help them access quality care and
treatment Depending on someone’s needs a Link Worker could be a member of the primary care
team, peer supporter, a key worker, psychiatric nurse, psychiatrist or other health and social care
professional. This is not a prescriptive list as each locality will develop its own workforce
approach, including innovation around new roles. It is provided to illustrate the need to tailor the
Link Worker appropriately to an individual’s needs. Alongside helping to get the right support, at
the right time, they will support a wide range of needs.14 This may include accessing mental health
support; help with finances; and signposting to a range of statutory and voluntary sector services
(working closely with social prescribing networks).
For people who experience inequalities in access to support, care and treatment, the Link Worker
will also facilitate access to the assets and resources that meet their individual needs, thus
contributing to a reduction in health inequality.
People should be actively supported to access all the services that are relevant to them. This
includes identifying resources, facilitating introductions to services and supporting ongoing
engagement (which includes supporting access back into mental health services with ease and
flexibility if the person requires long-term but less frequent care).
In some circumstances, the care coordinator might also have the role of the Link Worker,
especially if the person has more complex needs. This is in line with the NHS England and NHS
Improvement publication, Advancing Mental Health Equalities Strategy15.

14
15

Health Education England (2016), ‘Care Navigation: A Competency Framework’
NHS England (2020) ‘Advancing Mental Health Equalities’ www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/00159-advancingmental-health-equalities-strategy.pdf

Page 38

22

Risk management
Providers are responsible for agreeing a shared approach to managing risk and positive risk taking
across local partnerships. This will be at the core of care co-ordination through the IPCT. This will
ensure that recovery goals are ambitious and people can live as independently as possible. This
will include but not be limited to:








Ensuring current risks are not a barrier to achieving recovery goals and that a risk
assessment includes the benefits and challenges of taking a risk. For example, if
someone with self-harm behaviours could step down to lower support, risk consideration
will include the risk of stasis, hopelessness or institutionalisation and dependency from
not doing so.
Ensuring a system response to risk which offers people consistency across agencies
and ensures risk is held appropriately by individuals and organisations as presenting
risk changes.
An approach to risk which considers, but is not overly weighted on, historic events and
historic risk.
Ensuring that length of interaction with mental health services across someone’s life
does not limit ambition around recovery goals.
Supporting other system partners/agencies to understand risk and be positive e.g.
supporting a housing partner to accept someone outside their standard risk ceiling.
Having a learning culture around risk assessment which assures and empowers the
professionals working in the system.

Review
IPCTs will offer interventions to meet specific recovery goals. Progress against those goals will be
regularly monitored with alternative interventions offered where an intervention is identified as not
helping someone meet their recovery goals.
Reviews will be recorded within an individual’s care record. The IPCT will complete aggregate
analysis of reviews to ensure the reviews are happening regularly.
The Service will have clear processes in place to follow up service users who do not attend
appointments, and risk assessments and risk management plans are updated in accordance with
national standards.
Engagement with Services
The Service will take an assertive approach to engagement. It will not cease to engage with
people solely for the reason that they have not attended a specific number of appointments or
responded to a letter or phone call. Approaches to engagement will be personalised and where
an individual may be struggling to engage with support, partners will collectively consider which
professionals and strategies would be most effective in achieving engagement with the service.
The service will still need to plan to meet accessibility targets for people who find it harder to
engage.
Part C) Treatment and interventions
The Service will offer interventions incorporating a focus on the social determinants of health.
Interventions will be designed around an individual’s own asset base and that of the community
that they are living within. It will also consider the asset base available where people may also
identify with communities of interest, such as people who are LGBTQ+.
The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will provide a variety of opportunities for people
to receive effective therapeutic interventions to support the achievement of recovery goals and
milestones. The list below is not exhaustive as the Service will also be expected to test innovative
interventions. Minimum expected interventions include:

Page 39

23






















Assessment, advice and consultation for mental health needs.
Evidence-based interventions for mental health needs, including psychological support
and pharmacological treatments, and NICE-recommended psychological therapies for
people with Severe Mental Illnesses. Therapies will include but not be limited to;
individual and group clinical psychology interventions, Arts Psychotherapies, Cognitive
Behavioural Therapy, Cognitive Analytic Therapy, Dialectical Behavioural Therapy,
Mentalisation Based Therapy, Eye Movement Desensitisation and Reprocessing, family
and couple therapy, Psychodynamic Psychotherapy and Group Therapy.
Specific support groups (such as older adult groups, hearing voices groups, or problemspecific support groups, for example for diabetes or depression, support for people who
self-harm or are at risk of suicide).
Peer Support.
Social prescribing.
Talking therapies including specialist counselling if appropriate.
Psycho educational courses
Community assets (for example, libraries, leisure and social activities, employers and
workplaces and faith groups).
Coordination and delivery of care.
Domestic abuse and sexual violence services.
Effective support, care and treatment for co-occurring drug and alcohol-use disorders.
Employment, education, volunteering and training services.
Help and advice on finances (including benefits).
High-quality, co-produced, personalised care and support planning.
Housing and social care services.
Links with Community Pharmacies as part of a making Every Contact Count approach
Services enabling access to mental health information and online resources.
Services supporting people affected by self-harm and suicide.
Support that takes into account frailty, mobility issues and sensory impairments, and
helps people live independently.

SNOMED intervention codes will be used against all clinical interventions and any applicable non
clinical interventions. Where SNOMED codes do not exist for interventions the system will need to
agree a common set of codes to be used as an alternative. This coding will allow the system to
understand what interventions are offered to which groups, in what timeframe and eventually
linked to which outcomes. This will allow the system to better understand which interventions offer
the most value to individuals and the health system. The Service will be responsible for ensuring
all people providing care and support interventions are completing SNOMED data entry. The code
set will need to be clearly defined and clinical templates developed for practitioners to ensure the
consistent use of codes, to ensure that reports are accurate and meaningful.
Acute and crisis mental health services
Many people experience mental ill health as a relapsing and remitting condition where throughout
their lives they will have periods of wellness and other periods where they can become very
unwell. Whilst the ambition for the Integrated Community Mental Health Service is to be as
proactive and preventative as possible there will clearly be a need for people to access intensive
crisis support when they are experiencing acute or deteriorating mental ill health.
This Integrated Community Mental Health Service must deliver;



Timely and proactive support to people known to services who are showing deterioration
in their mental health and need urgent support to prevent a crisis
Clear approaches to rapidly offering intensive crisis support to keep people in the

Page 40

24






community and rehabilitation care to help them rejoin the community which
demonstrably contributes to BNSSG achieving zero out of area placements.
Approaches to crisis plans which will be held by the person and their carer as well as on
a shared electronic record for the wider system. These will be reviewed both as part of
core care planning and subsequent to an episode of crisis care
Analysis of common themes arising from people escalating to crisis which is regularly
reviewed by the system. Development and ownership of a rolling action plan to work
with partners to address common themes and shape and strengthen services in
response
For people receiving rehabilitation support the Service will ensure a timely and proactive
plan is in place for people moving to lower support accommodation or lower support
packages of care that maximise peoples’ independence.

Medication
The Service will provide advice on medication, prescribe medication, monitor people ’responses
and undertake specific medication monitoring in line with NICE guidance, the medication’s
Summary of Product Characteristics and the local BNSSG Formulary (adult and paediatric). The
service will ensure they work to good medicines governance.
Individuals and their carers will be given clear information on the benefits of potential medications
and their side effects to enable shared decision making. Information will be provided to patients at
the point of prescribing to facilitate them to take their medication optimally, ensuring they are
supported to best manage their medication. Patient support will be ongoing with regular
medication reviews taking place in line with local and national guidance. The Service should
ensure they implement a person-centred collaborative approach to ensure the best value from
medicines.
The Service will include a mechanism to trigger a co-produced multi-disciplinary care review if an
individual has chosen to cease their medication or it is believed that this may be the case. The
aim of this review will be to understand the reasons for ceasing medication and work with an
individual to co-produce a revised medication plan and proactively avoid the deterioration in
mental health that can accompany ceasing medication.
The cost and volumes of prescribing for mental health drugs by the Service will be monitored to
support the understanding of needs and also to drive early intervention and non-clinical
approaches where applicable.
The Service will embed an Every Contact Counts approach by working with local community
pharmacies where appropriate, to support patient outcomes by ensuring that any issues with
medication compliance are highlighted early to the community mental health team.
Risk stratification should be used to identify patients who would benefit most from Structured
Medication Reviews (SMRs) within general practice, supported by PCN pharmacists, to help
patients to engage with and optimise their medication. This could include those patients with
complex and problematic polypharmacy or those who have had recent hospital admissions.
Physical health
Nationally, people with serious mental illness are known to die 15-20 years early as a result of
avoidable physical health conditions. The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will treat
people holistically and use a Making Every Contact Count16 approach. The Service will therefore
need to work closely with partners delivering person-centred physical health care, in particular for
conditions which are known to have a common co-morbidity with mental health such as diabetes,
16

Page 41

https://www.makingeverycontactcount.co.uk/media/27613/mecc-resources-fact-sheet-v9-20180601.pdf

25

COPD, heart disease, and conditions related to obesity and.

The physical health support provided by the Service must align with national best practice. It must
deliver:












The Long Term Plan target (for 60% of patients on the Serious Mental Illness register to
receive all 6 annual Physical Health Checks). This includes;
o Developing a template for health checks to be recorded and data shared through
Connecting Care using a data set across the system.
o Gaining access to all GP practices’ Severe Mental Illness EMIS records, for
example through Connecting Care.
o Testing digital approaches to health checks.
o Embedding a robust approach to ensuring that the physical health needs
identified are quickly and effectively addressed. The health check should be a
gateway to tailored support.
Extended lifestyle support through partnerships with Public Health and wider local
partners.
Medicine reviews, including consideration of physical and mental health medication
interactions.
Protocols/shared care agreements outlining roles and responsibilities.
Approaches to share and embed best practice (e.g. BNSSG Community Physical Health
and Wellbeing Peer Group; training for wider workforce).
Partners delivering the Service will ensure physical healthcare is fully integrated,
knowing where expertise and responsibility lies across partners and being able to draw
upon strengths, skills and trusted relationships. For example, strong coordination will be
in place with specialist secondary care services – e.g. diabetes clinics, Consultant
Physicians.
Targeted outreach to underserved groups (e.g. minority ethnic communities).
A proactive approach to successfully managing common co-morbidities such as COPD,
diabetes and high blood pressure when they occur
Support provided at the pace of the individual service user, ensuring that they retain
their choices in the process.

Personal Health Budgets
The Service must actively offer patient choice and alternative forms of service provision, including
the delivery of personal health budgets.
Tele health and online support
The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will engage fully with the development of new
technology for the improvement of efficiency and patient outcomes. The Service should utilise new
technology and telehealth to:
 Maximise efficiency, enabling health care professionals to care for a larger caseload
remotely and reducing wasted time and resources.
 Provide access to remote advice, monitoring and treatment providing the most timely
care possible.
 Provide tele health coaching.
 Facilitate access to remote advice from other health care professionals and specialists
to support the provision of high quality care.
 Empower people to manage their own health and wellbeing without delaying access to
health and care services as the need arises.
 Manage the balance of digital based contacts with patients vs face-to-face contacts with
a particular focus on digital inclusion.
Support for young people

Page 42
26

Support for young people aged 16-25 must have prevention at its core, particularly as we know
that Adverse Childhood Experiences are key determinants for future mental health need. Care
must enable young people to achieve their recovery goals in a timely way so that, for example, a
mental health crisis at 19 does not lead to a lifelong relationship with mental health services.
Instead, the Service will give young people the skills to proactively manage their mental health
whilst being able to access support as and when they need it.
The Service will seek to ensure the i-Thrive model for children and young people’s mental health
and wellbeing is embedded within the approach for those aged 25 and under:

Whilst formal transitions between Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) and the
Service will need to be in place for the most complex young people, the Service must recognise
that many young people may not go through a formal transitions process because:








They have never had contact with CAMHS.
They have had a successful discharge from CAMHS previously.
They have disengaged from CAMHS prior to their 18th Birthday.
They were receiving lower level support which ended when they left school,
They were receiving mental health support from a voluntary sector provider.
They have moved to BNSSG to study. This may include young people who have
chosen not to disclose previous use of mental health support.
A mental health need has arisen after an individual has turned 18.

It is vital that the Service has a targeted approach for young people who have not gone through a
formal transitions process. This approach will include targeted wrap around support for young
people based within their local community, such as social prescribing, peer support or access to
other Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) initiatives.
The Service must recognise the impact of adverse childhood experiences and be able to offer
trauma informed approaches as part of the service
Pagemodel.
43
27

Support for young people will also need to have an equalities focus, considering how the service
will need to adapt to the needs of young people with protected characteristics in order to deliver
equity of access to and outcomes from mental health support. Specific thought should be given to
supporting young people of diverse ethnicities, sexualities and gender identities. This should
include reaching out to any groups underrepresented by current provision and proactively seek to
address inequalities.
The Service will have strong links with local services for Children and Young People, build local
partnerships and engage with relevant working groups across Healthier Together Integrated Care
System to ensure awareness of emerging population trends, and ensure specific young people
who need support, receive it.
Some young people disengage from CAMHS at some point before their 18th birthday or lose
support upon leaving school and subsequently present to adults services after their 18th birthday
without having been through any process of formal transition. CAMHS and the Service transitions
workers will meet regularly to consider these cases and look at missed opportunities and system
learning to strengthen future approaches to support young people.
The Service will need to support and input into Education, Health and Care Plans for young people
where they are in place.
Formal Transitions from CAMHS to the Service
The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will deliver transitions support alongside Clinical
Transitions Support Workers from CAMHS, VCSE staff and new peer support roles for young
people aged 16-25. Integrated Community Mental Health Service transitions workers will have a
network across BNSSG for supervision, peer support, training and potentially cross cover where
appropriate.
The Service will work with specialised pathways to have clear plans in plans for bringing home
young people who have been placed out of area and will work with Child and Adolescent Mental
Health Services to avoid such placements being made, wherever possible.
As young people formally transfer to the care of Adult Mental Health services, the transitions
support must provide warm transfers and introductions to adult services, avoiding ‘cliff edges ’
where young adults become ‘lost ’within the system. This will reduce deterioration, crisis
presentations and admissions. Warm transfers will include meetings between current and future
professionals, the young person and their family or support network to introduce the young person
to their new team and agree how onward support will work. This should include a handover of
care and a seamless transfer of responsibility and governance for prescribing if indicated.
Support for families and children
Whilst mental health support for children is outside the scope of the Service, taking a holistic and
person centred approach will mean that the Service will need to think about the whole family. This
will require the Service to:




Be fluent in understanding the impact of adult behaviours on children as well as the
additional challenges children in families with mental ill health may face, such as bullying or
impacted learning
Take a contextual safeguarding approach considering the family / community context
Actively take responsibility for family (not just individual) needs and impacts, working
closely with relevant support services for families, including schools, early help and GP
support, for example.

Page 44

28

Support for older adults
Older adults may have differing types of needs, such as frailty alongside a lifelong chronic mental
health condition or a new diagnosis such a dementia having previously been mentally well, or a
combination of these presentations. They may therefore require support in different ways to meet
these needs. Services providing care need to meet the person’s complexity of need, taking into
account any impact from the person’s age and whether specialist older adult expertise is required
for both themselves and their carers and families. This expertise might exist within the core
community mental health team, or specialist older adult support might be sought from another
service.
The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will deliver integrated older adult’s support
including care home liaison. This will provide treatment and psychosocial support, enabling people
to continue successful self-care. Where older adults require more specific clinical interventions,
integrated physical, mental health and social care support will be provided through joint working
with physical health services where needed. Records will be integrated, with clinical information
shared between teams on Connecting Care, allowing holistic care to be delivered by the wider
multi-disciplinary team.
In partnership with wider Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise organisations, the
integrated older adult support will develop a complementary psychosocial offer that enables
service users to remain at home with the right level of support for their needs. This will also tackle
digital exclusion for older adults allowing them to benefit from new technologies but also access
support via non digital methods if needed. Through this, we anticipate a reduction in older adult
admissions and long term care costs.
The Service will have ambitious recovery goals to support maintenance of independence for
people who have experienced lifelong chronic mental ill health and who are now becoming
physically frail.
Noting the anticipated increase in older adults across BNSSG, the Service will access Health
Education England’s Older Peoples Mental Health Training Framework to upskill professionals
(health, social care and Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise) in IPCTs.,. Education and
training for carers will also be developed.
The Service needs to have an agreed approach to draw in support from dementia services in a
way that maintains the principles of person centred, proactive integrated care. In addition,
dementia services will need to be integral to the IPCT approach at a locality level (outlined below)
and will have a core role in providing advice and guidance and clinical supervision to services
provided at a locality level.
Support for people with comorbidities

Below outlines the support that should be provided for the most common co-morbidities with
mental health:
i) Substance misuse
ii) Learning disability
iii) Neurodevelopmental Disorders – ADHD and Autism
i) Substance misuse
The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will be available to people with substance use
and mental health needs.

Page 45
29













The Service will develop a strong place-based partnership with the local drug and alcohol
service provider / substance use partnership.
The Service will provide shared care mental health support to clients with drug and alcohol
problems, aligned with NICE and Public Health England guidance17.
All staff will be trained in the recognition and shared management of clients with drug and
alcohol problems, including brief interventions.
All staff recognise that everyone with a substance use problem will have social,
psychological / mental health needs – and be confident in trauma informed practice.
Service will be familiar with local authority arrangements for supporting complexity,
homelessness and criminal justice pathways.
The Service will develop data sharing access with drug and alcohol providers.
The Service (involving specialist mental health and local authority partners) will support
system transformation around substance use and mental health, working closely with acute
health providers.
People will not be required to be engaging with Drug and Alcohol services in order to
access mental health support and no one will be turned away on the basis of complexity.
Professionals within the service will be trained around discrimination and stigma to create a
culture of empathy around drug and alcohol dependency.
The Service will have a protocol for engaging and supporting individuals who present whilst
intoxicated. They should work in partnership with drug and alcohol services to ensure the
completion of joint care planning with an MDT style approach to an individual’s care.
Throughout a patient’s care pathway open and continued communications occur between
stakeholders.

ii) Learning disability
The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will be available and accessible to people with a
co-morbidity of mental health needs and learning disability. Reasonable adjustments will be
required across all services to ensure they meet the needs for people with learning disabilities
including ensuring the Accessible Information Standard is met.
Information should also be presented in a way that is accessible and understood by those with a
learning disability. The service delivery partner(s) should be in a position to implement the
Accessible Information specification and implementation guidance and ensure they take the
necessary steps to ensure they remain compliant.
The Service will liaise with Community Learning Disability Teams (including those out of area),
Young People’s Learning Disability Transitions Teams and other agencies working with people
who may be below threshold for those teams.
The Service will need to ensure those supporting people with learning disabilities are trained in
and using the Positive Behaviour Support model and contribute to the Dynamic Support Register
as appropriate to help people to maintain homes and placements within BNSSG.

The Service will use the Green Light Tool Kit and the Learning Disability Improvement Standards
to audit and improve how services support people with a co-morbid learning disability.
iii) Neurodevelopmental Disorders – ADHD and Autism
The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will be available to people with a dual diagnosis
of mental health needs and neurodevelopmental disorder (NDD).The Service will work closely with
partners delivering NDD services including appropriate information sharing and joint treatment
planning.

17

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/625809/Cooccurring_mental_health_and_alcohol_drug_use_conditions.pdf

Page 46

30

The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will develop an approach to supporting people
with suspected NDD if they are waiting for a diagnostic assessment and confirmed NDD if they are
waiting for treatment or medication prescription and titration.
Carer engagement and support
The families, carers and support networks of people using services may also require support. The
Service will ensure there are adequate structures and processes in place to meet their needs. This
may include psychosocial education, carers’ assessments, and support for young carers and
carers of older age.
Under the Care Act, all carers are legally entitled to an assessment of their needs. A carer’s
assessment may be completed by the local authority to consider the person’s mental health,
physical health and social support needs, as well as their resources and ability to support the
person in care. All services should work together in a whole system approach to support carers to
access assessments and /or support services in a timely manner.
The ‘Triangle of Care’18 is a therapeutic alliance between service user, staff member and carer that
promotes safety, supports the achievement of recovery goals and milestones and sustains
wellbeing. The Service should work to ensure that carers are included as an equal partner in the
support of the person.
Accessible support for people with protected characteristics
As described above, delivering the Advancing Mental Health Equalities Strategy will be a core
requirement of the Service and localities will need to have robust plans to monitor and address
inequalities of access, experience and outcomes for marginalised groups within their communities.
Localities will need to ensure that services reflect the diverse communities that they serve and are
considerate of the issues affecting different marginalised groups within communities such as
people of different ethnicities, gender identifies or people who are LQTBQ+. Examples of how this
could be achieved are as follows:
 Ensuring training is co-produced and co-delivered by people with lived experience and
reflecting the relevant protected characteristic.
 Ensuring that such training is designed to support a culture shift away from where there
may be historic perceptions around for example mental health need and being LGBTQ+.
 Considering where protected characteristics may intersect to compound inequalities of
access and outcomes.
 Considering guidance around choice of mental health provider where people may not
feel comfortable accessing local services as a result of their protected characteristic.
 Revising forms and care records to ensure they allow people to accurately reflect their
gender identity or ethnicity.
 Revising equalities monitoring in line with the above and in order to maximise the
opportunity to understand needs within groups where historically there has been limited
data, e.g. people who are LGBTQ+.
Hours of operation
 The Service will be responsible and accountable for the population 24/7/365.
 The Service will be available for people at times that are convenient to them. The Service
will analyse demand for mental health services outside of standard working hours and
shape hours of access in response.
Response times
The Service will have:
18 Carers Trust (2013) The Triangle of Care, Carers Included: A Guide to Best Practice in Mental Health Care in England. Second
Edition

Page 47

31





A 24 hour response to connect the person to initial support, regardless of whether the
first point of contact is the Open Door or the Integrated Community Mental Health
Service. This initial contact may be from a peer support worker or Link Worker where
the person already has a named contact. This may take the form of text, email or phone
call depending on the preference of the person. The purpose is to ensure that no one is
left in distress waiting for a response and where appropriate to connect people to
support that might help them whilst they are waiting for appointments
A maximum 4 week wait from the point of initial contact with the Service through to an
evidence-informed intervention being provided (e.g. the creation of a comprehensive,
integrated and co-produced personalised care and support plan; someone with bipolar
disorder beginning a course of NICE-recommended psychological therapy).

3.3 Digital
Personalised, preventative, proactive care and early intervention is supported by increasing digital
maturity across the service and this is clearly described throughout this target operating model.
Through deployment and use of digital technologies, this service will provide an environment for
collaborative working able to support services where they are most needed and making the most
of limited resources, particularly staff time – optimising utilisation of digital assets and embedding
digital into clinical practice.
An Outcomes and Digital Infrastructure Steering Group has been initiated, with representative
membership from all BNSSG mental health partners. Engagement with this group has informed
this section. The group will continue during the next stages to this programme, to inform and lead
delivery of the digital aspirations set out
The digital principles which underpin this target operating model include:

Where possible, we will do things once: We need a common set of underpinning information
systems to support patient administration, clinical and operational processes. The foundation
infrastructure and support of these also needs to be consistent for staff who may work across
organisation and locality boundaries. Common systems will simplify integration, interoperability
and development work, and to ensure economies of scale and value for money are maximised.
Currently there are multiple information systems in use, supporting different models of care,
across statutory mental health providers (including RiO, IAPTUS and EMIS) and wider partners
may have their own local or no systems. Getting to an integrated system is not a simple task
and ICPs will need to think about phasing integration onto fewer systems and how patient data
flows (for both clinical and reporting) will be managed in the meantime. Consideration may
need to be given to who will act as lead provider for shared systems or digital services. To
support this alignment, ICPs should use a consistent digital requirements management
approach to enable system-wide providers to consistently prioritise and respond to their digital
needs.
Digital will also need to support shared/common standards across the system, for coding,
formatting and common processes. Place based services will still require system wide
commonality in some areas such as assessment, complexity/risk stratification, PHM and
reporting. This improves safety for patients and ensures comparable outcome measures.
Additionally to also provide consistent patient and staff experience, as well as improving
efficiency and value for money. Locality based services will need to work together to ensure
these are established and used in the same way across the system.
Patient records will be recorded electronically in all cases. Shared and trusted
assessments, care plans and wellbeing plans will be available electronically to any team

Page 48

32

member involved in delivering care. Patient information should follow the patient, for transfers
of care in and out of the system; from child to adult services, and between different elements of
the service This should enable the patient to tell their story once and not be concerned that
they have to keep everyone up to date or have to make repeated requests for services.
Patients want to be assured that they can be seen safely by everyone who is caring for them,
and the team delivering the care to have all the information they need to make the right
decisions with and for them.
Consideration should be given to what information is digitally accessible to patients, and
what patients can share with the service through digital access to empower them to become
partners in their care. This may be through wider use of patient access modules linked to GP
systems, through new planned innovations such as the planned mental health shared care
plan, through validated apps (available through the NHS Library or through ORCHA) or other
innovations. Patients may want online/digital access to their records, and to test results,
medication, outpatient letters, their care and wellbeing plans. They will want to be able to
manage appointments, request repeat/ changes to medication and connect easily with their link
workers through digital routes. They will want tools to be able to help themselves and manage
their own conditions.

Empowering patients as partners in care to feel more in control of their own health and
personalised care is also likely to include self-management tools/apps, accurate and up to date
information online to support self-care, and signposting information including tools such as
MIDOS. Online Information should be in single version of the truth, up to date, accurate,
accessible (meeting accessibility standards) and easy to navigate. Information should be
available online in accessible formats, including Easy Read, and in languages other than
English. User Led Design practices will be used to ensure services better meet the needs of
their population.

Due consideration will need to be given to the digitally excluded and how this will be
managed in an increasingly digital world. ICPs will have a detailed understanding of which
parts of their communities are digitally excluded and will provide a range of ways to access
services. ICPs will proactively engage users to ensure they design services to be accessible
for all, while promoting schemes that tackle data poverty and increase the digital skills and
confidence of their users.
Keeping patients /service users safe is the guiding principle of all staff across the system.
People must to be confident that staff across the system have the right information at the
right time about them, their diagnoses, medications, preferences, risk and other relevant
information, regardless of location. To ensure accuracy and completeness of the record
across the system information will be recorded as contemporaneous notes directly into the
clinical record at the point of care. Making contemporaneous notes that can be shared
immediately across the system increases safety and reduces duplication of effort, saving staff
time.
Safety should be supported by digital systems so that wrap around care is effectively
supported, caseloads are managed to avoid people falling out of view, escalating risk is
flagged and escalation is avoided. Care planners and practitioners will use and share PHM
systems and BI to enable them to proactively respond to operational incidents in real-time.
Access to records at the point of care requires appropriate digital infrastructure and
equipment, including digital support for remote working, for virtual collaboration, as well as
record access to be available to all staff delivering care. Consideration needs to be given to the
digital tools and network access and controls (smart cards / tokens etc.) that staff need to do

Page 49

33

their jobs effectively and well. While some underpinning digital infrastructure will be provided
and managed at ICS level, the cost of providing digital tools and equipment for staff, and
support for that equipment must be factored in to the service/contracting costs.
All information will be SNOMED coded wherever possible, using the contemporary nationally
mandated data sets and record standards, including PRSB and Minimum Viable Record
standards as described in the reporting sections and mandated in the NHS standards
contracts. All activity must be reflected in the Mental Health Minimum Data set.
All staff will be trained appropriately and regularly to make the best use of digital
technologies and record systems. Training must be explicitly linked to data quality and getting it
right first time: training ensures that that records are coded, accurate and complete, and data
quality is maintained across both primary and secondary data uses.
To ensure data quality data entry templates may be required to ensure reliable and consistent
data entry is recorded at the point of care. Staff should not be expected or required to enter
data into multiple systems. Staff should be confident that the information they create can be
used to both support safe and appropriate direct care and contribute to management of
services, planning and commissioning services, policy and research; avoiding collection or
manipulation of data specifically for such purposes.
Drive efficiency using systems to produce management information from clinical information
to manage services rather than clinicians spending time producing local reports e.g. on case
lists, waiting lists etc. Use digital, online and/or automated transactional processes where
possible to drive efficiency.
The service will take up ICS wide digital innovation to improve clinical effectiveness across
the Healthier Together partnership particularly for management of complex patients. This may
include digital solutions to enable practitioner to practitioner across organisations
conversations to support advice & guidance, decision-making and referrals. Innovation costs
are often funded as a project at the start - business cases should be clear about how project
and ongoing costs will be met e.g. improved efficiencies.
Systems must be deployed safely and require robust clinical safety assessments and DPIA
to be considered before implementation for new systems, or new uses of existing systems.
Procurement and choice of new digital systems should be considered at ICS level to ensure
economies of scale and resource use, integration and interoperability, consistency of patient
experience, and comparable outcome measures.
The single shared record across physical and mental health is currently Connecting Care
health. At the moment Connecting Care is largely read only, but provides a view of health and
social care records. Information that is shared with the local shared record must be timely,
accessible and complete to inform personalised care.
The data set to be shared from any clinical system should include the following where
recorded:
o Problems (current and past)
o Diagnoses (current and past)
o Medication (current, past and issues)
o Risk and warnings
o Procedures
o Investigations
o Examinations
o Dates of encounters, admissions and referrals and assessments including specialist
assessments

Page 50

34

o Patient demographics
o Documents attached to the record to include
 Specialist assessments e.g. perinatal
 All care plans including specialist care plans
 All physical health checks
New interface specifications should be costed into the service.


Patients want to be confident that their data is protected and to understand how it is
used, and that their consent will sought and recorded when appropriate. People receiving
health or care will share their information with confidence if they feel like there are
safeguards in place, and that those entrusted with their data will keep it safe. Consideration
should be given as to how consent will be managed digitally across the system so that
patients understand the consent model and so it works consistently across systems, in line
with Caldicott principles and the duty to share for individual care (Section 251B of the
Health and Social Care Act 2012). Caldicott Principles 7 and 8 are particularly relevant to
this service:
o

o

Principle 7: The duty to share information for individual care is as important as the duty to
protect patient confidentiality. Health and social care professionals should have the
confidence to share confidential information in the best interests of patients and service
users within the framework set out by these principles. They should be supported by the
policies of their employers, regulators and professional bodies.
Principle 8: Inform patients and service users about how their confidential information is
used. A range of steps should be taken to ensure no surprises for patients and service
users, so they can have clear expectations about how and why their confidential information
is used, and what choices they have about this. These steps will vary depending on the use:
as a minimum, this should include providing accessible, relevant and appropriate information
- in some cases, greater engagement will be required.

These principles are in addition to the standards and conditions specified in the national contract
(see https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/4-FL-GCs-2122.pdf ).
National Data and Reporting Requirements
National reporting requirements must be met:
 The provision of the Mental Health Minimum Dataset is mandatory for all NHS funded
services.
 Need to consider whether if flowing of activity within the General Practice Appointment
Dataset applies, or only Mental Health Minimum Dataset.
 The Mental Health Data Quality Maturity Index standards and monitoring will apply.
 Recording and monitoring against all applicable Operational Plan and Long Term Plan
performance measures is necessary.
 All statutory returns (performance, workforce, finance, quality, estates etc.) are required.

Local Data and Reporting Requirements
The Mental Health Minimum Dataset will flow into the System Wide Dataset to enable analysis to
support Population Health Management and address inequalities
Information systems must enable monitoring of the outcomes framework as well as providing local
demand, capacity, activity and performance insight required to effectively manage and continue to
develop the offer.
3.4 Workforce requirements

Page 51
35

The Service will be delivered by a well-motivated, engaged and skilled workforce. The Service will
engage the workforce fully in identifying solutions to population needs and system challenges and
will support the development of:





A large growth in non-clinical roles, including Link Workers and peer support workers.
A shift away from centralised mental health services covering large areas into smaller
locality based services of integrated teams, including health, social care and VCSE
professionals.
A new pipeline for all types of staff to address workforce shortages.
Extensive training and workforce development (e.g. in trauma informed and culturally
responsive care19).

The Service will implement BNSSG’s strategic workforce priorities. These are as follows:


Make health and care in BNSSG the best place to work: valuing, supporting,
developing and investing in our people, ensuring that the service can attract, develop
and retain staff will require the service to address the following requirements:
o Demonstrate equity of access to employment opportunities, aiming for a
diverse workforce representative of the population served, providing a living wage
and stable employment.
o Value staff health and well-being, providing good working conditions and
promoting the health and wellbeing of all staff, including provision of access to
mental health support when appropriate.
o Provide development opportunities so that staff have the skills required to
deliver their role, and enhance their skills to support service and career
development.
o Consider career opportunities by working across partners to provide
opportunities for shadowing, coaching, mentoring and rotations along with
creating career pathways to help retain and develop staff.
o Provide pathways to enable volunteers with appropriate experience to move into
paid roles with training and support.
o Establish clear training frameworks for non-clinical roles to ensure staff have
the appropriate competences, and support.

Some of this work will be best undertaken collaboratively across partners and there will be some
specific support with staff development available from the Community and Primary Care Training
Hub.


19

Prioritise urgent action on workforce shortages: attracting new people into care
o The Service should, where possible, include employability programmes that provide
training and support to help those with lived experience and from the local community
acquire the skills needed to work in mental health and care, and work with community
partners and voluntary organisations to support residents who might otherwise face
barriers to work.
o Partners will recognise their anchor institution role and will work to advance the
welfare of the populations they serve and the way in which they can support local
community wealth and development, through the provision of employment opportunities.
This will include specific targeting and marketing of opportunities at the local community,
and at those with lived experience.
o Given national shortages of nursing and medical roles in mental health, it will be
important that the Service providers employing these staff groups work with system
partners to develop sustainable pipelines, through joined up approaches to workforce
planning and development. For example, providing placements for trainees. Like the

Page 52

www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/2019-04/CentreforMH_EngagingWithComplexity.pdf

36

wider system, there should be opportunities to access apprenticeship programmes,
and other training routes, which assist in providing employment for the local community
and support the creation of the workforce of the future.


Develop a workforce to deliver 21st century care: a transformed workforce with new
types of roles and different ways of working
o The Service will create new and innovative workforce models, with a blend of clinical
and non-clinical roles – including peer support roles, Link Workers, social prescribers
and mental health practitioners – working together to provide personalised care.
Utilising a blended skills workforce model, based on the competences required to deliver
care, rather than established roles, is important both for patients and for staff, as it
provides new supply routes, attracting a more diverse workforce into the service.
o

Time will need to be invested in engaging existing staff in the development of new workforce
models at an early stage so that they can support the design, training and implementation to
make these roles successful.



Develop a new operating model for workforce: addressing governance and cultural
differences to deliver a truly integrated workforce



Develop our leadership culture: positive, compassionate and improvement focused
leadership that delivers better outcomes.

In order to ensure that there is an integrated workforce that supports seamless service provision
and minimises handovers between individuals and organisations, staff will need to be supported to
work across organisational boundaries. This will include streamlined systems, processes and
policies, agreed approaches to risk management, statutory and mandatory training passporting
and governance arrangements which allow staff to work seamlessly across organisational
boundaries. Mental health clinicians will need to work alongside peer support workers, social care
and the voluntary sector, providing personalised care and treatment and working collaboratively as
equal partners.
Culture and identity will need to be nurtured so that there is a sense of belonging to both an
organisation and to the Locality Partnership. Working together will require a culture of trust,
openness and compassion. This culture will need to be fostered both at the level of leaders, and
through deliberate efforts to enable staff to build working relationships at all levels. Activities such
as shadowing, rotations, joint roles, coaching, reflective practice, team building and joint, cross
organisational training and development events can all help to build the identity of the Locality
Partnership and enable staff to work across boundaries.
Whilst some staff will regard new approaches as an opportunity for new and better approaches,
others may feel worried about what the change will mean for them and their roles. It will be
important that there is a clear engagement and communication plan to ensure a smooth transition,
so that staff understand what the changes will mean and how they can become involved with the
process.
3.5 Estates requirements
The Service must:
 Be geographically accessible within locality footprints including consideration of public
transport routes and the availability of local community transport services.
 Be non-stigmatising, including considering the experiences and perspectives of different
communities.
 Be Co-located with a non-mental health services.
 Include Psychologically Informed Environments.
Page 53
37





Consider the post COVID-19 demand for online or tele support.
Flexible use of estates across delivery partners and wider system partners.
The provider should provide premises that comply with NHS standards including the
relevant Health Building Notes (HBNs) and Health Technical Memoranda (HTMs). Any
derogations away from these standards should be presented to the commissioner for
review and agreement along with a mitigation plan.

3.6 Other requirements
The Service is required to have systems and processes in place to ensure that people are given
the opportunity to take part in high quality research studies. Examples of such systems and
processes could include:








Adopt an ‘opt-out ’policy in which people with mental health needs and family/carers are
informed that research is a routine part of the philosophy of the BNSSG Mental Health
Model and that they may be contacted about opportunities to join research unless they
explicitly request not to be contacted.
Have a system in place such as a ‘consent for approach register ’to keep a record of
people who are willing to be offered research opportunities, together with relevant
demographic details and their diagnosis
Have job descriptions and plans that make reference to the Service delivery partner(s) ’s
commitment to promoting people’s recruitment in to research studies and the view that it
is a positive intervention
Inform existing and new employees at induction of the Service delivery partner(s)
commitment to contributing to the evidence base, a culture of innovation and
improvement, and how employees can contribute
Ensure access to appropriate research-relevant training
Facilitate opportunities for people with mental health needs and family/carers to inform
and participate in the research portfolio. For example, research opportunities for people
with mental health needs and family/carers should be clearly presented in clinical areas
using posters and leaflets or other media, and in Service delivery partner(s)
communication strategies

The Service should demonstrate that research does not only concern medical trials, but should
include social and non-pharmacological interventions, and that facilitating service user
involvement in the design, implementation and dissemination of studies can lead to improved
outcomes and better value.
The Service will make a statement on research activities undertaken in the annual Quality Account
and should include a statement of the number of people recruited and the number of studies they
host.
3.7 Out of scope
This section of the target operating model identifies areas of mental health care that are currently
out of the scope of what the Integrated Community Mental health Service will be expected to
deliver. Some of these areas of care may become part of a future locality based model of mental
health care in time.


All mental health services currently commissioned by NHS England Specialised
Commissioning or commissioned by the CCG specifically on behalf of NHSE will
continue to be delivered by NHSE commissioned providers. The Integrated Community
Mental Health Service will be expected to work closely with these services to support
shared care and any transitions. Future changes to commissioning arrangements for

Page 54

38

NHSE commissioned services could allow flexibility for these services to be included in
future phases of the Community Mental Health Programme.


Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services

These specialist pathways are expected to be provided once, across BNSSG, not on a locality
basis. However, the Service will need to ensure that these pathways are closely integrated so that
key support (e.g. from primary care or VCSE partners) is included.
These specialist pathways will support the Integrated Community Mental Health Service by
providing:







Advice, guidance and training around early intervention and prevention.
Case consultation and supervision.
Diagnostic assessment and formulation relating to that support (e.g. PD and eating
disorders)
The provision of specialist treatment and interventions.
Ensuring a seamless transition for a person where they may no longer need specialist
support and well-designed process to support people within their community if possible.
Connection with Link Worker to ensure they are part of the ‘one team’ around the
person whilst they are receiving specialist support.

3.8
Interdependence with other services/partners
The Service will work collaboratively across organisational boundaries and disciplines to secure
improvements that are tailored to local needs and assets, in turn increasing sustainability and the
effective use of limited resources.
The Service is expected where possible to consider co-location of integrated staff teams
supporting the provision of community mental health services both to foster strong collaborative
working practices but also to make the connection with the person more joined up.
The principles of a single team will require investment in time and development, to avoid many of
the challenges that are often reported as barriers to integrated working. Respecting and
understanding the skill set and contribution of all professionals and a joint commitment around the
needs of the person.
Record keeping and collaborative care planning are expected to build on existing standards of
good practice, given that currently the approaches will be diverse across different professional
groups and organisations each Locality based integrated community mental health service will be
required to consider the design locally and contribute to elements that we be developed at a
system level.

As part of collaborative system working the Service will have a training offer for system partners.

Social care
The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will include social care as a key and equal
delivery partner.
The arrangements for mental health social care across BNSSG are as follows:
 In Bristol social workers who work across adults and older adults mental health are
based with the Council and are part of generic (non-mental health specialist) adult social
care teams.

Page 55

39




In North Somerset social workers work across adults and older adults mental health are
co-located with Avon and Wiltshire Partnership recovery teams.
In South Gloucestershire social workers for adults are integrated into the Avon and
Wiltshire Partnership recovery teams, giving AWP full management responsibilities.
Social workers for older adults are based with the Council and are part of generic (nonmental health specialist) older adult social care teams.

The BNSSG system will explore and work towards opportunities for aligned and ultimately full joint
commissioning with Local Authority partners. This approach will support the Integrated
Community Mental Health Service in achieving integrated care and improved outcomes for people,
for example, through the strategic joint commissioning and shared ownership potentially including
budgets for Aftercare arrangements including for people subject to S117.
The Service will also consider with Local Authorities as partners the flexible use of workforce. For
example, creating opportunities to develop a wider pool of Approved Mental Health Practitioners
which will support improved outcomes for the whole system
Physical Health Services
The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will be part of a locality approach to delivering
health services and will be fully integrated with physical health support delivered by Primary Care,
Sirona CIC and partners. The locality approach will have a holistic, asset based and Making Every
Contact Count approach to supporting people to stay physically and mentally well.
Making Every Contact Count (MECC) focuses on the lifestyle issues that, when addressed, can
make the greatest improvement to an individual’s health:
o Stop smoking
o Alcohol intake and staying within the recommended limits
o Healthy eating
o Physical activity
o Keeping a healthy weight
o Improving health and wellbeing
The Integrated Community Health Service will include VCSE organisations within each locality to
co-ordinate the local VCSE assets available to support individuals. This approach includes
interventions such as link workers, social prescribing and staff trained in Mental Health First Aid.
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT)
The Improving Access to Psychological Therapies Service (IAPT) will form part of the Integrated
Community Mental Health Service and the provider Vita Minds will be a partner in this approach.
People receiving therapy through the IAPT programme will be able to access the wrap around
support such as social prescribing and peer support as it is key to sustaining the outcomes
achieved from a course of IAPT therapy. People who require more support than can be offered
through IAPT or who are still unwell at the end of their course of therapy will be supported to
access further interventions.
Information about the use of IAPT will be included in population health management analysis to
help the Integrated Community Mental Health Service build intelligence about existing and
emerging needs across the population and design appropriate service responses
The Open Door (Integrated Response Line) is also likely to support some people to use IAPT
where appropriate but it will be expected that many people will continue to directly access IAPT.
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner and Avon and Somerset Constabulary
The Service will work closely with Avon and Somerset
Constabulary An area of particularly
Page 56
40

relevance to the Community Mental Health Service will be the need to work jointly with the police
around people who are frequently in contact with the police either by telephone or through face to
face interactions with the police including but not limited to via Section 136.
The Service will consider all opportunities to jointly commission or deliver services in conjunction
with the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner and Avon and Somerset Constabulary.
4.

Applicable Service Standards

4.1

Applicable national standards

The CCG requires the Service delivery partner(s) to keep up to date with local and national
policies and quality requirements. The list (Appendix 6) outlines examples of documents the CCG
expects the Service delivery partner(s) to follow. The Service delivery partner(s) are required to
incorporate the most up to date versions of these and similar policies and practice when delivering
the model of care.
4.2 Applicable local standards
 CQC standards and regulations - www.cqc.org.uk/guidance-providers/regulationsenforcement/regulations-service-providers-managers
Medicines management
Clinicians providing NHS commissioned care within the Services should:
 Prescribe for adults in accordance with the BNSSG Joint Formulary and other relevant local
prescribing guidance. https://www.bnssgformulary.nhs.uk/
 Prescribe for children in accordance with the paediatric updates in the BNSSG Joint
Formulary, or the BNSSG Paediatric Joint Formulary
https://www.bnssgpaediatricformulary.nhs.uk/
 It should be ensured that patients have continuity of medicines across the healthcare
system, with all clinicians ensuring clear communication processes in relation to patient
medication and if /when digitally possible using a single medication record
 Where relevant ensure shared care protocols are in place and adhered to
 Practice antibiotic stewardship in line with national and local guidance
 All clinicians should follow the process outlined in the BNSSG Formulary for new drug
requests and shared care protocols that can be found on the formulary website
 A prescribing budget for certain areas will be included in the Service delivery partner(s)
contract (see individual service details) and the provider will manage spend within that
budget
 The Service delivery partner(s) are responsible for the production and updates of any
necessary Patient Group Directions for their services, in line with the BNSSG Patient Group
Directions Policy
 All dressings will be supplied or prescribed in line with the Pan Avon Dressings Formulary
 The Service delivery partner(s) services will work with Integrated Care Systems to
minimise the impact of medicines waste
 Specialist clinicians will engage with the Integrated Care Systems and other Service
delivery partner(s) in the development of pathways and guidelines involving medicines
 All medication incidents should be recorded on Datix
 Medicine Incidents themes should be shared with the CCG Medicine Optimisation team via
agreed route
 A Controlled Drug lead should be nominated for the service and all CD incidents should be
reported to the NHS England Controlled Drug Accountable Officer, as well as the relevant
CCG link person for the service
 A senior pharmacist or healthcare professional is required to represent the organisation at

Page 57

41

system Medicine Optimisation groups such as the Area Prescribing Medicines Optimisation
Committee (APMOC).
The prescriber is responsible for ensuring that appropriate clinical monitoring arrangements are in
place for the medicines that they prescribe and that the patient and other healthcare professionals
involved understand them.
Prescribing Process and Governance
The Service is expected to ensure robust governance of all prescribing activity, including the use
of policies and procedures relating to prescribing activity to support high quality, safe and
appropriate prescribing and may periodically be asked to demonstrate this is the case.
The Service should have a nominated lead for controlled drugs or equivalent senior officer
responsible for oversight of all prescription usage by the service including audit and raising
appropriate concerns around controlled drug management.
All prescribing should be undertaken via existing prescribing systems such as EMIS and Rio
initially which may develop into a shared solution as the service progresses. It is anticipated that
the service will prescribe via the electronic prescription service (EPS)
The Service is responsible for funding all prescribing activity undertaken on FP10 prescription
pads. This will include the initial prescription and any repeat prescriptions required thereafter
where appropriate. The service will be expected to prescribe within their devolved budget. The
Service delivery partner(s) will periodically be expected to provide data on the medication
prescribed on FP10 prescription pads from the epact system.
The Service should ensure it is fully compliant with the NHS Counter Fraud Authority guidance on
Management and control of prescription forms, including prescription pad destruction as part of
contract termination. For clarity BNSSG CCG will not be liable for any costs of inappropriately
used prescriptions.
The following link provides NHS Service delivery partner(s) with the information needed to obtain
and maintain prescribing codes for your organisation and prescribers, order prescription forms
(FP10), reconcile invoices, access data about your prescribers and services. Service delivery
partner(s) s should liaise with BNSSG CCG’s Medicines Optimisation Team who contains the
necessary CCG signatories to complete the process.
https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/201702/Local_Authority_and_Provider_Welcome_Pack_v1.5.pdf
During contract termination the prescription services department of NHS Business Services
Authority (NHS BSA) must be informed the Service delivery partner(s) ’s Organisational Data
Safeguarding Children and Adults at Risk
At the commencement of the Service it is not expected that the partners collaborating to deliver
locality based services will have formal legal status as a partnership or single organisation.
Consequently, partners within the Service will continue to have their own safeguarding policies
and procedures in place. Where appropriate, partnership agreements that outline how
safeguarding will work within collaborative arrangements, such as Integrated Personalised Care
Teams, will be developed.
As development of the ICS and locality health partnerships take place and legislation changes, the
service will need to be protective, adaptable and reactive to change and ensure safeguarding
arrangements are updated accordingly. In this section, where ‘the Service’ is referred to it means
there is expected to be one arrangement, process or policy across partners. Where ‘each partner
organisation’ is referred to it is expected that each partner will need to have their own

Page 58

42

arrangement, process or policy until such time as locality partners have a legal entity.
Young people transitioning to adult services
Safeguarding means protecting people's health, wellbeing and human rights. It's fundamental to
high-quality health and social care and is about keeping everyone safe and taking care of their
wellbeing.
All safeguarding adults work is underpinned by the Making Safeguarding Personal guidance and
the Safeguarding Principles as laid out in The Care Act 2014. Making safeguarding personal
means it should be person-led and outcome focused. It engages the person in a conversation
about how best to respond to their safeguarding situation in a way that enhances involvement,
choice and control, as well as improving the quality of life, well-being and safety.
The Service will adopt the following Safeguarding Principles:
 Empowerment – people being supported and encouraged to make their own decisions and
informed consent
 Preventions – it’s better to take action before harm occurs
 Proportionality – the least intrusive response appropriate to the risk presented
 Protection - support and representation for those in greatest need
 Partnership - local solutions through services working with their communities who have a
part to play in preventing, detecting and reporting neglect and abuse
 Accountability – accountability and transparency in delivering safeguarding
The Service will be expected to provide robust governance in meeting the safeguarding functions
to demonstrate how these statutory duties are being met.
The Service will need to cooperate and work in partnership within the ICS to seek common
solutions in responding effectively to the evolving safeguarding legislative changes.

Workforce safeguarding approaches
Each partner organisation within the Service will have a robust Safer Recruitment and Retention
policy in place to fulfil its legal obligations. This will include Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS)
Independent Safeguarding Authority (ISA), Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA).
Each partner organisation within the Service shall evidence that it has published contact
information for the following, which will be shared with the Integrated Care System on request:
 Named Safeguarding Adult Lead.
 Named Mental Capacity Act (MCA) and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) Lead(s).
 Named Prevent lead
The Service will ensure that up-to-date policies and procedures for safeguarding children, young
people and adults at risk of abuse and neglect are in place for each partner organisation. These
will adhere to all relevant legislation identified in the Care Act (2014). Additionally, for those
young people in pathways to adult services who are in contact with the service when under the
age of 18, or for any other children who come into contact with the service through family contact
or similar, the Service should have arrangements in place to raise any identified safeguarding
concerns under the relevant children’s legislation and local processes. Each partner organisation
should also have specific guidance and policies in relation to the Mental Capacity Act 2005 and
DoLS, Prevent, Modern Slavery, and Domestic Abuse.
Each partner organisation will ensure that the safeguarding policy addresses the risk of harm of
abuse, to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, to advance equality of
opportunity. This will foster good relations between people who are known to be of greater risk and
are identified under the protected characteristics
cited59
in the Equality Act (2010).
Page
43

The Service will have a partnership agreement outlining how partners within the locality based
health service will work together to keep people safe. This collaborative approach, and how it fits
within individual organisations’ policies, must be effectively communicated to all those working in
the locality based health and care service, including trustees, volunteers and beneficiaries who
will have specific roles in relation to safeguarding. The Service will ensure that support is in
place, with lines of accountability and responsibility for responding to safeguarding concerns,
within a transparent culture. This will include Raising Concerns, Speaking Out, and where
appropriate including allegations against staff where people are in a position of trust.
The Service shall have a written policy of confidentiality that is compliant with the General Data
Protection Regulation (GDPR) 2016 and Data Protection Act 2018 (Data Protection Legislation).
Where appropriate, confidential information will only be disclosed with the consent of the patient
concerned, though there are circumstances where consent should not be sought or is only sought
under the common law duty of confidentiality. Examples include circumstances where disclosure is
required by law or to safeguard children or adults at risk of harm. The Service delivery
partner(s) shall also ensure that all employees are trained in line with caldicott principles and
understand the importance of patient confidentiality.
This is a service provision for Young People transitions and Adults and the concept of Think
Family needs to be considered throughout all polices and practice.
Training
Each partner organisation within the Service will also ensure that all staff in contact with patients
and the public have been appropriately trained in local safeguarding procedures and regularly
maintain these competencies. Competencies and training must be aligned to the intercollegiate
guidance relevant to their role:
 Safeguarding Children and Young People: Roles and Competencies for Healthcare Staff
(Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health, 2014)
 Adult Safeguarding: Roles and Competencies for Health Care Staff (Royal College of
Nursing 2018)
 Looked after Children Roles and Competencies for Health Care Staff (Royal College of
Nursing 2020).
Effective working practices to prevent abuse and neglect, and to protect individuals.
The service will fulfil its statutory duties and responsibilities in relation to Safeguarding Children,
Young People and Adults. Partners within the locality service who are delivering statutory
functions will participate in the delivery for the safeguarding arrangements across the three local
authorities. This will include attendance at the safeguarding arrangements, Boards or subgroups.
Mandatory participation in strategy meetings, safeguarding adults reviews (SARs), Child
Safeguarding Practice Reviews case reviews (CSPRs), and Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs).
5.

Applicable quality requirements and CQUIN goals

5.1 Applicable Quality Requirements
Quality performance targets are included within the Outcomes Framework found at Appendix 2.
Additional local quality indicators will be added.
Please note that Quality Assurances processes are expected to change with the establishment of
Integrated Care Systems. National Guidance is currently pending. This section will be updated in
line with any future published guidance.
The service will be required to have policies and processes in place in the following areas, and

Page 60

44

report on compliance and progress within these areas:
 Patient Safety Incident Management – in line with the Serious Incident Framework prior to
the Patient Safety Incident Response Framework (due to be published in Spring 2022).
 NHSI Learning Disability Improvement Standards for NHS trusts (2018).
 Complaints and patient experience.
 Freedom to Speak up.
 Accessible Information Standards
 NICE guidance compliance where appropriate.
 Workforce Race Equality Standards and the Equality Delivery Standards
 Infection prevention and control
 Green NHS and Sustainability.
 Risk Management
 Medicines Management (where appropriate)
The service will be expected to report on the following Quality requirements.
 Incident reporting and compliance against the Framework.
 Training including –
o Learning Disability and Autism training.
o Statutory and Mandatory training Compliance.
o Service specific training requirements.
 Care planning and risk assessment compliance.
 Patient Experience metrics, including –
o Complaints number and compliance
o Friends and Family Test (where appropriate)
 Recovery outcomes.
 Carer identification and referrals.
 Physical health checks and appropriate actions.
 Staff appraisal and supervision rates.
 Sickness rates.
 Vacancy and Turnover rates.
 Seasonal flu vaccination uptake.
 Zero Suicide plan and progress.
Evaluation
The Service will agree with the Integrated Care System the level of service evaluation required to
be undertaken. In most cases the Service will be required to perform at least one full evaluation of
the service per locality within twelve months of operation, and thereafter at least every 18 months.
Other monitoring and audit activities may be required more frequently in agreement with the
Integrated Care System.
The full evaluation should use appropriate data to assess whether the service is delivering the
objectives as set out in the service target operating model and is providing value for money, while
also evaluating the processes involved in running the service. An evaluation plan should be
developed in conjunction with the Service delivery partner(s) ’s service delivery plan and clearly
state the choice of process, performance and outcome measures that will be collected.
This plan should then be agreed with the Integrated Care System and be funded from the overall
value of the contract. Where appropriate, the evaluation must be delivered in partnership with a
suitably qualified external organisation, to ensure transparency. It is expected the plan will collect

Page 61

45

a mixture of quantitative, qualitative and process data (where appropriate), and complies with
guidance on patient and public involvement in evaluation, and with best practice in ethical service
evaluation.
Typical data might include as a minimum:









Service User satisfaction interviews, surveys, complaints and compliments
Staff feedback sought via interviews, focus groups or surveys
Reflective practice sessions with staff
Measures appropriate for assessing clinical and cost effectiveness
Surveys, interviews, focus groups and workshops with stakeholders
Person reported outcome measures, Quality of Life measures
Performance measures such as numbers of people accessing the service, referrals, waiting
times, demographics, Did Not Attend
Data captured through Quality Improvement Methodologies such as Plan, Do, Study, Act
cycles or run charts.

Numbers are to be proportionate and representative of the specific service component.
6.

Location of Provider Premises

The Service delivery partner(s)’s Premises are located at:
The exact location will be confirmed once Service delivery partner(s) (s) are commissioned.

Page 62
46

Appendix 1: Value Based Health Care and Population Health Management
The provider of Integrated Community Mental Health Services will be required to take a Value
Based Health and Care approach. This means:


Meeting the goals of Population Health: improving physical and mental health outcomes,
promoting wellbeing and reducing health inequalities, for a whole population and not just
those who present to services.



Focusing on achieving the outcomes that matter to people and making best use of
resources (value).

The Service will consider the relationship between mental and physical health.
NHS England NHS Improvement defines health inequalities as “unfair and avoidable differences in
health across the population, and between different groups within society”. This may include, but is
not limited to, deprivation, age, ethnicity, sex and gender.
The Integrated Community Mental Health Service needs to generate value to individuals and
populations. The Healthier Together Value Framework sets out what we mean by value. This
could be applied to think through a whole service or specific pathways.
Figure 2: Healthier Together Value Framework

Page 63
47

This is what we mean by each element of the Value Framework:
1. The wrapper: decisions on where to use resources (including people, money) should be
based on a balanced view of equity (what is fair) and allocative efficiency (what service mix
will lead to the best overall outcomes for the resources available).
2. Value: value can be improved by focusing on outcomes that matter to people and/or
reducing the resources needed to achieve those outcomes.
3. Outcomes that matter to people can be improved by:
a.) Optimising individual agency, that is “the ability to take action or to choose what action
to take” to achieve what matters to them. An important measure to consider here is the
Patient Activation Measure (PAM) . Important interventions to consider are Care and
Support Planning (CSP) and Shared Decision-Making (SDM).
b.) Matching evidence-informed, cost-effective interventions to need is critical to improving
outcomes at a population level. An important area to consider is current unmet need,
which is that where someone would like to improve their health AND has the potential to
benefit from something currently provided that they are not currently benefitting from.
c.) Improving quality, which could be one or all three of the elements of quality; safety,
effectiveness (whether the intervention does what it is supposed to) and experience.
d.) Improving productivity means increasing the output/activity from a particular resource or
set of resources, such as the number of severe mental illness health checks per GP per
hour. Productivity should not pursued to the detriment of effectiveness and could have a
negative effect on efficiency, although this may be considered worth the trade-off.
e.) Prevention of poor health is generally one of the best ways to maintain health and
promote wellbeing
4. Resources used can be improved by:
a.) Reducing activity and ideally low value activity, which is activity that is either unwanted
by a person (related to improving agency) or unwarranted, such as an intervention that
has been shown to be of no benefit, e.g. using mirtazapine with other antidepressants
for treatment-resistant depression. A significant reduction in activity could also be
achieved by addressing failure demand, which is “demand caused by a failure to do
something, or to do something right” for a service user”, which results in the service user
needing to make another demand on the service.
b.) The substitution of services that are less resource intense but give similar benefit, such
as non-medical interventions for mild-moderate depression.
c.) Improving efficiency, which means when an output such as GP severe mental illness
health checks is being achieved at the lowest possible average total costs.

Page 64
48

Population Health Management
Population Health Management is a critical enabler to the Value Based Health and Care approach.
The Integrated Community Mental Health Service will be required to take part in the BNSSG
Population Health Management development programme to:


Co-produce with the BNSSG team a set of analyses to support service design, which in
addition to a traditional needs assessment will also include:
o Risk stratification (quantifying and ranking risk) for certain groups or conditions
o Segmentation (groups with similar needs or characteristics) of the population
o Analyses of individuals’ and segments’ care over time and across services (see
Figure 3 for example)



Build the capability within the service team to use Population Health Management in the
set-up, quality management, health and care provision, and evaluation of services.



Develop the tools and supporting infrastructure to sustain the use of Population Health
Management within the service.



Agree to sharing data to the Population Health Management System Wide Dataset– a
pseudonymised record level database involving multiple Healthier Together system
partners.

The Service will not be asked to fund Population Health Management infrastructure but will need
to account for staff roles including clinical and non-clinical Population Health Management data
champions and Population Health Management data facilitators (people who are able to help the
service make use of Population Health Management). Training, coaching and mentoring for these
roles will be provided through the BNSSG development programme.
Figure 3 : Theograph of 5 years of care for a 29 year-old female

Note: A Theograph of 5 years of care for a 29 year-old female living in the second most deprived
quintile on the severe mental illness register. The Theograph shows activity as coloured dots over
time, by ‘point of delivery’, e.g. A&E, GP, mental health. Grey bars are missing data. These plots
help us see the scale of the resources used for an individual across a partnership of organisations
and over time. They prompt us to this about how we could be improving things for this person and
how we could be making better use of all of the resources being invested. Live plots for use in
clinical care are available in connecting care.

Page 65
49

Appendix 2: Draft Mental Health and Wellbeing Outcomes Framework
BNSSG Integrated Care System is producing a system-wide Mental Health and Wellbeing
Outcomes Framework, which outlines our collective ambition for improvement. The BNSSG
system will annually publish performance against the outcomes framework.
Key principles that underpin this framework are:


A reporting schedule will be created that sets out what information each organisation is
responsible for providing, in what format and by when



Where available, nationally reported information will be used to support / augment locally
generated data



Requirements will be reviewed regularly (at least annually) and adjustments made should
national or local requirements change



Where possible, existing outcomes frameworks will be utilized to define and monitor the
service (this could include, NHS, mental health, social care and/or public health frameworks)



In some cases, targets and baselines will need to be set in year one



Common outcome measurement tools will be used across all services / partners to assess high
level outcomes



Service / pathway specific outcome measurement tools may also be used

Outcome

Output
People will receive first contact from the ‘open door’
within 24 hours
People will have to wait a maximum of 4 weeks from
initial contact to evidence informed treatment

People will be
People will access the right support first time:
able to
access
support early  % of people accessing advice & guidance (reducing
referrals into secondary MH care)
if they
 Patient survey
become
unwell
Supporting metrics:
‘I want to
access care
 How many people needed access to a service (i.e.
when I need it
total referrals)?
and expect
 How long did their support last (i.e. length of
waiting times
treatment)?
to be kept to a  How many people are still awaiting first contact (i.e.
minimum’
waiting list size for assessment)?
 How many people are still awaiting start of their
treatment (i.e. waiting list size for treatment)?
 How many people are still receiving treatment (i.e. the
active caseload)?

Systems

Target

TBC

95%

TBC

95%

Advice &
guidance

TBC

TBC

Baseline
&
monitor

Page 66
50

Outcome
People will
experience
equal access
to support

Output
Programme of work to test equity of service for all,
aiming to answer key questions:



‘I want care that
is tailored to my 
needs’


Outcome

Output
People will be supported by their community mental
health team, reducing their use of other services






People will
receive
support
aimed at
preventing
crisis
episodes and
avoidable
harm

Do rates of service request mirror those of the
population being served?
Is a timely response for assessment and treatment
provided equitably for all groups?
Is the range of treatment options offered the same for
all groups?
Are the outcomes achieved the same for all groups?

Systems

Target

TBC

N/A

Systems

How many A&E attendances were there due to
issues related to mental wellbeing?
How many admissions were there to Acute Hospital
inpatient services due to issues related to mental
wellbeing?
TBC
How many people were detained under s135 or
s136?
How many people were admitted into a Healthbased Place of Safety?
Evidence of appropriate drugs monitoring /
medication review (incl. the impact on physical
health)

Target

Baseline &
monitor

People will be supported by their community mental
health team, minimising their need for crisis / inpatient
support





How many people required support from mental
health intensive / crisis teams?
How many people were admitted to an acute
mental health inpatient bed?
o Total admitted into an NHS or private bed in
the region
o Total admitted into a non-NHS bed outside
the region
How many people required s117 aftercare?

Zero – Out
of Area
Placements
TBC

Baseline &
monitor
other
metrics

People will be supported to prevent / avoid harm


E.g. total incidents of self-harm

TBC

TBC

TBC

N/A

Supporting metrics:



Bed availability compared to national benchmark
Admission rate compared to national benchmark

Page 67

51

Outcome
Patient and
carer
experience of
service
‘I want to know
that help is
available if /
when I need it
(carer)’

Output
People have a positive experience of service and
support; people do not experience stigma

Systems

Target





TBC

Baseline in
year one,
using
national
benchmarks

TBC

Baseline in
year one

Friends & Family Test (FFT)
Total responses to FFT
Service user survey

Carers feel supported and central to the support
offered to service users

‘I want to be
listened to
(patient)’



Outcome

Output
People’s care will be effectively coordinated

Systems

Target



TBC

75% (yr
1)
100% (yr
2)

TBC

TBC
Trajectory
to 100%

TBC

Baseline
in year 1

TBC

Baseline
in year 1

TBC

Baseline
in year 1

TBC

Baseline
in year 1

TBC

Baseline
in year 1

Carer survey

% of people with SMI / Complex needs with a link
worker

People will have improved physical health


The service
will help
service users
on their
recovery
journey
‘I know who to
call when I
need support’
‘I want care to
be joined up
and
accessible’

Mortality gap for people with SMI reduced
Annual physical health check for people with SMI
(LTP target)

Clinician Reported Outcome Measures (CROMs)
 Mental Health Cluster Tool (requirement for statutory
MH providers)
Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs), used to
understand outcomes for patients (some of which are
noted below) – incl. holistic tools such as ICECAP /
IROC


Tools to be agreed in year 1

People will be able to live more independent lives


Reduction in the number of people with SMI
frequently attending their GP

People able to access education & training



The number of people in employment
Data from the IPS service

People have access to safe, warm home and a health
standard of living


The number of people living in settled

Page 68

52

accommodation

Outcome

Output
Staff retention will be above the national average

Systems

Target

The workforce
feels
supported and
effective at
delivering the
service




TBC

Baseline
in year 1

TBC

Baseline
in year 1

TBC

As noted

Systems

Target

TBC

As noted

Turnover rate
Vacancy rate

Survey results indicate that staff feel that they can make
a difference AND that they are enabled by IT to do their
jobs

‘I want to be
effective’




‘I want to feel
part of “one
team”’

Supporting metrics:

‘I want IT
systems that
allow me to do
my job’







Annual NHS staff survey results
Local staff survey

Sickness rate (target to be in line with national
average for MH services)
Supervision rate (target = 85%)
Appraisal rate (target = 90%)
Stat/man training rate (target = 90%)
Usage of bank / agency staff (baseline in year 1)

Outcome

Output
The system will ensure timely and accurate MHSDS
submissions

Good quality
data will be
collected to
support
monitoring &
oversight






% of providers routinely submitting an MHSDS return
(target = 100%)
DQMI score for each provider (target = 95%)
% patient interventions submitted to MHSDS with a
valid SNOMED code assigned (target = 70%)
% patients with protected characteristics recorded
(target = 95%

Helpful information to support the ongoing development of this framework has been offered during
the feedback process. The Outcome and and Digital Infrastructure Steering Group ran three
workshop sessions and as much as possible of that feedback has been incorporated. Feedback
was received via the main process too and is summarised below. This will be reviewed and
actioned by the Outcomes and Digital Infrastructure Steering Group, engaging appropriate
partners, in line with the programme progress. Localities, VSCE and public health specifically
have offered help with this.
Outcome gaps to address:
 Primary care – e.g. reduction in repeat attenders
 Wider determinants of health / whole population measures
 Include some suggested medicines optimisation measures
 Measures relating to prevention interventions and services
 Self-reported measures and some way of showing the impact of VCSE and community
work on patient flow through the system

Page 69

53











Distance travelled outcome measures
Impact of non-clinical inputs on outcomes
Make Every Contact Count (MECC) and physical health need
Translate service description / pathway elements into outcomes
A measure for system working / behaviours
Considering the impact when someone is receiving a range of interventions
Discrimination (or inequality?) associated with access or acuity level – ethnicity, hearing,
LGBTQ+, LD, dependence on alcohol or drugs
Staff well being
Language re S117 / OAP measure

Outcome measurement tools:
Valuable detailed options provided by Jude Hancock from the Clinical Effectiveness Team.
IAPT use the following outcome measures:
 GAD 7
 PHQ 9
 Work and Social Adjustment Scale
 IAPT Phobia questions
Measures of personal (user) outcomes and impacts:
1. INSPIRE – a questionnaire for people to complete about their experience of how their
worker supports their recovery, and their relationship with them. See attached
2. Goal Attainment Scaling (GAS) – a method of scoring the extent to which patients’
individual goals are achieved in the course of interventions.
3. Questionnaire on the process of recovery (QPR) – a 15 item measure developed service
users’ account of recovery from psychosis. Asking people about aspects of recovery that
are meaningful to hem. It is reliable and valid and is strongly associated with general
psychological wellbeing, QOL and empowerment.
4. I.ROC (Individual Recovery Outcomes Counter) – a facilitated self-assessment
questionnaire that seeks to measure recovery based on 12 indicators divided into four
areas (home, opportunity, empowerment, people).
5. DIALOG / DIALOG+ DIALOG is a scale of 11 questions. People rate their satisfaction with eight life domains and
three treatment aspects on a 7-point scale. DIALOG provides a score for subjective quality
of life and a score for treatment satisfaction. The scale is part of the DIALOG+ intervention
but can also be used on its own.
DIALOG+ is a full therapeutic intervention. It incorporates the DIALOG scale but goes far
beyond administering a scale.
6. Dignity and respect – Thinking is that in the absence (so far as I can see) of measures of
stigma within mental health services, a measure of dignity / respect, if we can find one,
might be the most appropriate tool. Some work took place in 2012 between the local
authority and the then PCT on the dignity and respect agenda but at the time, wasn’t
looking for a specific measure.
ONS wellbeing codes
Points and questions for consideration / answering as the framework develops:
 If this is an outcomes based contract, does it need a core data set for leverage /
accountability?
 Suggestion of a core set of measures for VSCE sector
 Defining responsibility for delivery of measures
Pageacross
70 partners (individually and collectively)
54













Clarity required around system governance / contract management processes
Setting intended scale or direction of improvement required
The link to financial framework and how we assess value
Learning from Somerset
Appraise key factors when considering the implementation of (an) outcome measurement
tool(s):
o Cost
o Time taken to complete them
Level of interest system or locality
Phasing, based on data availability, and time for devolved development of thinking
Being clear why we want to collect something, not things for the sake of it or because the data
is readily available
How do we bring in the qualitative balance to the data? Using peoples’ stories. It’s not one
intervention that makes a difference to people, it’s the collaboration between different
organisations.
Important to recognise the short, medium and longer term measures of success in meeting
outcomes. The reduced mortality gap is a longer term measure that will have a number of
component shorter/medium term measures to it – including the reduction in physical illnesses
and maintenance of good health, involvement / participation / regular exercise / smoking
reduction / etc. all framed in a person-centred context.

Page 71
55

Information Schedule
To be developed
Requirement Requirement
Basis
 National
 Local

Frequency

Method

National

Monthly

Provider to NHSD
to CSU to ICS

Monthly

Provider to NHSD
to CSU to ICS

Local

The provision of the Mental
Health Minimum Dataset is
mandatory for all NHS
funded services.
The provision of the
Improving Access to
Psychological Therapies
(IAPT) Minimum Dataset is
mandatory for relevant
NHS funded services.
Need to consider whether
if flowing of activity within
the General Practice
Appointment Dataset
applies, or only Mental
Health Minimum Dataset.
The Mental Health Data
Quality Maturity Index
standards and monitoring
will apply.
Recording and monitoring
against all applicable
Operational Plan and Long
Term Plan performance
measures is necessary.
All statutory returns
(performance, workforce,
finance, quality, estates
etc.) are required.
Outcomes Framework
Reporting
BNSSG Mental Health and
Wellbeing Dashboard to
monitor activity; identify
and effectively target
resources to improve
patient outcomes by
joining together elements
of the health and care
system
Demand, capacity, activity
and performance
measures tbc
Service Evaluation

Data quality or
reporting
development
required?
Timescale?

Monthly

Monthly

NHSD reporting

Quarterly

Annually
Monthly

Provider / ICS

Annually

Provider to ICS

Page 72
56

Where possible we will use published standardised outcome sets. These may include capability
measures, which are measures of wellbeing for use in economic evaluation. These are defined in
terms of an individual's ability to 'do' and 'be' the things that are important in life. Appendix 3
contains an example. Other sources of standard sets include those suggested by the International
Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement, as illustrated using the example of depression
and anxiety (Figure 4).
Figure 4. ICHOM standard outcomes set for depression and anxiety

Page 73
57

Appendix 3: Example capability measure: ICECAP-A capability measure
The ICECAP-A (ICEpop CAPability measure for Adults) is a measure of capability for the general
adult (18+) population for use in economic evaluation. Unlike most profile measures used in
economic evaluations, the ICECAP-A focuses on wellbeing defined in a broader sense, rather
than health. The measure covers attributes of wellbeing that were found to be important to adults
in the UK.
ICECAP-A comprises five attributes (the lay terms are in brackets):






Attachment (an ability to have love, friendship and support)
Stability (an ability to feel settled and secure)
Achievement (an ability to achieve and progress in life)
Enjoyment (an ability to experience enjoyment and pleasure)
Autonomy (an ability to be independent)

The ICECAP-A descriptive system was developed using qualitative methods. A set of UK index
values for ICECAP-A have been estimated using a best-worst scaling. Qualitative and quantitative
studies of the validity of the ICECAP-A have been conducted with general population and patient
samples.
ICECAP-A is free to use, but the use of the measure must be registered with us first. More details
on the registration, index values, validity and applications of the ICECAP-A can be found on this
website.

Page 74
58

Appendix 4: Examples of how people may experience the Service

We have outlined a series of case studies where we look at four people to illustrate how an
integrated and place-based model of community mental health care would lead to more effective
support, care and treatment and better outcomes for the people we serve

.

Louise (aged 18) Location Bristol Louise is living in university
accommodation, having recently moved away from home to study. She
was mugged and assaulted 10 months ago. Louise was diagnosed with
PTSD and had a course of psychological treatment with a therapist (Ivor)
in her home town over 200 miles away. This appeared to be effective and
she started going to a ceramics class and a self-defence class with her
friends and girlfriend at the time. They thought it might help to rebuild her
confidence. She enjoyed this; however, since moving to a new city she is
anxious about socialising. Louise has had minor hearing problems since
the assault, for which she is seeing a GP in her university town. She has
also talked a little about her anxiety and low mood. She feels isolated
because she is nervous about going out, especially at night, so she does
not socialise with university friends much and feels like a burden to her
friends at home. She has not told her father about her low mood so as not
to worry him. He is a widowed, single parent with three young children
living at home

Louise’s care under the new integrated CMH service
The majority of Louise’s support, care and treatment can be provided at the local community level.
Her journey starts with her GP (Fariha). Fariha is concerned about Louise’s anxiety and
avoidance, and with Louise’s consent, makes contact with her therapist (Ivor), who works in a
service in Louise’s home town. Their conversation goes like this: Fariha contacts Louise and asks
if she might like to talk to the local community connector. Louise seems uncertain about what to
expect but agrees to try. After this conversation, Fariha speaks to the local community connector
linked to the practice (Ellie):
Fariha arranges to see Louise again and together they develop a brief care plan, and Ellie meets
Louise to discuss local groups she might be interested in joining: Note that Ellie has had to be
quite proactive here, given Louise’s current social isolation. The groups that Ellie is connecting her
to may be located either in her university community or local community of Eastern. They aim to
provide a space for Louise to take part in activities she enjoys, and possibly build friendships with
local people who share similar interests, ideally within her community at university. She seems to
feel more comfortable with online options at present and Ellie is able to recognise this, and provide
her with signposting and support to access, but also acknowledges that in the future Louise may
wish to look for an option that requires her to be present in person. Support, care and treatment
Louise is still experiencing high levels of anxiety related to the assault, so may also benefit from a
specific community support group for victims of crime. Fariha might also consider referring her to
the local Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) service for brief psychological
therapy. Louise may also need specialised support to address the physical consequences of the
assault related to her hearing, and the impact this will have on her ability to engage in her learning
and meet her social needs. Ellie would be able to identify these groups if they exist or support
Louise to access similar care elsewhere. Fariha may also provide advice about medication.

Page 75
59

But Ellie would be the one who provides a consistent point of contact and support in a place where
Louise currently feels disconnected and isolated. Implementing the framework in this way will help
Louise to build connections with her new local community and support her mental health needs by
reducing the current barriers to access and receiving care and treatment according to need, in a
timely manner. Further support If Louise did not respond well to this support, care and treatment
as indicated by routine outcome measurement (including her experience of care), the core
community mental health Service will be able to provide advice to Fariha, Ellie and the IAPT
(Improving Access to Psychological Therapies) service, and, if needed, further assessment,
support, care and treatment could be provided.
Louise’s care without Integrated Community Mental Health Service
It is likely that Louise would have been referred back to Ivor in her home town for further sessions
of treatment for her PTSD. If Louise had been sent back during term time this would have
interrupted her studies. If she had waited and returned after the term had ended, her symptoms
might have worsened. Without a community connector, Louise would probably have become more
isolated, and her confidence levels might have dropped further.
Ashik (aged 32) Location: Bristol
Born in Bangladesh, Ashik moved to the UK with his family aged 2.
He was diagnosed with bipolar disorder 11 years ago, for which he
takes medication, and is managing this well with support from
specialist mental health services. Ashik works in the financial sector
and was recently promoted, which has increased his workload. This
is contributing to chronic and ongoing anxiety. Ashik sometimes
manages his anxiety by drinking too much and sometimes taking
cocaine. Ashik has an understanding partner and two primary
schoolage children, whom he rarely sees on weekdays due to work.
Ashik is happiest when he can spend time with his family at
weekends. While he has a good relationship with his parents, Ashik
has struggled to explain his current problems to them and worries
that, as devout Muslims, they might disown him if they found out
about his drinking and drug use. Ashik also worries that his parents
will not understand his mental health problems. While he has a
supportive GP, Ashik recognises that he needs some more help for
his problems but does not know who else to talk to.

Ashik’s care under the new Integrated Community Mental Health Service
At an appointment with his psychiatrist (Kim), Kim is aware that Ashik seems more anxious than
usual and asks him questions from the GAD-2.b Here is an excerpt from their subsequent
conversation: Support, care and treatment During his meeting with Kim, Ashik has a review of his
medication to optimise treatment of his bipolar disorder and help with mood disturbance. He and
Kim discuss other treatment options including psychoeducation (for the drug and alcohol use) and
psychological therapy (for the anxiety), both of which he will be able to access locally. Kim asks
Ashik whether it would be okay to speak with his GP about their discussion and he agrees. After
this appointment, Kim contacts Ashik’s GP, Reece (see conversation on the next page).
Depending on the outcome of the psychoeducation, Ashik might need a more focused intervention
for his drug and alcohol use and support from a community group such as Alcoholics Anonymous
or Narcotics Anonymous, and long-term coordination of his support, care and treatment to retain
employment.

Page 76
60

Ashik’s care without Integrated Community Mental Health Service
Without the framework, Ashik would probably not be able to access the psychological treatment he
needs locally, and if he were able to he would probably be on a waiting list for 9 months. He would
also in all likelihood be excluded from services for which he did not meet the criteria – for example,
from an IAPT (Improving Access to Psychological Therapies) service because of his diagnosis of
bipolar disorder, and from primary care because of his drug and alcohol use.
Diane Aged 82 Location Weston
Diane is a widow whose physically abusive husband died 8 years ago.
She has four children and nine grandchildren, almost all of whom live
nearby and have close relationships with her. Usually very
independent, Diane’s physical health has worsened over the last few
years, with a recent diagnosis of chronic pulmonary obstructive
disease. She had a mental health crisis aged 20 and was diagnosed
with bipolar disorder and spent many years in and out of hospital, often
detained under the Mental Health Act. Fluctuations in mood affect her
relationship with her family, as she will either isolate herself or
telephone them non-stop. She has had negative experiences as an
inpatient and is wary of mental health services. She was prescribed
lithium but stopped taking this by mistake during a hospital admission
for her emphysema and, as a result, deteriorated. She is currently well,
but is starting to forget things. Diane enjoys spending time with her
family and friends and she has a dog, but she struggles to walk him as
frequently as she used to.

Diane’s care under the new Integrated Community Mental Health Service
The primary care nurse (Cheryl) at Diane’s local GP surgery is giving Diane her flu jab, and during
their conversation Cheryl becomes concerned that Diane seems confused, and that she is
struggling to remember recent events. Cheryl speaks to Diane’s GP (Tony) about her concerns,
and with Diane’s permission Tony phones Diane’s daughter. As part of the conversation with her
daughter Tony wonders if the problem might be related to Diane’s medication, so calls her
psychiatrist (Ignacio). Ignacio confirms that this is possible and arranges to see Diane for a lithium
review. After this conversation Tony calls Diane to talk through options, and to arrange an
appointment for a joint assessment involving both Tony and Ignacio. Tony is also concerned that
Diane is becoming a little isolated again, and wonders whether the community connector, Rachel,
might be able to help. Rachel then makes contact with Diane. After introductions, Rachel
discusses possible activities with Diane
Even though Diane’s physical and mental health history is quite complex, she has been able to
lead a fairly independent life. She enjoys other people’s company, so a dog walking group would
be ideal for Diane as it would encourage her to remain physically active while opening up new
social possibilities for her. Additionally, if Diane ever felt that she was unable to walk her dog, she
would have built relationships within her community with people who she could ask to walk her
dog for her. Tony and Ignacio will keep the memory loss under review, while Diane’s lithium
regimen is adjusted. If her memory problems persist, and other causes have been ruled out, Tony
will refer Diane to the local memory clinic, and make sure Diane and the family are supported
throughout the process.

Page 77
61

Diane’s care without the Integrated Community Mental Health Service

It is likely that Diane’s care would be very fragmented. She has a complex set of needs, and it is
possible that no one person would take responsibility for making sure that all of those needs are
addressed.
Frank: Location: South Gloucestershire.
Frank has schizoaffective disorder. He also drinks alcohol and uses
cannabis at times. His first episode of psychosis was following smoking
cannabis aged 19 years old, when working in a garden centre. Frank has
had several psychiatric hospital admissions due to the severity of his
illness – he has tried to harm himself in the past and is vulnerable to being
exploited financially, when unwell. As Frank’s symptoms haven’t
responded to first and second-line antipsychotic medication, he is on
clozapine, which means he must have blood tests and physical health
checks once a month. Before being on clozapine, Frank was unwell for a
long time. His symptoms, risks and difficulty with managing his daily
activities, meant that he was unable to leave the hospital ward and needed
a longer stay on an inpatient rehabilitation ward. Before being admitted he
had been living with his mother in her home. However his mother is now
elderly and frail and unable to support.

Frank’s needs and how Integrated Community Mental Health Service will help
Frank is able to access inpatient rehabilitation care in his local area. This helps to stabilise and
optimise his mental health and improve his functioning. After 10 months, his psychiatrist and
community mental health team feel that he is ready to be discharged to the rehabilitation team.
The care plan that was developed while Frank was still an inpatient is put into place and, before
his transition out of inpatient services, he has already been supported to engage with his local
community mental health rehabilitation team. They are a multidisciplinary team supporting
everyone in Westside who has a long-term serious mental illness and those in 24-hour or 9–5
supported accommodation. They are located in a hospital rehabilitation placement, and have an
in-reach service for people with rehabilitation needs in acute wards. This team has arranged a
funded placement for Frank in accommodation with 24-hour staff support. Because Frank was
given the opportunity to engage with the team before discharging from the rehabilitation ward, he
feels that he has knowledge about what the next steps are for his care, who the team are and
what to expect. The team work with Frank, his mother (Anne), the staff at the housing project, his
GP and other relevant agencies, to ensure person-centred, personalised, recovery-focused
working to support Frank to achieve his goals. On the right is part of a conversation between
Frank, Anne and a member of the community mental health rehabilitation team (Paul), when Frank
was still on the mental health rehabilitation ward.
Frank has regular support on a daily basis from the support staff in the housing project, to help
with managing his daily self-care, managing finances, eating well and exercising, and also to
attend his regular daytime activities. Frank was also diagnosed with diabetes mellitus, probably
due to his being overweight, being sedentary when unwell and also due to his antipsychotic
medication. With an integrated multidisciplinary team, Frank is able to receive care for his diabetes
from his GP (who is being supported by a diabetes specialist). Previously, Frank did not like to
spend much time in other people’s company. However, he is now more sociable, has a couple of
friends he sees regularly at the gardening club and also at the animal shelter. He also visits his
mother once a week.

Page 78

62

Frank is working towards moving into his own council flat with a permanent tenancy and a
package of support. He is also going to start paid work two afternoons a week at the animal
shelter.
Frank’s care without Integrated Community Mental Health
Frank would most probably have been placed in a ward far away from his community, his mother
and local care team, which would have had a negative effect on his health and likely have led to
him to have to stay in inpatient care for longer. Without community connection, Frank would most
likely have struggled to build on the progress he made while being supported by the community
rehabilitation team and may have struggled with identifying transport options to help him access
the resources in nearby towns. In an unintegrated team, Frank’s diabetes care would not have
been available in his local community, and he would have had to have travel to see a specialist.
Frank’s social care needs are met because his care coordinator, Paul, has the relevant skills, and
being in an integrated team can draw on social care expertise when needed. However, without the
framework, Frank would almost certainly have been referred to a social worker, which would have
led to delays in receiving benefits and required Frank to have to repeat his story multiple times.

Page 79
63

Appendix 5: Initial Mental Health Data Pack
Please see accompanying data pack. This could not be included within the document due to file
size.

Page 80
64

Appendix 6: Key National Guidance and Quality Standards
NICE guidelines


Guidelines on mental health diagnoses and coexisting needs

-

Alcohol-use Disorders: Diagnosis, Assessment and Management of Harmful Drinking
and Alcohol Dependence (CG115)
Antisocial Personality Disorder: Prevention and Management (CG77)
Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: Diagnosis and Management (NG87)
Autism Spectrum Disorder in Adults: Diagnosis and Management (CG142)
Bipolar Disorder: Assessment and Management (CG185)
Borderline Personality Disorder: Recognition and Management (CG78)
Care and Support of People Growing Older with Learning Disabilities (NG96)
Challenging Behaviour and Learning Disabilities: Prevention and Interventions for
People with Learning Disabilities Whose Behaviour Challenges (NG11)
Coexisting Severe Mental Illness (Psychosis) and Substance Misuse: Assessment and
Management in Healthcare Settings (CG120)
Coexisting Severe Mental Illness and Substance Misuse: Community Health and Social
Care Services (NG58)
Common Mental Health Problems: Identification and Pathways to Care (CG123)
Depression in Adults with a Chronic Physical Health Problem: Recognition and
Management (CG91)
Depression in Adults: Recognition and Management (CG90)
Drug Misuse in Over 16s: Psychosocial Interventions (CG51)
Drug Misuse Prevention: Targeted Interventions (NG64)
Eating Disorders: Recognition and Treatment (NG69)
Generalised Anxiety Disorder and Panic Disorder in Adults: Management (CG113)
Learning Disabilities and Behaviour that Challenges: Service Design and Delivery
(NG93)
Mental Health Problems in People with Learning Disabilities: Prevention, Assessment
and Management (NG54)
Obsessive-compulsive Disorder and Body Dysmorphic Disorder: Treatment (CG31)
Older People: Independence and Mental Wellbeing (NG32)
Post-traumatic Stress Disorder (NG116)
Preventing Suicide in Community and Custodial Settings (NG105)
Psychosis and Schizophrenia in Adults: Prevention and Management (CG178)
Self-harm in Over 8s: Long-term Management (CG133)
Appendices 53
Self-harm in Over 8s: Short-term Management and Prevention of Recurrence (CG16)
Service User Experience in Adult Mental Health: Improving the Experience of Care for
People using Adult NHS Mental Health Services (CG136)
Social Anxiety Disorder: Recognition, Assessment and Treatment (CG159)



Guidelines included in other mental health care pathways

-

Antenatal and Postnatal Mental Health: Clinical Management and Service Guidance
(CG192)
Dementia: Assessment, Management and Support for People Living with Dementia and
their Carers (NG97)
Dementia, Disability and Frailty in Later Life – Mid-life Approaches to Delay or Prevent
Onset (NG16)
Mental Wellbeing at Work (PH22)

Page 81
65



Other relevant guidelines

-

Behaviour Change: Digital and Mobile Health Interventions (NG183)
Behaviour Change: General Approaches (PH6)
Behaviour Change: Individual Approaches (PH49)
Community Engagement: Improving Health and Wellbeing and Reducing Health
Inequalities (NG44)
Decision-making and Mental Capacity (NG108)
Domestic Violence and Abuse: Multi-agency Working (PH50)
Multimorbidity: Clinical Assessment and Management (NG56)
Older People with Social Care Needs and Multiple Long-term Conditions (NG22)
People’s Experience in Adult Social Care Services: Improving the Experience of Care
for People using Adult Social Care Services (NG86)
Rehabilitation for Adults with Complex Psychosis (NG181)
Smoking: Acute, Maternity and Mental Health Services (PH48)
Supporting Adult Carers (NG150)
Violence and Aggression: Short-term Management in Mental Health, Health and
Community Settings (NG10)



Medication management

-

Community Pharmacies: Promoting Health and Wellbeing (NG102)
Managing Medicines for Adults Receiving Social Care in the Community (NG67)
Managing Medicines in Care Homes (SC1)
Medicines Adherence: Involving Patients in Decisions about Prescribed Medicines and
Supporting Adherence (CG76)
Appendices 54
Medicines Optimisation: the Safe and Effective Use of Medicines to Enable the Best
Possible Outcomes (NG5)



Service transitions

-

Transition between Inpatient Hospital Settings and Community or Care Home Settings
for Adults with Social Care Needs (NG27)
Transition between Inpatient Mental Health Settings and Community or Care Home
Settings (NG53)
Transition from Children’s to Adults’ Services for Young People using Health or Social
Care Services (NG43)



Guidelines in development at time of publication

-

Depression in Adults: Treatment and Management (GID-CGWAVE0725)
Safeguarding Adults in Care Homes (GID-NG10107)

Page 82
66

Quality standards


Quality standards relating to mental health diagnoses and coexisting needs

-

Alcohol-use Disorders: Diagnosis and Management (QS11)
Anxiety Disorders (QS53)
Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (QS39)
Autism (QS51)
Bipolar Disorder in Adults (QS95)
Coexisting Severe Mental Illness and Substance Misuse (QS188)
Depression in Adults (QS8)
Drug Misuse Prevention (QS165)
Drug Use Disorders in Adults (QS23)
Eating Disorders (QS175)
Learning Disability: Care and Support of People Growing Older (QS187)
Learning Disabilities: Behaviour that Challenges (QS101)
Learning Disabilities: Identifying and Managing Mental Health Problems (QS142)
Mental Wellbeing and Independence for Older People (QS137)
Mental Wellbeing of Older People in Care Homes (QS50)
Multimorbidity (QS153)
Personality Disorders: Borderline and Antisocial (QS88)
Psychosis and Schizophrenia in Adults (QS80)
Self-harm (QS34)
Suicide Prevention (QS189)



Quality standards included in other mental health care pathways

-

Antenatal and Postnatal Mental Health (QS115)
Dementia (QS184)



Other relevant quality standards

-

Community Engagement: Improving Health and Wellbeing (QS148)
Domestic Violence and Abuse (QS116)
Medicines Management for People Receiving Social Care in the Community (QS171)
Medicines Management in Care Homes (QS85)
Medicines Optimisation (QS120)
People’s Experience using Adult Social Care Services (QS182)
Promoting Health and Preventing Premature Mortality in Black, Asian and Other
Minority Ethnic Groups (QS167)
Service User Experience in Adult Mental Health Services (QS14)
Social Care for Older People with Multiple Long-term Conditions (QS132)
Smoking: Supporting People to Stop (QS43)
Transition between Inpatient Mental Health Settings and Community or Care Home
Settings (QS159)
Transition between Inpatient Hospital Settings and Community or Care Home Settings
for Adults with Social Care Needs (QS136)
Transition from Children’s to Adults’ Services (QS140)
Violent and Aggressive Behaviours in People with Mental Health Problems (QS154)

Page 83
67

To support BNSSG’s local engagement and strategies, the Community Mental Health Service will
be informed by the following national policies and evidence:
 NHS England’s Community Mental Health Framework, NHS Long Term Plan and Advancing
Mental Health Equalities Strategy
 Public Health England’s Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health, reviews outlining the
disproportionate impact of COVID-19 and data tools
 Evidence-based guidance from NICE, Royal Colleges and the National Collaborating Centre
for Mental Health.
 Key legislation, including the Care Act (2014); Equalities Act (2010) and Mental Health Act
(1983 and revised draft 2021)
 Publications from the Centre for Mental Health, National Service User Network (NSUN) and
Rethink Mental Illness.
Applicable standards











Personal Health Budgets - https://www.england.nhs.uk/personal-health-budgets/
Care Act 2014 - https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted
Serious Incident Framework - https://www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2015/04/serious-incidnt-framwrk-upd.pdf
Never event policy - https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Revised-NeverEvents-policy-and-framework-FINAL.pdf
Advancing mental health equalities strategy
Complaints Procedures - nhse-complaints-policy-june-2017.pdf (england.nhs.uk)
Patient Experience - https://improvement.nhs.uk/resources/patient-experience-improvementframework/
The learning disability improvement standards for NHS trusts
Mental Capacity Act - https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents
Relevant NICE Guidance and Quality Standards – the Service delivery partner(s) is expected
to assess their position with regard to recommendations outlined within clinical guidelines
issued by NICE to improve outcomes for people using the NHS and other public health and
social care services. Specifically relevant are outlined in Appendix 5.

Appendix 7: Equality Impact Assessment
Please see separate document due to file size
Appendix 8: Quality Impact assessment
Please see separate document due to file size

Page 84
68

Appendix 9: Glossary
Term
Accessible Information
Standard

Art Psychotherapies

Bio-Psychosocial Treatment
Model

Cinapsis SmartReferrals

Co-design

Cognitive Analytic Therapy
(CAT)

Cognitive Behavioural
Therapy (CBT)
Community Forensic

Connecting Care

Continuity of Care

Definition
The Accessible Information Standard, formally known as
DCB1605 Accessible Information, is made up of a
Specification and Implementation Guidance https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/accessibleinfo/
Art therapy is a form of psychotherapy that
uses art media as its primary mode of expression and
communication. Within this context, art is not used as
diagnostic tool but as a medium to address emotional
issues which may be confusing and distressing.
This model suggests that biological, psychological and
social factors are all interlinked and important with regard
to promoting health or causing disease. In other words,
the mind and the body are not independent and separate
things, but rather are connected and interdependent
things.
Cinapsis is increasing the communication between.
Primary care and secondary care and it are improving.
Patient care, which is the heart of what existing changes.
In technology are trying to achieve.
Co-design in healthcare involves the equal partnership of
individuals who work within the system (healthcare staff),
individuals who have lived experience of using the
system (patients and their families/carers) and the
'designers' of the new system.
CAT stands for Cognitive Analytic Therapy; a
collaborative programme for looking at the way a person
thinks, feels and acts, and the events and relationships
that underlie these experiences (often from childhood or
earlier in life). As its name suggests, it brings together
ideas and understanding from different therapies into one
user-friendly and effective therapy.
CBT is talking therapies that can help you manage your
problems by changing the way you think and behave.
The Forensic Community Mental Health Team (FCMHT)
provides specialist psychological and
psychiatric interventions to assess treat and manage
individuals who, as a consequence of mental illness or
personality disorder, have offended, or, present a
potential to offend and therefore pose a risk to
themselves or others.
Connecting Care is a digital care record system for
sharing information in Bristol, North Somerset and South
Gloucestershire. It allows instant, secure access to your
health and social care records for the professionals
involved in your care. Relevant information from
your digital records is shared with people who look after
you. This gives them up-to-date information making your
care safer and more efficient
Making sure the person experiences an ongoing
relationship with a team member and care is coordinated
Pagesmoothly,
85
and progresses
as they move between
different parts of the health and care system. Continuity

69

Co-production

Dialectical Behavioural
Therapy (DBT)

Early Intervention

EMIS
ePACT
Eye Movement
Desensitisation and
Reprocessing
FP10

Front door
High Acuity Services
Holistic Response

IAPT

Integrated Care System

Integrated Community Mental
Health
Integrated and Personalised
Care Team (IPCT)
Interoperability Platform
Learning Disabilities
Standard

of care is concerned with the quality of care over time
Co-production is when an individual influences the
support and services received, or when groups of people
get together to influence the way that services are
designed, commissioned and delivered. '
Dialectical behaviour therapy (DBT) is a type of talking
therapy. It's based on cognitive behavioural therapy
(CBT), but it's specially adapted for people who feel
emotions very intensely. The aim of DBT is to help you:
understand and accept your difficult feelings, learn skills
to manage them and become able to make positive
changes in your life.
Early intervention is the process of providing specialist
intervention and support to a person who is experiencing
or demonstrating any of the early symptoms of mental
illness.
A digital clinical system supporting joined up working
across all care settings.
Electronic Prescribing Analysis and Cost Tool
EMDR (Eye Movement Desensitization and
Reprocessing) is a psychotherapy that enables people to
heal from the symptoms and emotional distress that are
the result of disturbing life experiences
FP10 prescriptions are purchased by NHS organisations
including Hospital Trusts, and are distributed free of
charge to medical and non-medical prescribers.
Single or specific point of access.
Patients in need of immediate and intensive care.
A holistic approach means to provide support that looks
at the whole person, not just their mental health needs.
The support should also consider their physical,
emotional, social and spiritual wellbeing.
The IAPT (Improving Access to Psychological Therapies)
programme was developed to provide talking therapies
for those with anxiety disorders and depression. It aims
to better people’s mental health by looking at methods of
coping.
Integrated care systems (ICSs) are new partnerships
between the organisations that meet health and care
needs across an area, to coordinate services and to plan
in a way that improves population health and reduces
inequalities between different groups.
Care providers coming together to provide a collaborative
person centric approach to meet the needs of the
individual.
People who will work together from across the health,
social care, voluntary and lived experience boundaries to
deliver care in a locality setting.
The ability of computer systems or software to exchange
and make use of information.
The LD Improvement Standards state what people
should expect from the NHS. They are designed to
deliver improvements in quality & outcomes for people
with a learning
disability
Page
86 by ensuring NHS commissioned
70

Link Worker ( name to be
chosen by locality partners)

Linear Pathways
Locality

Lower-layer Super Output
Areas (LSOA)

Mental Health

Mental Health Minimum Data
Set

Mental Health data quality
Maturity Index

Mental Health Primary Care Additional Roles
Reimbursement Scheme
Mental Illness

Mentalisation Based Therapy
(MBT)

services listen, respond and learns to improving care for
people with a learning disability.
A member of staff to help an individual access quality
care and treatment Depending on someone’s needs a
Link Worker could be a member of the primary care
team, peer supporter, a key worker, psychiatric nurse,
psychiatrist or other health and social care professional.
A rigid care pathway which could limit a patient centred
approach to treatment.
An area within Bristol, North Somerset and South
Gloucestershire (BNSSG). There are six localities within
BNSSG
Small areas designed to be of a similar population size,
with an average of approximately 1,500 residents or 650
households. They were produced by the Office for
National Statistics for the reporting of small area
statistics.
Mental health is a state of well-being in which an
individual realizes his or her own abilities, can cope with
the normal stresses of life, can work productively and is
able to make a contribution to his or her community
A set of data variables arranged across 62 data tables,
designed by NHS Digital, that flows from providers of
mental health services to NHS Digital and then out to
commissioners. The dataset provides activity information
for all services, including referrals, caseloads, community
and inpatient activity. All providers of NHS funded
services must provide this data under the NHS standard
contract terms.
A methodology for assessing the quality of the main data
fields in the MHSDS. NHS Digital set targets about the
expected quality and providers are benchmarked to show
where data quality improvement is required. For
example, improvements in ethnicity recording have been
mandated through the 2020/21 and 2021/22 planning
processes.
The Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS) is
the most significant financial investment element within
the Network Contract DES; it is designed to provide
financial reimbursement for Primary Care Networks
(PCNs) to build workforce capacity.
Mental illnesses are health conditions involving changes
in emotion, thinking or behaviour (or a combination of
these). Mental illnesses are associated with distress
and/or problems functioning in social, work or family
activities
Mentalisation-based therapy (MBT) is a type of long-term
psychotherapy. Mentalisation is the ability to think about
thinking.
It helps to make sense of our thoughts, beliefs, wishes
and feelings and to link these to our actions and
behaviours. MBT aims to improve a person’s capacity to
mentalise. We focus on what is going on in their mind
and in the minds
other people and link this to
Pageof87
71

understand and alleviate problematic behaviours.
Morbidity Gap
Multidisciplinary Team

Neurodevelopment
Conditions

NICE
Peer Support Workers

Pharmacological approaches
Place based approach

Place based care

PREVENT

Prevention
Primary Care

Proactive Care
Psychodynamic
psychotherapy

Psycho-Education

Refers to having a disease or a symptom of disease, or
to the amount of disease within a population.
Group of professionals from one or more clinical
disciplines who together make decisions regarding
recommended treatment of individual patients.
Neurodevelopmental disorders are a group of disorders
that affect the development of the nervous system,
leading to abnormal brain function which may
affect emotion, learning ability, self-control, and memory.
The effects of neurodevelopmental disorders tend to last
for a person's lifetime.
The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
Peer Support may be defined as the help
and support that people with lived experience of a mental
illness or a learning disability are able to give to one
another.
Management of symptoms through the
use of medication.
Place-based working is a person-centred, bottomup approach used to meet the unique needs of people in
one given location by working together to use the best
available resources and collaborate to gain local
knowledge and insight.
Place-based care targets an entire community and aims
to address issues that exist at the neighbourhood level,
such as poor housing, social isolation, poor or
fragmented service provision that leads to gaps or
duplication of effort, and limited economic opportunities
The Prevent strategy, published by the Government in
2011, is part of the overall counter-terrorism strategy,
CONTEST. The aim of the Prevent strategy is to reduce
the threat to the UK from terrorism by stopping people
becoming terrorists or supporting terrorism. In the Act
this has simply been expressed as the need to “prevent
people from being drawn into terrorism”.
Often used to describe efforts to stop Mental Health
problems before they emerge.
Healthcare provided in the community for people making
an initial approach to a medical practitioner or clinic for
advice or treatment.
(Of a person or action) creating or controlling a situation
rather than just responding to it after it has happened.
Psychodynamic therapy is the psychological
interpretation of mental and emotional processes. Rooted
in traditional psychoanalysis, it draws from object
relations, ego psychology, and selfpsychology. Psychodynamic therapy aims to address
the foundation and formation of psychological processes.
In this way, it seeks to reduce symptoms and improve
people’s lives.
Psychoeducation (PE) is defined as an intervention with
systematic, structured, and didactic knowledge transfer

Page 88

72

Psychological Informed
Environments

Psychosocial Education

Quality and Outcomes
Framework (QOF)

Qualitative
Quantitative
Quintile

S136

Secondary Care

for an illness and its treatment, integrating emotional and
motivational aspects to enable patients to cope with the
illness and to improve its treatment adherence and
efficacy.
Psychologically informed environments are services
where the day-to-day running has been designed to take
the psychological and emotional needs of people with
these experiences into account.
Psychosocial education is used to support individuals
and families with the aim of promoting awareness
regarding unhealthy relationships and maladaptive
behaviours.
The Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) is a
voluntary scheme within the General Medical Services
(GMS) contract. It aims to support contractors to deliver
good quality care. The objective of the Quality and
Outcomes Framework (QOF) is to improve the quality of
care patients are given by rewarding practices for the
quality of care they provide, based on a number of
indicators across clinical care and public health. There
are 4 areas which relate to mental health; Depression,
Dementia, Learning Disabilities and Mental Health
(SMI). Data from the QOF provides prevalence,
achievement and personalised care adjustments for each
clinical care or public health area at a national to practice
level. QOF 2019-20 Interactive QOF Data Further
detail and maps of this data are included in Appendix 5.
Relating to, measuring, or measured by the quality of
something rather than its quantity.
Relating to, measuring, or measured by the quantity of
something rather than its quality.
Any of five equal groups into which a population can be
divided according to the distribution of values of a
particular variable.
Section 136 allows the police to take you to (or keep you
at) a place of safety. They can do this without a warrant
if:
you appear to have a mental disorder, AND
you are in any place other than a house, flat or room
where a person is living, or garden or garage that only
one household has access to, AND
you are "in need of immediate care or control" (meaning
the police think it is necessary to keep you or others
safe).
Before using section 136 the police must consult
a registered medical practitioner, a registered nurse, or
an AMHP, occupational therapist or paramedic.
The police can keep you at the place of safety for up to
24 hours, which can be extended for another 12 hours if
it was not possible to assess you in that time.
Legislation https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/section/136
Secondary care refers to services provided

Page 89

73

Secondary Mental Health
Care

Section 117

Severe Mental Illness (SMI)

SNOMED Intervention Codes

Social determinants of health

Social Prescribing Link
workers

System Wide Data Set

Trauma

by health professionals who generally do not have the
first contact with a patient. Secondary care services are
usually based in a hospital or clinic, though some
services may be community based.
Secondary care generally needs a referral from a GP and
cover both hospital and community care. Examples of
secondary mental health services are hospitals, some
psychological wellbeing services, community mental
health teams (CMHTs), crisis resolution and home
treatment teams (CRHTs), assertive outreach teams and
early intervention teams.
Section 117 aftercare is a legal duty that is placed on
health and social services to provide after care services
for individuals who have been detained under Section 3,
Section 37, Section 47, Section 48 and Section 45A. It is
the duty that comes in effect once the person has been
discharged from the hospital. The aim of Section 117
aftercare is to provide services to prevent further
admissions to a hospital.
Within the Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOG –
see above) The SMI indicator is defined as
schizophrenia, bipolar affective disorder, and other
psychoses.
Within Secondary mental health care (see above) this is
defined as mental health care clusters 10-17 which are
the care clusters for psychotic disorders.
This Target Operating Model deliberately refers to
complexity in recognition of the fact that people may
have a mental health condition not strictly categorised as
an SMI alongside other additional needs which has a
profound effect on their ability to live a full life.
SNOMED is the clinical terminology mandated for
capturing structured clinical content in electronic patient
records within the NHS.
The social determinants of health (SDH) are the nonmedical factors that influence health outcomes. They are
the conditions in which people are born, grow, work, live,
and age, and the wider set of forces and systems
shaping the conditions of daily life. These forces and
systems include economic policies and systems,
development agendas, social norms, social policies and
political systems.
Social prescribing is a way for local agencies to refer
people to a link worker. Link workers give people time,
focusing on 'what matters to me' and taking a holistic
approach to people's health and wellbeing. They connect
people to community groups and statutory services for
practical and emotional support.
The Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire
(BNSSG) system-wide dataset is a patient-level dataset
that links together information across Primary Care,
Secondary Care, Mental Health and Community Services
for everyone in our region.
Severe emotional shock and pain caused by

Page 90

74

Trauma Informed

Value – Based Approach

VCSE
Warm transfer

an extremely upsetting experience
Trauma-Informed Practice is a strengths-based
approach, grounded in an understanding of and
responsiveness to the impact of trauma, that emphasises
physical, psychological, and emotional safety for
everyone, and that creates opportunities for survivors to
rebuild a sense of control and empowerment.
Equitable, sustainable and. transparent use of the
available resources to achieve better outcomes and
experiences of care for every person
Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise
A transfer of care between two teams or providers of
care, where the transfer occurs in front of the patient and
family. This transparent transfer of care allows patients
and families to hear what is said and engages patients
and families in communication, giving them the
opportunity to clarify or correct information or ask
questions about their care.

END OF DOCUMENT

Page 91
75

Overview of BNSSG’s Community Mental Health Target Operating Model and
Implementation Process
1. Overview and Principles
We want everyone across Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire to have
happier, healthier and more fulfilled lives. In developing BNSSG’s Integrated Community
Mental Health Service we are sparking the beginning of a radically different approach to
drive better outcomes. It is a new model of proactive, personalised and preventive mental
health care that brings people, communities and organisations together to offer the right
support, at the right time, in the right place.
This approach aligns with the Government’s White Paper ‘Integration and innovation:
working together to improve health and social care for all’ (published in February 2021)
which seeks to:
 Establish Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) across England to develop greater
integration between the NHS and social care.
 Reduce the requirement for competitive procurements within the health system.
 Increase the focus on commissioning at a smaller population level (than CCGs have
traditionally served) and give partners within those populations greater agency to
decide what services are needed for their populations. The organisations who will
deliver care at a local level will be called Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs).
These organisations are currently in shadow form in BNSSG.

This paper provides an overview of:
 BNSSG’s Community Mental Health Target Operating Model.
 The process for implementation and delivery of the Service from 1st April 2022.
 Existing contracts associated with the Target Operating Model.
1.1

Principles underpinning the model

The Service will:
 Have a whole system, ‘one team’ approach with a collaborative culture: it will break
the traditional divide between primary care, community services, social care, mental
health services, hospitals and VCSE provision with partners responsible for all
outcomes 24/7, with extensive co-production throughout.


Deliver value for individuals: it will be driven by outcomes that matter to the people
we serve, as defined by people with lived experience and our communities, with
high levels of transparency around performance and improvement.



Be personalised, preventative, proactive and trauma-informed in delivering support:
it will be tailored to someone’s individual needs, responsive to them and codesigned with them, ensuring their carer or support network is actively supported
and engaged.

Page 92

1



Provide a model of care based on inclusivity, particularly for people with coexisting
needs, with the highest levels of complexity and who experience marginalisation.
The Advancing Mental Health Equalities Strategy will be delivered in full to tackle
inequalities in access, experience and outcomes.



Create a system and culture which enables professionals to collect and report
outcome measures routinely, and a system-wide Mental Health and Wellbeing
Outcomes Framework and dashboard. The service will embed quality improvement
to sustain and build upon effective approaches.



Be supported by a system leadership and cultural change programme to enable
collaborative and effective working across BNSSG.

2. A Population Health Management approach
The Service will take a Population Health Management Approach. This means:
 Meeting the goals of Population Health: improving physical and mental health
outcomes, promoting wellbeing and reducing health inequalities, for a whole
population and not just those who present to services.
 Focusing on achieving the experiences and outcomes that matter to people and
making the best use of resources (value).
This will involve using robust data to understand the needs of our local population. For
example, Figure 1 below illustrates that 1% of the population (1,342 people) with a mental
health condition accounts for 23% (£348 million per annum) of the cost across the health
system. Using a Population Health Management approach will strengthen our
understanding of the characteristics and needs of different individuals and groups. This will
help us to design services that will more effectively meet needs and offer opportunities to
prevent illness in the future.

Page 93

2

Figure 1: Costs for people with a mental health condition in BNSSG

Page 94

3

3. Summary of the model
BNSSG’s Integrated Community Mental Health Service’s Target Operating Model has
been co-designed with a wide range of partners. It focuses on what matters most to
people, their carers’ and our staff. The following diagram summarises the Integrated
Community Mental Health Service’s approach:


Figure 2: Whole BNSSG System

Page 95

4



Figure 3: Example of the model at a locality or ICP level

Further details on the core aspects of the model of care are outlined below:
3.1




Access
Easy access to support is a core part of the model. The model suggests that people
can access help either directly through their locality OR via the ‘Open Door’ 24/7
mental health line if they are unsure of what support they need. Locality health
partners will develop a response that ensures accessible care for all (e.g.
considering the needs of people who find it hard to access support via telephone)
that will effectively meet local needs and demand.
In line with this there will be ambitious accessibility targets:
- A 24 hour response period from initial point of contact with the Mental Health
System (either via locality or the ‘Open Door’). The level of response will relate
to presenting need.
- A ‘4 week wait’ from initial point of contact to the commencement of treatment, in
line with national ambition.

Page 96

5

3.2













3.3






Locality level:
Each locality (blue within diagrams) will have an offer that is tailored to the needs of
their local population, in line with a Population Health Management Approach.
Integrated and Personalised Care Teams (IPCTs) will deliver support at a locality
level considering someone’s mental and physical health and social care needs. A
number of partners within localities will work as ‘one team’ to provide support.
Support will be delivered by a wider range of roles. For example, there will be a
growth in peer support workers and the non-clinical workforce, in line with national
expectations. Exact workforce arrangements will be designed by localities to meet
their population’s needs.
People will receive a trusted core assessment. This means that, with their consent,
relevant information will be shared across partners so that they do not have to tell
their story multiple times. Partners can then build on the initial assessment so that
there is a holistic and shared understanding of an individual’s needs.
Within localities people will have a ‘link worker’ (name TBC) who will be responsible
for their care and will support someone through their journey. Dependent on
someone’s needs the link worker could be a primary care worker, mental health
specialist, peer supporter or VCSE worker.
Carers will be treated as equal partners with access to carers’ assessments to
understand and meet their support needs.
Localities will be supported by Population Health analytics, enabling them to provide
tailored approaches to care for different groups within their population. There will be
specific focus on those at risk of poorer outcomes, whether due to an additional
need (e.g. substance misuse), or because they are at greater likelihood of
experiencing stigma and discrimination (e.g. due to their ethnicity or sexuality).
Talking Therapies would be delivered by a system wide provider (Vita Health Group
contracted until 2029). However, this would be experienced as part of someone’s
local care package with additional support to meet other needs being drawn in from
the locality. For example, if someone was experiencing depression due to
loneliness and problems with debt, they may be offered a course of talking
therapies and support to access local community assets to address their isolation
and debt. This holistic and integrated approach would help sustain any
improvement in wellbeing delivered through talking therapies.
System level:
Some care may need to be delivered at a system level (green within the diagrams),
but only if this is the best way to improve patient outcomes. For example, NHS
England has mandated that specialised pathways for eating disorders, personality
disorders and rehabilitation are developed during 2021/22 using an evidence-based
model across BNSSG. However, from a patient perspective, most care would still
be experienced locally. For example, their locality team might be supported through
clinical supervision or training to deliver early intervention support in these areas, or
specialist therapy might be delivered from a base within their local area.
Crisis care may be delivered at system level to ensure that out of hours support is
rapidly available to those who need it. Patients will experience this as part of their
local support offer.
The ‘Open Door’ 24/7 mental health line may be provided at system level, although
locality partners may propose alternative approaches.
The Target Operating Model sets out the expectation that Integrated Care
Partnerships will need to proactively develop a system-wide digital approach to
delivering the Service.
6

Page 97

4. Target Operating Model: Process for Design and Development Phase into
Implementation and Delivery Phase
There are six shadow Integrated Care Partnerships in BNSSG. These are listed below:







South Gloucestershire
North and West Bristol
Inner City and East Bristol
South Bristol
Woodspring
Weston, Worle and Villages

These Shadow Integrated Care Partnerships will be invited to respond to the Target
Operating Model with Integrated Delivery Plans. These plans will set out how the Target
Operating Model’s vision will be delivered in practice, to meet the needs of their
communities. The plans will be developed through a supportive review and development
based assurance process during the summer and early autumn of 2021.

4.1. Community Mental Health Steering Groups
System Steering Groups have been established to lead the development of specific areas
of work. These focus on the areas specified by NHS England in the Community Mental
Health Framework. The groups are as follows;
4.1.2. Infrastructure Steering Group Support


Outcomes and Digital - An Outcomes and Digital Infrastructure Steering Group
has been established to help deliver a system level response to these elements of
the TOM. Emerging work packages include: Outcomes, Analytics (which will
include Population Health Management, see below), Technical Infrastructure and
Information Governance.
As part of, and overseen by, this Steering Group, there will be a series of
Population Health Management (PHM) workshops to support Shadow ICPs and
improve understanding of the population characters and needs for each locality.
The aim of these workshops will be to co-design PHM data packs with members of
the Shadow ICP Boards and support teams to utilise this in their Community Mental
Health Framework response.

 Peer Support Workforce Steering Group – This group is developing a Peer
Support Framework to help localities understand and embed best practice. It is
planned for a draft to be circulated with localities over July and early August for their
input.
4.1.3.


Models of Community Mental Health Care Steering Groups

Eating Disorders, Mental Health Rehabilitation, Personality Disorder and
Complex Trauma – These groups are developing whole-system pathways. They
will seek support from Shadow ICP partners to develop and deliver these pathways,
draft models to be agreed by September/ October.

Page 98

7




Transitions (Young People and Older Adults) (in development) - partners looking
to agree scope and map existing support to help inform future best practice.
Improving the Physical Health of People with Severe and Enduring Mental
Illness – Focusing on addressing physical health needs of people with severe and
enduring mental illness (including through health checks).

4.2. Resources and support for design and development phase
To support each Shadow ICP, a range of opportunities have been developed to help
understand and connect key elements into the design process for Shadow ICPs:









Population Health Management workshops: (See section 4.1 for further detail).
Understanding the estates profile across the Shadow ICP
Learning Partnerships: We have established links with a number of accountable care
systems with international reputations for being at the forefront of integrated design
delivery and development, to offer support and guidance.
Leadership and Organisational Development: Some funding has been made
available for Shadow ICPs to develop and progress their own choice of ICP OD
priorities.
Supporting the ICP Model of Care design process: Shadow ICPs have already
embarked on the design of future integrated services and have in all six areas
established community mental health sub groups. To support and enable the design
process, each Shadow ICP will have access to an 18 week programme of learning and
development with the Design Council.
Support from Mental Health Groups, including Clinical Reference Group.
Digital and Data expertise: System wide digital group of technical experts who will be
able to advise Shadow ICPs on what existing digital infrastructure is available and its
functionality.

Healthier Together and Locality Partnerships will jointly agree plans to deliver the Target
Operating Model and assure that each Shadow ICP has a robust and credible plan for
delivery of services from April 2022, including any phased delivery and development.
From autumn 2021 to the end of March 2022, the Service will begin to be implemented
before it commences on the 1st April 2022.
5. Contracting Approach for Existing Contracts
As part of the delivery of the Target Operating Model, a decision is required on existing
mental health contracts. These mental health contracts currently expire in March 2022,
having been granted up to 1 year extensions by BNSSG in January 2021. The contracts
vary in footprint with some matching local authority boundaries and some commissioned to
a BNSSG footprint. The contracts include contracts from historic grant arrangements, as
well as commissioned contracts, such as those resulting from the Bristol Mental Health
procurement.
As part of the development and mobilisation of the Target Operating Model, the CCG will
work in co-production with Shadow ICPs between June and August 2021 to develop a set
of recommendations on the contracts due to expire in March 2022. In autumn 2021, the

Page 99

8

CCG will seek to inform the existing providers of these contracts of the next steps in
compliance with the 6 month notice period in contracts.

6. Contact Details
For queries relating to individual Shadow ICPs’ development, please contact the following:




Bristol Shadow ICPs (Inner City and East, North West and South Bristol)
- bnssg.bristolareateam@nhs.net
North Somerset Shadow ICPs (Weston and Woodspring)
- bnssg.ns-area-team@nhs.net
South Gloucestershire Shadow ICP
- bnssg.sgloslocalitycalendar@nhs.net

For overarching Community Mental Health Programme queries –
bnssg.mh.community@nhs.net

Page 100

9

7. Timeline of activity
Month
June 2021

July 2021

Page 101

August 2021
September 2021
October 2021
November 2021
December 2021 – March
2022
April 2022

activities
 Community mental health working groups continue to provide expertise
 Target Operating Model shared with Shadow ICPs and wider system
 Support sessions for Shadow ICPs to begin developing response to Target Operating
Model
 Population Health Management workshops for Shadow ICPs begins
 Work to consider existing mental health contracts begins
 Population Health Management workshops conclude
 Design Council programme to support Shadow ICP service design and innovation begins
 Conclusion of work to consider existing mental health contracts
 Draft delivery plans from Shadow ICPs due
 Further work by Shadow ICPs to iterate draft delivery plans
 Final delivery plans from shadow ICPs due
 Mobilisation commences
 Mobilisation ongoing


Services commence

* Please note some Shadow ICPs may wish to take early adoption approach and therefore work to accelerated timeframe

10

Agenda Item 9

Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board
Title of Report:
Author (including organisation):
Date of Board meeting:
Purpose:

All-age Carers Strategy
Sonia Davies, Bristol City Council
28th July 2021
Decision

1. Executive Summary
This paper presents the 4 strategic principles of a new All-age Carers Strategy for Bristol.
These principles have been developed by carers in Bristol and was endorsed by the “Bristol
Carers Voice” partnership board in June 2021.

2. Purpose of the Paper
This paper is to request endorsement by the Health & Wellbeing Board of the 4 principles of
a new All-Age Carers Strategy for Bristol. It should be noted that a fully designed
publishable version of a strategy has not yet been completed, however this will follow
endorsement by the Board.
Specifically the Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:
 Endorse the 4 strategic priorities of an all-age carers strategy for Bristol
 Agree to schedule a carers discussion for a future joint HWBB and Children &
Families Board
 Suggest names of people willing to be involved in co-producing the Action Plan for
adults to deliver against the strategic priorities.

3. Background and evidence base
Bristol’s Carers Strategy ran out in April 2020. Prior to that, work was undertaken to codesign a new strategy with carers in the city, so that we could really reflect the key priorities
for Bristol going forward. Some consultation and engagements were held, including an
online consultation which closed in January 2020.
At that point, the COVID-19 pandemic struck, and we were unable to continue with the work
at that time – partly due to officer time to undertake the work needed, but predominantly due
to carers’ own ability to give time to a process during a significant period of challenge for
them personally. However, since then, work has been done with carer reps as far as they
were able to throughout 2020 and during the first half of 2021.
This has led to the development of 4 key priorities for Carers of all ages (young carers,
parent carers, and adult carers) which have been developed by carers in Bristol.
On 22nd June 2021, the “Bristol Carers Voice” partnership board formally agreed to adopt the
principles attached here. This is the document presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board
today.
It should be noted that because of the restrictions placed on carers through the pandemic,
this document is the first step in a series of separated pieces of work to deliver a
comprehensive carers strategy for Bristol. Subsequent steps will be to develop a multiagency action plan to really set out how we will work together to deliver against these

Page 102

principles. This plan will be co-produced with carers as well as other stakeholders, and
volunteers to be involved are welcomed.
In addition, Bristol City Council, in partnership with Bristol, North Somerset & South
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group, will recommission the carers support
services currently in place in Bristol, using these principles to shape the services needed.
There are significant challenges facing carers as a direct result of the pandemic. A range of
activities are being undertaken to address the issues that have been raised throughout the
pandemic. For example, there are an estimated 48,000 carers in Bristol, however around
17,000 of those are known to services in the city (Adult Social Care, commissioned support
services, and health services). This leaves a high number of ‘hidden carers’ in the city who
currently have no support to their caring role.
Further work is underway to address some of these immediate challenges, and it is
requested that the Board support a wider discussion of these, and proposed solutions, at a
future joint meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board, and Children & Families Board.

4. Community/stakeholder engagement
The principles presented here have been written by carers in Bristol – the role of Bristol City
Council, in conjunction with BNSSG CCG, has been to coordinate the work, and produce the
final version presented here. This includes work with young carers, as well as parent carers
of disabled children and adult carers.

5. Recommendations
The Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to endorse the principles presented here as the
All-age Carers Strategy for Bristol.
In addition, the Board is asked to agree to schedule a wider discussion on carers at a future
joint Health & Wellbeing Board and Children & Families Board.
Members of the Board are also asked to consider whether they have representatives in their
organisations who would be well placed to take forward the development of an Action Plan
for Bristol, to deliver against these priorities.

6. City Benefits
Carers provide a significant level of unpaid care to vulnerable children and adults in the city.
Carers ensure that people are supported in their own environments and also save the City a
significant cost in terms of health and social care. It is critical that the value of carers is
recognised and seen. However it should be noted that carers often work without support
themselves, which puts them under an incredible level of pressure.

7. Financial and Legal Implications
Not applicable

8. Appendices


Bristol All-Age Carers Strategic Priorities, 2021-2025

Page 103

Bristol All age Carers’ Strategic Priorities (2021-2025)

Priority 1
Early identification, recognition, respecting and valuing of children, young people
and adults who are in caring roles.
Priority 2:
Proactive assessment or understanding of the needs of children, young people and
adults who are in caring roles. Their own needs for a life outside caring are fully
understood, which includes cultural needs, education, employment, health, social
and care needs.
Priority 3:
All carers in Bristol can access the most appropriate information, advice and support
at the time they need it, for themselves and the person they care for.
Priority 4:
All children, young people and adults who are in caring roles have opportunities to
influence policy making, service planning and current services, through a strong
independent voice.

(Definitions of carers are at the end of this document, page 4)

Page 104

1

Adult Carers’ ‘I statements’ that will inform the
Adult Carers’ action plan
Priority 1:
 I am recognised and understood as a carer (whatever my age).
 I am respected as an equal partner in care for the person I care for and I am
actively asked for my expert opinions, which are valued and form the basis of
plans and processes.
 I am confident that the organisations I am in contact with understand the issues I
am facing as a carer and support me as needed. These organisations include:
o Health services (including doctors’ surgeries, hospitals and nurse
appointments).
o Education services / schools
o Social Care
o Employment
o Housing
o Statutory & voluntary agencies
 I am identified and recognised within the health and social care system (e.g.
GPs), and signposted to information or services where relevant.

Priority 2:
 I have the right to appropriate support. I will be able to access this easily when
I need it. Statutory agencies will reach out to me. This may include an
assessment if I am an adult carer.
 I am involved in decisions relating to the person I care for. Organisations
actively ask me for my view / opinion.
 I am respected and can have a say on how the person I care for is supported;
and this is written into plans and processes.
 The increased level of pressure on me during the Covid-19 pandemic is
recognised by services.
 I am supported to plan for regular breaks from caring; and to plan for
emergency situations. I can access this support when I need it.

Page 105

2

 I am supported in times of change. This includes young people’s transition
into adulthood; parent carers; increased need for care in the cared for
person’s own home; the cared-for person moving to residential / nursing care;
end of life care; bereavement.
 I have choice in relation to my caring role. No assumptions made that I will be
able to continue my caring role in the future.
 All Health and Care Professionals will treat me as an equal partner in
understanding the needs of the person I care for. I will be actively asked and
involved in all care planning and my knowledge is valued and forms the basis
of care planning.
 Mental health professionals will treat me (including if I am a young adult carer)
as an equal partner in understanding the needs of the cared-for person and
will involve me in care planning.

Priority 3:
 I have the right to appropriate support. I will be able to access this easily when
I need it. Statutory agencies will reach out to me. This may include a culturally
appropriate assessment if I am an adult carer.
 I am supported to manage my own health and wellbeing (physical and mental
wellbeing). This enables me to achieve a sustainable balance between my
caring responsibilities and my life outside caring.
 Information, advice and guidance covering all aspects of caring (including
financial advice) are available to me.
 I am able to access the support and information I require in a way that is
appropriate to my specific needs; with regard for my race, age, gender,
disability, religious belief (and all Protected Characteristics*).
 Short breaks and other services (e.g. leisure activities) will be made available
to me to ensure I can access breaks from my caring role.
* The Protected Characteristics as defined in the Equalities Act are: age, gender;
race; disability; religious belief; sexuality; pregnancy and maternity; gender
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership.

Priority 4:
 I have opportunities to voice my opinions, views and needs on services and
policies which affect me.
 I have choice in relation to my caring role. No assumptions made that I will be
able to continue my caring role in the future.

Page 106

3

Definitions
Carer
A carer is anyone, including children and adults who looks after a family member,
partner or friend who needs help because of their illness, frailty, disability, a mental
health problem or an addiction and cannot cope without their support.
Bristol Black Carers definition for a carer (from the carers):
A carer is a person who takes on the role of assisting another person in carrying out
activities, providing support both emotionally and physically because this person has
a medical, physical or mental condition.
Young Carer
The Children and Families Act (2014) and the Care Act (2014) are the two main
pieces of legislation which provide us with a definition of a young carer:
A young carer is a person under 18 who provides or intends to provide care for
another person (unless under a contract or as voluntary work).
A young carer may care for a family member or friend with an illness or disability,
mental health condition or an addiction.
Young Adult Carer
The Care Act directs Local Authorities to ensure they consider the support needs of
young carers as they approach 18 and to assess if it is likely that caring needs will
remain after the child becomes an adult.
For the purposes of this strategy, the definition for young carers who are reaching
important transition stages in their life and requiring a transition needs assessment,
are called ‘young adult carers’ who will typically be aged between 14 and 25.
We recognise that we all grow and develop at different rates. Every family will have
their own circumstances and professionals working with families will assess and
identify if the young carer is at a stage in their life where a young carers transition
assessment is required.
Parent Carer
A person aged 18 or over who provides or intends to provide care for a disabled
child for whom the person has parental responsibility.

All of these carers are meant when the term ‘carer’ is used.

Page 107

4

Agenda Item 10

Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board
Title of Report:

Author (including organisation):
Date of Board meeting:
Purpose:

Building Rights - Independent Review of
Services for Autistic People and people with
Learning Difficulties
Hugh Evans, Executive Director, People
28th July 2021
Decision / oversight and assurance /
information and discussion (delete as
appropriate)

1. Executive Summary
1.1

Commissioned by Bristol City Council, in consultation with the Keeping Bristol Safe
Partnership, and produced by Sir Stephen Bubb, who led the NHS England review into
the Winterbourne View scandal (published 2014), this independent review (Building

Rights: a review of Bristol’s policies and actions for people with learning disabilities
and autistic people) makes three key recommendations to help services and systems
become more aware and have a better understanding of the challenges faced by
autistic people and people with learning disabilities. These are set out below.
1.2

Sir Stephen recommended the following, in direct response to the experiences of the
three families featured in his review:

Establish a Charter of Rights

Establish a simple and effective ‘right to challenge’, for people who feel
marginalised by, and powerless within the system

Establish an independent commissioner for autistic people and people with
learning disabilities.

1.3

Bristol City Council welcomes the findings of the Building Rights report, and fully
accepts the recommendations.

2. Purpose of the Paper
This report aims to inform the Health and Wellbeing Board about Sir Stephen Bubb’s
independent review and seeks the board’s support for the actions and the approach we
need to take as a city to honour its recommendations.
The council is developing a plan to implement the recommendations in Sir Stephen’s
report. This will be a joint effort between Bristol City Council, NHS and other statutory,
independent and voluntary / community sector partners, to be delivered through the
Healthier Together Mental Health, Learning Disabilities and Autism transformation
programme.

3. Background and evidence base
3.1

One of the reasons this report was commissioned in 2019 was because it was
necessary to establish how aware local agencies across Bristol are about the

Page 108

experiences of autistic people and people with learning disabilities, and to understand
how we can progress our ambition to create a city that is welcoming for all. The
recommendations in this report will help us to work towards this aim.
3.2

3.3

Some progress has been made since the report was commissioned.
o

A new multi-agency children’s Autism Diagnosis Hub has been implemented.

o

The We Work for Everyone campaign has commenced, which specifically
targets autistic people and people with a learning disability to support them to find
and maintain paid employment.

o

Following a recent selection process, Bristol is to be an MHCLG-funded
Changing Futures pilot area. This will provide a start to the much-needed work
to address the needs of some of the most complex individuals inside and outside
the system.

We want to robustly challenge the iniquitous social experiences that people with
learning disabilities and autistic people have.
 People with learning disabilities die on average 20 years younger than the general
population and only 37% of people with a learning disability live beyond the age of
65.
 There is markedly increased premature mortality in autistic people owing to a
multitude of medical conditions.
 Individuals with high-functioning autism are at higher risk of suicide.
 74% of autistic adults report that they experience difficulties in accessing health
care, and 88% felt that health professionals failed to understand their health needs.
 70% of autistic people have a mental health condition (NICE): 40% have two or
more.
 In 2015, autistic people made up 38% of the number in mental health hospitals, now
it is 57%. (1,165 autistic people). The average length of stay is 5.6 years and
the average distance from home is over sixty miles.
 72% of people of working age with mild learning disabilities are not in employment.
 Only 22% of autistic adults are in any kind of employment. (ONS, Feb 2021)
 Many people in the prison population have a learning disability.
 It is estimated that autistic people are up to seven times more likely than the
general population to be involved in the criminal justice system, as a victim, a
witness, or a defendant.
 (UK Parliament, January 2020)
 Disabled women were over five times more likely to have experienced sexual
assault in the last year.
 The lowest proportion of home ownership is among those with learning disabilities,
and people with learning disabilities and their families are more likely to live in
poverty.
 29.5% of people who are homeless have probable learning disabilities.
 Nearly two-thirds of children with autism between the ages of 6 and 15 have been
bullied.

3.4

The adverse experiences of people with learning difficulties and autism cover the
gamut of social experience: people consigned from childhood to ‘assessment and
treatment’ institutions; people who are sometimes able to function with minimal support
but who can slip into situations where they are exploited and abused; people who are
overlooked and never get a chance to vote, go to work, socialise, or benefit from all of

Page 109

the basics of citizenship that most of us take for granted. A disproportionate number
become subject to the criminal justice system both as victims and perpetrators. Stark
health inequalities are apparent.
3.5

This is about equity, human rights, social justice and citizenship. People with learning
disabilities and autistic people experience some of the starkest social disadvantage of
all citizens. Our social structures are simply not geared up to cater for people with
diverse needs.

3.6

Sir Stephen Bubb states that despite our best efforts as individual organisations, the
approaches we employ to support people with learning disabilities and autistic people
are disjointed and offer incomplete solutions. At best, we manage crisis situations and
perceived problems, but we often do this through services that control people, rather
than through approaches that enable and empower.

3.7

The council is working up a framework to implement the recommendations in Sir
Stephen’s report. This will be joint effort between Bristol City Council, NHS and other
statutory, independent and voluntary / community sector partners, to be delivered
through the Healthier Together Mental Health, Learning Disabilities and Autism
transformation programme. Work will include the following.
 An audit of the situation as is, and the creation of a strong and long-term lived
experience approach, through which we will actively develop working relationships
with people with learning disabilities, autistic people, their families and support
organisations in order to co-produce plans
 The development of a systemic approach to complex needs through Changing
Futures (funding permitting)
 A dialogue with progressive and ambitious service providers to develop a
procurement specification to encourage the ‘best in class’ services to come and
build capacity in Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire
 A dialogue with the fledgeling Integrated Care Partnerships to encourage the
development of supportive community-based approaches to enable people to
partake meaningfully in their local communities
 Continued work with housing, employment support, and neighbourhood
development programmes to ensure that there are better opportunities for people to
partake in the activities of everyday life.

4.

Community/stakeholder engagement

4.1

Consultation is taking place with the Bristol, North Somerset and South
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group

5.

Recommendations

5.1

That the Health and Wellbeing Board support the actions and the approach we need to
take as a city to honour the recommendations in Building Rights: a review of Bristol’s
policies and actions for people with learning disabilities and autistic people, the
recently published independent review of services to help Bristol become a more
welcoming and inclusive place for autistic people and people with learning disabilities.
Building Rights was written by Sir Stephen Bubb, who led the NHS England review
into the Winterbourne View scandal, published in 2014.

5.2

The council is developing a plan to implement the recommendations in Sir Stephen’s
report. This will be joint effort between Bristol City Council, NHS and other statutory,

Page 110

independent and voluntary / community sector partners, to be delivered through the
Healthier Together Mental Health, Learning Disabilities and Autism transformation
programme.

6.

City Benefits

6.1

This approach aligns with Bristol City Council’s One City Plan and its aim to make
Bristol a fair and sustainable city. Particularly in relation to the Health and Wellbeing
theme to ensure everyone in Bristol will have the opportunity to live a life in which they
are mentally and physically healthy and addressing health inequalities.

6.2

This work also aligns with Bristol City Council’s Equalities and Inclusion Policy (20182023) in terms of valuing diversity, tackling harassment, in particular the objectives:



6.3

E03. To provide inclusive services which actively address inequality and exclusion
and enable all of Bristol’s citizens to realise their potential and live safely.
E04. To achieve a measurable increase in the extent to which communities facing
inequality can share in and contribute to the city’s success.

Public sector equality duties are entirely relevant to these proposals as we are seeking
to eliminate discrimination and harassment and address the inequalities and
disadvantage faced by people with learning disabilities and autistic people. Many
people who have learning disabilities and autistic people also face multiple
disadvantages and may have other protected characteristics (e.g. related to race, age,
sexual orientation) and this is also being considered. Equalities Impact assessments
will need to be undertaken for all agreed proposals and people with lived experience
involved in co-producing any changes or plans.

7. Financial and Legal Implications
This report provides an overview of Sir Stephen Bubb’s review. Activity that develops as a
product of the review will require financial and legal involvement, and this will be detailed in
subsequent reports.

8. Appendices



Building Rights - powerpoint slides
Building Rights – Report of Sir Stephen Bubb

Page 111

Building Rights
A report to the Keeping
Bristol Safe Partnership
Board.
Review of Bristol’s policies and actions
for people with learning disabilities and
autism

Sir Stephen Bubb May
2021.
Page 112

Building Rights
Contents
Acknowledgments from the Author .................................................................................................... 1
Background .......................................................................................................................................... 2
Overview .............................................................................................................................................. 2
Accounts from families ........................................................................................................................ 3
John .................................................................................................................................................. 4
AB .................................................................................................................................................... 8
SF ................................................................................................................................................... 10
Recommendation 1: A Charter of Rights ...................................................................................... 13
Recommendation 2: A Right to Challenge .................................................................................... 14
Further recommendations .................................................................................................................. 16
The Criminal Justice System ......................................................................................................... 16
Community Provision .................................................................................................................... 17
An Autism Friendly City?.............................................................................................................. 19
The Third Sector ............................................................................................................................ 20
British Transport Police (BTP) ...................................................................................................... 21

Acknowledgments from the Author
In presenting this report to the Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership, I would like to thank the
individuals and organisations that I have spoken to over the course of the last year whilst
collecting information for it. I have welcomed their views, and I hope some of their insights
have made it into this report, though the report is mine. I was asked to undertake this
review as an independent person with experience in this area in policy and governance
terms, though I am not a professional social or care worker. I particularly want to
acknowledge the help and support provided by staff at Bristol City Council, especially Noa
Hagan.
I have witnessed a willingness from Bristol City Council and partners to acknowledge
failings (and that there have been was clear to me) and to do better in the future. I believe
Bristol City Council and the agencies represented on the Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership
Board have the ability to make the changes that would establish the city as a leader in the
provision and support for people with learning disabilities and autism, but there remains a
long way to go.
I hope the recommendations in this report will be followed, and that improvements are
made to the way Bristol City Council and the Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership agencies
support some of Bristol’s most vulnerable citizens.

Page 113

1

Background
In September 2019, I was asked by the Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership (formerly the
Bristol Safeguarding Adults Board) to investigate three cases of individuals with autism
and/or learning disabilities. I regret that there has been a considerable delay in producing
the final report and this has led to great frustration by the 3 families concerned which I
understand and regret.
The origin of this review lies with a request for a Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR) on
behalf of AB and his parents (identified further below), submitted by the Associate Director
for Statutory Delivery for Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust (AWP).
This request for a SAR was rejected by the Bristol Safeguarding Adults Board (BSAB) on
the grounds that it did not meet the statutory requirements for multi-agency working,
though this was subsequently challenged. However, following a formal complaint
submitted by the parents of AB, Bristol City Council and BSAB subsequently agreed to
examine the circumstances surrounding AB and two other cases where there had been
failings in support and provision. It was discerned that there would be opportunities to
learn wider lessons regarding the treatment of individuals with autism and learning
disabilities in Bristol, particularly as Bristol claimed to be an ‘autism friendly city’.
Whilst this review has been hampered by the exigencies of the COVID-19 pandemic, I
have been able to meet and speak to a wide range of individuals and organisations. I
recognise that I have not been able to speak to as many organisations and individuals in
the third sector or those that work directly with people with learning disabilities and autism,
but I believe my recommendations will win support from that broader constituency.
In agreeing to conduct this independent review I was keen to stress I would be looking for
recommendations for improvement for the future, rather than investigating errors or past
practices.

Overview
As noted above, the starting point of this review was the request for a SAR for one young
man with autism (‘AB’). At the request of the Partnership, two other cases (‘John’ and ‘SF’)
were also considered as part of the Review.
In all three cases I discovered a history of inappropriate placements, ineffective multi
agency support and lack of understanding of the problems faced by the families. In some
cases, the individuals report that this has resulted in emotional and psychiatric harm to the
people concerned. It is abundantly clear that the claim that Bristol was an 'autism friendly
city’ can be challenged by this evidence. Indeed, Bristol City Council’s 2015 Autism
Strategy is accepted to be out of date and is now under active review.
In my meetings I was heartened by the acceptance from the key statutory agencies that in
the three cases I looked at, there were failings, and that change was needed. I was
particularly struck by the fact that three key individuals, the Chief Executives of the Mental
Health Trust and the Clinical Commissioning Group, together with the Director of Social
Services are relatively new to their posts and yet are keen to drive change.

Page 114

2

I observed from a meeting with the Governor of Bristol Prison and the Chief Constable of
Avon and Somerset Police that they understood that change was needed and had taken
steps to improve the way they interact with people with autism and learning disabilities.
These leaders accepted that much remains to be done to improve further.
Regrettably, my interactions with the British Transport Police and the Independent Office of
Police Complaints (IOPC) have been less than satisfactory. Indeed, both the heads of
these organisations felt unable to meet with me.
The families of the three individuals concerned say that they have been emotionally
scarred by their experience with the many agencies involved in the care of their loved
ones. I was struck by their resilience and determination to do right for their sons. It was
interesting to note that as result of discovering that their experience was not unique the
parents of AB set up the campaign group ‘Autism Injustice’. (More information can be
found on the Autism Injustice website)
One of the lessons I have drawn from this review, (and indeed I have found this borne out
in other cases in the country that have been drawn to my attention), is that agencies often
failed to provide effective support and advice for families. As a result, these families found
it extraordinarily difficult to challenge decisions being made about their loved ones. For
some of our most vulnerable citizens, it is their families who bear the major burden in
advocating for their loved ones and securing effective care and support. This is
unacceptable, and my recommendations will address the heart of this problem.
Re-balancing the level of influence between families and service providers is crucial to
securing more effective care. Families need more support, but this must be underpinned
by strengthening their rights to speak out, to be listened to and to challenge. In these three
cases, the families have been strong advocates, though often at great expense to their
own health and wellbeing. How much more difficult must it be for people with learning
disabilities and/or autism who do not have that effective family support?
Bristol’s agencies act within the context of a national system of care and support for people
with learning disabilities and autism that is wholly inadequate. I reflect on how little has
changed since I wrote my report on the Winterbourne View scandal in 2016. Therefore,
although this report is directed to Bristol and its agencies, I also make further
recommendations for national policy and practice.
My report and recommendations draw on the meetings and discussions I have had with
organisations, as well as the accounts from the families, which are presented in the
following section.!

Accounts from families
In the following accounts the names of the individuals have been changed to protect their
privacy. What follows below are the accounts of the families as told to me. I was not asked
to undertake a full scale investigation of the very long and protracted history of care (or
often lack of it) , though I spoke extensively to the families and I met with the agencies
involved. I was tasked with a report that drew conclusions for the future from the
experiences of the past. I believe it is important that the voices, views and opinions of
families are heard. That is why I reproduce their accounts. Those involved in the care and

Page 115

3

support of people with autism, and the wider community, need to hear these voices in
order to help them understand the impact that their interventions can have, for good or for
otherwise.
The voices of families are often so little heard. I want these stories to be told so that in
working to make lives better for our most vulnerable people, we can put individuals and
families centerstage.

John
John’s case is unique and complex. John’s mother Sue was born in the UK but was forced
to move to the Yemen at an early age. She lived in the Yemen for 17 years and endured
two forced marriages, as well as several traumatic life changing events throughout her
time in that country. John was born in the Yemen, along with his two brothers and two
sisters.
At age 18 months and while living in the Yemen, John suffered a serious brain injury. This
was not diagnosed correctly, and the treatment provided was insufficient for the severity of
what occurred. This incident and the lack of correct management are pivotal in John’s
development and have been hugely significant in his engagement with various services in
the UK. The family fled Yemen in 1992 under extremely difficult circumstances and began
the process of re-building their lives in the UK.
At a very early stage, John was recognised as not developing as expected and although it
was acknowledged he had a learning disability, his needs went unmet. John demonstrated
challenging behaviour and early professional assessments suggested that he was
experiencing mental health problems. At this stage John did not receive enough support
for his complex mental health problems, learning disabilities or brain injury, resulting in
detrimental consequences including John entering the criminal justice system.
As John entered teenage years his hidden impairments had an increasingly negative
impact on his engagement with various authorities, particularly the Police. His behaviour
drew him to the attention of the Police, but he did not have the skills to deal with the
conflict this inevitably brought about. His vulnerability made him an obvious target for
manipulative people within the community and this took him into the world of drug and
alcohol use and petty crime.
In 2001 (aged 13), John suffered a second brain injury following a car crash whilst joy
riding. John was transferred to a young offenders’ institute funded by the Local Authority
rather than to a brain injury rehabilitation unit for follow up care. Subsequently John would
attend further young offenders’ institutes up and down the country. This had terrible longterm consequences for John because these young offender units were not equipped to
care for people with traumatic brain injury. John did not receive adequate care following
his brain injury or following the physical injuries he also received from the car accident. In
2011 John (now an adult), was sectioned under the Mental Health Act for a period of three
months.
Over the period December 2011 to February 2012 John was detained in Callington Road
Hospital, Bristol, which provides in-patient care and treatment to adults with a mental

Page 116

4

illness. This was another extremely difficult time for John’s family as this was the first time
John had ever been sectioned. They felt that the care provided was inappropriate as it
failed to recognise the impact of John’s brain damage nor his learning disabilities. John’s
family had specific concerns about the alleged practice of ‘over-drugging’ BAME patients
and those with a brain injury or learning disability. John’s inpatient experience had an even
greater detrimental impact on his overall long-term mental health. John’s family reported
their concerns to the management at the unit; however no meaningful dialogue took place
and no action was ever taken, despite official reviews indicating wrongdoing, and John
continued to be drugged whilst at the hospital.
In May 2012, John was targeted by a group of local youths in the St Paul’s area of Bristol.
The youths shaved a swastika into the back of John’s head and encouraged him to commit
robbery. John was subsequently arrested. Not for the first time, John was apprehended by
the police and interviewed without an ‘Appropriate Adult’ present, nor even a solicitor: a
direct breach of the Police & Criminal Evidence Act (PACE).
John’s family provided the Police with ample documents and reports proving that John was
an extremely vulnerable man who did not have the capability to stand trial. Despite this,
the Avon & Wiltshire Partnership (AWP), without a face-to-face assessment with John,
produced a Computerised Assessment and Referral System (CARS) screening report that
stated there were no mental health issues that needed consideration at John’s trial. The
report failed to identify any aspect of John’s mental health or physical disability, and as a
result John was deemed fit to serve a prison sentence instead of a hospital order.
Whilst in prison, there were no accurate reports produced of John’s needs. Whilst serving
his sentence, John was abused by prisoners and staff resulting in him receiving multiple
injuries and attempting suicide. John was transferred to several different prisons around
the country. John’s experience in prison highlights concern for the way inmates with
autism, learning difficulties, brain injuries and/or mental health issues are treated in
prisons within Bristol and throughout England.
The human rights organisation Liberty took on John’s case against the Ministry of Justice
challenging the inhumane treatment of people with disabilities in prisons.
Upon his release from prison, John’s family experienced major difficulty in organising a
suitable care plan to prevent relapse. Principal responsibility for identifying alternative care
plans and treatment methods was placed on John’s mother Sue as his primary care giver,
with little support provided by AWP nor other services. This highlights the lack of
appropriate services in Bristol for individuals like John who are highly vulnerable
and have complex care needs.
John’s condition deteriorated quickly, and he returned to Callington Road hospital. The
same issues of inappropriate treatment and the over-use of drugs were repeated. Sue felt
that she was intentionally isolated from her son’s care, and that staff resented her
involvement. However, Sue continued to advocate for her son, and consequently the
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) agreed to fund a specialist hospital placement. John
was placed in Chalkdown House hospital in Swindon: a hospital that specialises in treating
people with both mental health and brain injury conditions. However, this placement failed

Page 117

5

quickly, and the family were left confused. No report was produced to clarify what care
John received whilst in the hospital, nor the cause of the placement breakdown.
Several incidents occurred after this, including in 2015 when John’s care in the community
broke down yet again and he was arrested after accidentally setting fire to the curtains in
his bedroom. This time a specialist hospital placement was not found for John and once
again he was sent into prison for three months, awaiting assessment and treatment. This
happened despite John’s doctors and care team acknowledging that prison was not
appropriate for John and that he needed to be in hospital instead. Once again, the prison
authorities failed to obtain John’s previous medical history or share critical information
between themselves to properly identify or treat his health care. John was not properly
safeguarded by the prison authorities, including from acts of self-harm.
John was eventually transferred to St Andrews: a private 110 bedded medium secure
assessment and treatment unit in Northampton, funded by NHS England. Here also John
experienced abusive and neglectful treatment by staff and patients, with no one stepping
up to take responsibility when Sue reported the abuse to various authorities. There was a
change in staff and job moves which distracted and hindered the investigation into the
abuse. John was denied his basic human rights, such as exercise or walks in the grounds.
John became obese and developed diabetes and high cholesterol. John was eventually
transferred to a private, locked secure hospital in the Priory Group.
The placement at the Priory Group hospital was funded by Bristol CCG and accepted by
John and his family as they were told that it was a specialist learning disability hospital.
Sue was dismayed to find out that the Priory hospital was neither an LD hospital, nor able
to meet John’s needs. Instead, like many other organisations unable to care for patients
with dual diagnosis, the hospital punished patients who could not follow hospital ‘rules’.
Sue told the hospital she was concerned that they were failing to properly safeguard John
and she intended to submit an urgent safeguarding referral. Upon hearing this, the hospital
gave John 28 days’ notice to leave. Sue registered a formal complaint with the Priory.
They acknowledged her complaint but then suddenly closed the hospital. She has heard
nothing back from them to date.
John’s discharge in July 2019 was disorganised and chaotic. He had no discharge
coordinator and his discharge was unsafe. Up until this sudden discharge, John had spent
four years in hospital under section. John’s physical and mental health had deteriorated,
and he needed more care and support than before he went into hospital in 2015. John’s
mother Sue questions the way NHS England and CCGs fund hospital placements in
private hospitals but then fail to oversee the care and treatment of their patients once they
are placed. She questions NHS England, CCG, Care Quality Commission (CQC) and
other authorities’ ability to challenge private hospitals when it has been proven they are
abusing and neglecting patients. Sue also questions why private hospitals lead the
investigation themselves when a complaint is submitted against them.
John did not receive the treatment or rehabilitation he needed in hospital and consequently
his return to the community was problematic .On discharge John’s community placement
broke down within weeks, and although John is entitled to a full package of support from
Bristol City Council (BCC) under section 117 of the Mental Health Act 1983 and the Care
Act 2014, he was left homeless.

Page 118

6

At his Multidisciplinary Team (MDT) discharge meeting from hospital, John and Sue had
been told John should present to Jamaica Street as homeless if his placement broke
down. This had been the only contingency plan put in place by his care team, contrary to
AWPs promises to always have a contingency plan for anyone who is deemed a ‘complex
case’. This raises concerns for how Bristol cares for their most vulnerable, and Sue
questions “how BCC expects someone with John’s cognitive disabilities to survive in
Jamaica Street is beyond my understanding.”
John was classed as ‘homeless’ for months while BCC sought accommodation. Sue
believes the housing sector in Bristol is also not set up to help those returning to the
community from secure hospitals. Sue was unwilling to allow her son to become homeless
as he had been beaten and taken advantage of in the past. Sue took John home to sleep
on her couch. She feels that BCC takes advantage of the fact that she steps in and looks
after John, even when it’s detrimental to her own health and the health of the rest of her
children. BCC know Sue has health issues but continue to ignore her and her family’s
needs.
John was eventually given emergency accommodation but was shocked to find it was a
single tiny room in an old Victorian house that had been turned into multiple flats.
Unbeknown to the family, this property had come to the attention of the Bristol Post before
it was offered to John. It was in appalling condition, and exposed John to more danger.
However, John had no other choice but to except the accommodation. Whilst in this
accommodation, John was exploited by other residents and drug dealers for their own
gain. He also experienced ‘cuckooing’ and was often in A&E after receiving injuries from
being attacked. Sue tried to complain to BCC who funded the property but felt that nobody
was listening, so she contacted the lead for housing to complain about the condition of the
whole property.
John’s accommodation is far away from his family home which makes it more difficult for
Sue to keep an eye on him. Even though he’s mobile and active, he self neglects and
needs daily help and prompting to do basic tasks like taking his medication, washing,
changing his clothes, cleaning his room, and eating. The distance of his accommodation
from the family home is problematic because his mother is his full-time carer when John is
not engaging well with his care team. Sue feels that she must step in as she is constantly
being told by social services that they are ‘under financial pressure’ and there is very little
more they can do to help. Sue believes that Bristol City Council’s Social Services
department has not acted appropriately in response to several safeguarding referrals
submitted by professionals who have registered concerns about John’s welfare.
John is unable to successfully navigate the complexities of living in the community, which
inevitably bring him into frequent contact with the police. This contact never turns out well
for him and he often ends up injured. John has a great sense of humour and is often telling
jokes. Unfortunately, his jokes are not always ‘appropriate’ for the situation he’s in and the
police have no patience with him.
After his placement in the emergency accommodation, John eventually moved into
supported accommodation. John had some good support workers around him for a few
months that were patient, understanding and knowledgeable in how to meet his needs.

Page 119

7

Social services told John and Sue this placement could assess John and any advice from
the staff around extra support needed for John would be given. However, when the
placement put in their request it was denied. John was eventually evicted and once again
there was no contingency in place, so he was told to present as homeless.
John was back home with Sue since the beginning of October 2020. Not only is he without
his own home, but he has no daily support. Sue is now John’s only support, needing to
take him to all his appointments as well as looking after all his care and health needs.
Sue’s request for John to have a capacity assessment has been ignored since last year,
along with her request for a personal budget for John so she can source her own support
package for him. However, John is currently on remand to prison awaiting an assessment
to determine his sentence.
John’s family say that for many years they have attempted to work alongside various
services to share their views and experiences of mistakes where John has come to harm.
The family say that on more than one occasion they have accepted an apology and a
promise from these organisations that lessons would be learned, and that services,
policies and guidelines would be reshaped for the future. Sue is now concerned that the
phrase ‘lessons will be learned’ is repeated too many times and has no meaning. She
acknowledges that budgets are tight and also understands that we are all human and
mistakes can be made but asserts that for John too many mistakes and ‘near misses’ have
been made and his life is being put in danger. Sue also feels that one reason budgets are
tight is because money is being wasted on services which don’t work for the population
they are trying to serve. Regardless of the reason, John is being failed because BCC has
failed to put in place good community services.
Sue states that many of those who have worked in John’s care team agree that services
need reshaping. She says that even though they may not be in the position themselves to
act or to ‘whistle blow’, these carers have also expressed their dismay at how John and
the whole family have been treated.
Sue feels that there has been a lot of bias and discrimination against people with autism
and learning disabilities displayed by agencies when they are deciding on John’s care,
whether this has been intentional or not.

AB
AB has the benefit of an anonymity order from the court in respect of his current civil law
claim against British Transport Police; hence he will be referred to as AB throughout this
report.
Now 29 years old, AB is a young man with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD). AB is now a
resident of Cardiff but at the time of the incidents described below) regularly travelled by
train from Cardiff to Bristol for study, and latterly Bath where he lived and worked. .
AB has profound anxiety about traveling on public transport that sometimes results in
sensory overload and psychological meltdown. One of the ways that AB tries to control his
anxiety is by ‘stimming’, in his case, fiddling with any material within his reach, as this has

Page 120

8

a calming effect. This may include unconsciously touching other people's (men’s or
women’s) clothing, bags, etc. When challenged, AB doesn’t have the language to explain
or apologise. These features of AB’s ASD are compounded by poor ‘proprioception’ and
‘theory of mind’. Contact that AB would perceive as harmless can be misperceived by
others who do not understand stimming, sensory overload, theory of mind and poor
proprioception.
Having successfully travelled daily to university and then work by train for four years
without any incident, on two occasions, two and a half years apart (in 2011 and 2014),
AB’s stimming resulted in him being apprehended by the police after being accused of
unwanted touching by two women passengers.
As a result of his 2011 apprehension by the Police, AB was cautioned. This caution was
later quashed because of several irregularities, particular breaches of the Police and
Criminal Evidence (PACE) Act and failure to recognise his right to an ‘appropriate adult’.
Following his 2014 arrest, AB was again not charged as it was judged that the Police and
health professionals who assessed him failed to recognise his vulnerability and his
protected characteristics. Also, appropriate and reasonable adjustments that are required
by law and national guidance were not made during his detention, nor subsequently. As
well as failures by both police forces involved, failures by custody nurses employed by
Avon and Wiltshire MH Partnership NHS Trust (AWP) were acknowledged in a letter of
apology to the family by the Trust’s former Chief Executive.
However, subsequent enquiries by AB and his family discovered that explicit and
erroneous allegations of sexual assault remained on police databases in relation to both
incidents. Despite extensive and complex complaints being made to the relevant agencies,
those made to the British Transport Police (BTP) and Independent Police Complaints
Commission remain unresolved, and AB and his family have grave concerns about the
lack of governance and compliance with required standards demonstrated in the handling
of these complaints. These are currently the subject of a civil claim which AB has taken out
against British Transport Police for breaches of the Data Protection Act and Human Rights
Act.
The trial hearing for this civil claim was postponed from May 2020 to February 2021 and
then again to September 2021 due to the coronavirus and together with an aborted
mediation process in which the BTP confirmed their intention to retain the erroneous
allegations until AB’s 100th birthday (even though BTP have acknowledged that the
allegations are inaccurate), these factors have compounded the psychiatric harm already
suffered by AB. This harm has been documented by five consultant psychiatrists and in a
Section 42 Safeguarding Enquiry report from Bristol’s Safeguarding Adult Team. That
report also identified the false allegations on BTP databases as the cause of his ongoing
anxiety disorder and depression.
Prior to, and after the first incident, AB was studying for a BA (hons) degree at Bristol,
travelling daily to Bristol by train from Cardiff. Prior to the second incident, he was working
and living full time in Bath. However, his experiences, and in particular the failure to
remove the false allegations from police databases, have resulted in serious impairment of
his health and development with significant increase in anxiety and impact on his
functioning. This had been predicted by a consultant psychiatrist who assessed AB in

Page 121

9

December 2015. This decline in health resulted in him having to move back home to be
supported by his parents, the loss of his employment, and caused an inability to travel
independently on public transport.
As a result of AB and his parent’s experience and frustration, in December 2017 a director
of AWP and AWP’s representative on Bristol City Council’s Safeguarding Adults Board
(BSAB) put in a request to the Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) subgroup of the BSAB
for a referral. Unfortunately, the SAR subgroup decided that the criteria for SAR were not
met due to a variety of reasons even though the Bristol Safeguarding Adult Team
subsequently accepted a Section 42 referral, the outcome of which acknowledged abuse
and neglect.
The parents of AB submitted a complaint and request for the case to be re-examined by
BSAB. Although BSAB took the decision not to accept or re-examine the SAR, the
conclusion of Bristol City Council was that there were opportunities for wider thematic
learning around the treatment of individuals with ASD and learning difficulties, how Bristol
functioned, and whether the city lived up to its claim to be an ‘Autism friendly’ city.

SF
SF struggled all through nursery and primary school and in 1997 at the age of seven SF
was assessed as being behind his classmates with difficulty concentrating. However, SF
received no official diagnosis until 2015.
For the majority of his early life, SF lived with and cared for his father, who has significant
health needs due to Multiple Sclerosis (MS). However, at the start of 2014 SF’s behaviour
began to deteriorate as his father became frailer. At the same time, SF began to associate
with others, and he was introduced to drugs and alcohol. This caused an argument
between SF and his father and resulted in the involvement of the Police. At that stage SF
became involved in the criminal justice system.
SF’s psychologist produced a report for the courts that concluded that SF had an IQ of 61
and low levels of comprehension. Testing results showed age seven. The report also
identified neuropsychological problems that required further assessment. It concluded that
he should be accompanied by an ‘appropriate adult’ when interviewed. Police agreed to
drop the charges against SF if a restraining order was put in place to prevent SF from
contacting his father. This resulted in a housing placement being found for SF by South
Gloucestershire local authority in The Forecastle, which is a supported housing scheme.
Unfortunately, use of drugs and alcohol by other residents of The Forecastle influenced SF
and there were a series of minor incidents that brought SF to the attention of the Police
again. These were largely petty theft and taking the remains of cigarettes from bins from
the local hotels. A staff member at the hotel accused SF of strange behaviour and the
police brought a harassment case against SF.
The Forecastle was a disastrous experience for SF, and the family felt that it was the
wrong place for him to be placed. It has since been gutted and had a complete make over.

Page 122

10

The Forecastle was advertised as somewhere that offered support and building skills. In
reality, the majority of residents were addicts and/or had criminal records and the family
felt it was not focused on providing support that SF needed. SF’s autism resulted in him
not fitting in and feeling isolated and scared. SF’s mother was trying to get SF the
assessment he needed to get the right support. Due to NHS delays, this took too long and
left SF vulnerable in the wrong environment and with inadequate support.
The police failed to consider this context when he was arrested and pushed SF through
the criminal justice system. From their experience, the family feel that the police continue
to make the same mistakes and then make the same promises for improvement, such as
increasing training and awareness of the needs of vulnerable people. However, they feel
that until the police and all the agencies demonstrate real care about what happens to
vulnerable people and not look at them first and foremost as criminals, there will be no
change. In their view, the police act as if they are reluctant to support vulnerable people
and would prefer to put people through the justice system without having to meet their
responsibilities.
From their experience the family of SF felt that the police acted as if they were seeking to
‘tick all the boxes’ to cover themselves regarding providing ‘appropriate adults’, and
placing vulnerable people in specially designed cells, etc.
In December 2014, new residents at The Forecastle attacked SF, resulting in his arrest
and his eviction. Similar to John and AB, SF is interviewed without an ‘Appropriate Adult’
despite previous psychologist reports. It came to light that the person accusing SF of
assault had lied about his injuries and had convictions for fraud and violence. The family
feel that the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) and the police underplayed or disregarded
this and other important evidence to plough on with their case against SF.
After his arrest, SF returned to live with his father but remained unwell and without any
support. Other attempts to live in alternative accommodation failed for SF. After an incident
at his father’s house, SF was taken on remand to HMP Bristol. Whilst he was originally
only supposed to serve three weeks awaiting a psychiatric evaluation, this period was
extended to six weeks because the psychiatric evaluation was not ready in time. This had
a severe impact on SF’s mental health, who found his stay in prison in the Brunel hospital
wing isolating. He was locked up for 23 hours a day, which was very distressing, and he
was traumatised after being assaulted by prison guards. Eventually in April 2015, SF went
to court and was sentenced to twelve weeks, with half his sentence to serve before he
could be released. The solicitor directed the judge to ensure the sentence handed down
was appropriate to the number of weeks SF had been on remand, to ensure he would not
have been held on remand longer than the sentence imposed , or inadvertently sent back
to prison, due to a miscalculation.
On his release, SF was housed in supported accommodation provided by Maples. This
accommodation was also not equipped to support vulnerable people with autism. The
Maples had many support staff that come from agencies. There were failings with
continuity or communication on shift hand overs and new staff would be introduced with
little awareness of the needs of the residents. This resulted in mistakes often being made
and bad decisions resulted. These are the worst circumstances for an autistic person.

Page 123

11

In August 2015, Police were called to the Maples after SF was found trying to climb to his
friend’s flat to have a drink with him, and accidently cracked a window by standing on the
ledge. CCTV shows that SF was non-combative but scared and tried to run away when the
Police tasered him, causing him physical and psychological trauma. Later, there were false
allegations from the police that SF had assaulted them, although these were found untrue
by video evidence obtained by SF’s mother. The police later apologised for failing to seize
the CCTV and making mistakes.
As a result of his treatment from the Police, SF’s family requested a review by the IPCC
(later IOPC) to investigate the evidence that her son had been the one assaulted by the
police officers who went on to make false allegations against him. Had the false
allegations had been believed, it is likely that this would have resulted in a prison sentence
for SF. Not satisfied with the outcome of the IOPC two-year investigation, SF’s mother
released the video evidence to the media.
After a two year wait for a second report, the IOPC revealed it would not share it with SF or
his family for legal reasons. They quoted Regulation 13 of the Police (Complaints and
Misconduct) Regulations 2012 that includes provisions to withhold information where it is
(a) required on proportionality grounds; or (b) otherwise in the public interest. This meant
that SF’s family could not appeal the report in judicial review, even if they felt it
unsatisfactory.
The IOPC admitted that there had been unacceptable delays and mistakes. They agreed
that what SF needed was appropriate care and support. The full investigation report
however has still not been released, with the IOPC insisting it is not their job to overturn
records of conviction. The only option open to the family is Judicial Review.
Ever since, SF’s family have been trying to get a response from Michael Lockwood of the
IOPC to ensure the IOPC recognise police failings and hold the police to account. The
family feel that this is crucial in order to restore not only their confidence in the system, but
public confidence also. Similar to ‘John’, SF’s family have fought to get the correct
information on police data systems. The family have no confidence in the IOPC and
consider them to be a safety shield to protect the police and keep the public in the dark
about what is happening within the police force and about the systemic problems that
affect many families.
Due to his experiences, SF is too anxious to go out and he feels safer at home. For the
past three years it has been a challenge to get him to leave the house although he will on
occasion go to the shops or to McDonalds with his mother in the car. SF says he has
been attacked and feels safer at home.

Main recommendations
I make several recommendations for action by Bristol City Council and the Keeping Bristol
Safe Partnership (KBSP). I recognise these will take time to implement, particularly as I
think that it is important that they are subject to discussion and consultation. I have
highlighted three main recommendations which I believe are crucial to putting Bristol
agencies and multi-agency working at the forefront of good practice in this area. These are
as follows.

Page 124

12

1. Establish a ‘Charter of Rights’
2. Ensure a Right to Challenge and
3. Establish an Independent Commissioner for people with learning disabilities and
autism.
I would urge the City Council and those key agencies of the KBSP to implement these
recommendations. I expect that they will wish for further deliberation and discussion. It is
important that families and organisations that represent those working in this area, as well
as individuals with learning disabilities or autism themselves are involved in developing
these proposals and taking them forward after a full consultation.

Recommendation 1: A Charter of Rights
Bristol City Council, in conjunction with key agencies, should draw up a ‘Charter of Rights’
for people with learning disabilities and/or autism and their families which should underpin
all commissioning and provision.
We have heard, loud and clear, the message from people with learning disabilities and
autism and their families that the system needs to do a better job of respecting and
upholding their rights and listening to what they have to say. This is about doing what is
fundamentally the right thing, respecting people’s human rights as a point of principle. But
it is also about empowering people who could help change the way the system works for
the better, but who struggle to make themselves heard. In the context of the problems
described in this review, it is about empowering the agents of change.
People with learning disabilities and autism and their families have an array of rights in law
and central/local government policy guidelines. For example, human rights law, the
Equalities Act, the NHS constitution, the Mental Health Act, the Care Act, the Autism Act,
the Mental Capacity Act, the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, and
so on.
In my engagement with the families over the course of my work, I heard that too often the
lived experience of people with learning disabilities and/or autism and their families is that
they feel powerless and that their rights are unclear, misunderstood or ignored.
In some cases, I suspect people may not be aware of the rights they already have or may
not have access to the support they need to exercise those rights. For instance, their right
to access an ‘Appropriate Adult’ during a crisis, at the point of admission, or when in an
inpatient setting. In other cases, there are doubts over whether the rights of people with
learning disability or autism are being respected in practice as originally intended.
To make the rights that people with learning disabilities and/or autism and their families
already have feel real, I recommend establishing a charter and then requiring the agencies
in Bristol and commissioners to shape local services around those rights.
In developing a charter, the City Council and key agencies should work with experts and
practitioners, the third sector, as well as families and individuals concerned. Any such

Page 125

13

charter should build on existing work such as the ‘We Have the Right’ statement put
together by people with learning disabilities, or the Challenging Behaviour Charter drawn
up by the Challenging Behaviour National Strategy Group. The Charter of Rights should
clarify the rights people already have and the support they can access to exercise them. It
should clarify how professionals (commissioners, clinicians and others) should respect
those rights.
To give the Charter of Rights ‘teeth’, local commissioners should base their local
commissioning plans on it, and to set out how they will make those rights real. For
instance, by
•
•
•
•

Ensuring information is accessible and available in a range of formats (including
easy read) and adapted for individual needs.
Commissioning high-quality independent advocacy services, brokerage support,
and supporting self-advocacy and family advocacy groups. This can be particularly
important for individuals who do not have family, or do not have a supportive family.
Agencies should consider offering personal budgets and strong support for people
with learning disabilities and autism and their families to use them.
Ensuring that at key moments (such as prior to admission to clinical settings, local
authority care, or immediately following contact with the police) people with learning
disabilities and autism and their families know their rights, know what support they
can access and know that they have a right to challenge.

Recommendation 2: A Right to Challenge
One of the most serious challenges faced by people with learning disabilities and autism
and their families is a decision to admit to an inpatient facility, particularly when this is an
institution. It is my view that institutional care is an inappropriate placement and should be
replaced by community care facilities. This was sadly the case in John’s admission to St
Andrews hospital: an institution that has been subject to critical Care Quality Commission
reviews and in my view should be closed. Any decision to admit to institutional care can
have profound implications, not just for an individual’s current care but also for their future
development, and it is therefore vital that families are fully involved in such decisions and
are able to challenge them.
In addition to making existing rights feel more 'real', I propose extending the rights of
people with learning disabilities and/or autism and their families, starting with a ‘right to
challenge’. This would allow a person with learning disabilities and/or their family to
challenge a decision to admit them to hospital or keep them there, should they so wish.
Such a right should be accompanied by free support from an independent advisor.
The aim of this would be to review whether it was necessary for the assessment,
treatment, or safeguarding intervention to be undertaken in an inpatient setting rather than
in the community. The independent support would help individuals and families understand
what community-based alternatives might be possible: the presumption should always be
that people remain in their communities. The review triggered by this ‘right to challenge’
would only recommend admission/continued placement in hospital if it concluded that the

Page 126

14

assessment, treatment, or safeguarding intervention could only be effectively and safely
carried out in an inpatient setting.
I recognise that many individuals with learning disabilities and/or autism will not feel able to
challenge the decisions taken regarding their care, particularly if they are in inpatient
settings. In these cases, it is essential that the commissioners paying for their care take
the responsibility to challenge the appropriateness of their admission or continued
placement in inpatient settings.
The independent commissioner (recommended below) would monitor and ensure
compliance with these new provisions.

Recommendation 3. An Independent Commissioner for people with
autism and learning disabilities.
I recommend the establishment of an independent commissioner ICALD. This independent
commissioner would have the task of promoting, enhancing and protecting the rights of
people with learning disabilities and/or autism in Bristol, and for brokering a systemwide
consensus on how to deliver better services and support.
Role responsibilities:
•
•
•
•
•
•

To monitor and review the policies and actions of the agencies involved in providing
services and support.
To ensure effective compliance with the proposed Charter of Rights and Right to
Challenge.
To conduct reviews either on request or independently.
To be consulted by the Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership on issues arising in
safeguarding, including decisions on whether to implement a statutory review.
To ensure effective support for the families of people with learning disability and
autism.
To investigate individual cases of concern.

I recognise that this list may not be exhaustive and should be subject to change. I would
hope that the Council and the Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership would accept the principle
of such a post and then consult on its remit and functioning. the post must operate within
its ethical remit and not be accountable to any individual organisation.
In establishing this new post, it might be useful to set up an advisory board to help select
the individual and then to provide support for the new function. Such an advisory board
should be drawn widely from agencies, families, and the voluntary sector. It is crucial that
in establishing this post it is seen as independent, and it is therefore important that the
many voluntary agencies, families and people with learning disabilities and autism
themselves have confidence and trust in this new office.
In conducting this review, the families have stressed to me how they felt that there was a
lack of transparency and accountability in the system. I have commented on the power
imbalance between the state and its agencies and families and individuals. The agencies

Page 127

15

involved in this review need to consider how their processes and systems can be more
transparent and this would be an early task for the new commissioner.

Further recommendations
Support for families
My review has convinced me that the system needs to provide more support for families
who are trying to navigate the system for their loved ones. At present, families find the
system problematic, and the constant battles that they have to engage in are draining on
them. For people with learning disabilities and autism, the role of families is particularly
crucial.
I recommend that The Council consider how advocacy and legal support can be given to
families to help them navigate the system.

The Criminal Justice System
There are serious concerns about the treatment of people with learning disabilities and/or
autism by the criminal justice system, and whether their rights are being properly upheld. I
discussed this with the Governor of Bristol Prison and the Chief Constable of Avon and
Somerset Police, though sadly not with the British Transport Police (BTP) as previously
stated. In the cases I have reviewed, issues relating to the prison service, the criminal
justice system and the police have loomed large. Two of the cases I reviewed (John and
SF) illustrate why the police should not always be the first line of response for people with
autism and learning disability when in a mental health crisis. As the College of Policing
Guidelines on Mental Health state: “Decision making concerning health care matters
should be made by clinically trained professionals and not police officers.”
This goes to the heart of Lord Bradley’s recommendations that “street triage … offers a
more humane crisis response”, yet there was no evidence in any of the three cases
reviewed that such a service existed or could be deployed. In fact, when John’s mother
recently challenged probation officers about the way John was being responded to by
police, she was told that probation staff had never heard of either ‘street triage’ or ‘liaison
and diversion’.
My review also identified that following arrest, statutory provisions of the Police and
Criminal Evidence Act (PACE) were ignored, including the provision of an ‘Appropriate
Adult’. Medical evidence was also ignored, as were families who were pushed out of the
process. There were failures to complete assessments to determine fitness to be detained
and interviewed, in reasonable adjustments, and in the interview process itself.
It is an indictment of local joint service provision that police are still often the first response
for people in a mental health crisis, and that they so often get it wrong. This identifies the
need for a comprehensive review of crisis response and a realignment of budget provision
to fund these services. If there is collaboration between agencies, this should be financially
cost neutral and have significant benefits in terms of the human cost of crisis response.

Page 128

16

The Police have accepted the need for effective training in the special needs and
circumstances of these vulnerable adults.
The history I have outlined is not a happy one. People with autism and learning disability
face significant difficulties, and what happens to them in the system can have profound
implications for their futures. In the case involving the British Transport Police the actions
taken have been life and career changing for AB. That is one reason why I was so
disquieted by the refusal of the BTP to engage with my review. I very much hope that the
Chief Constable will reflect on my report and consider whether he is providing the
leadership necessary in this area of his responsibility. In the police and prison service my
discussions with the Chief Constable of Avon and Somerset Constabulary and the prison
governor indicate an understanding of past failures, and I saw evidence of changes that
have been made since some of the incidents outlined in the family histories. But there is
still so much to be done.
In terms of national action, the Bradley Report of 2009 described a widespread lack of
awareness of the issues faced by people with a learning disability and communication
difficulties in the criminal justice system. Since then there has been progress, but the
‘Bradley Report: Five Years On’, found still more needs to be done, and it made further
recommendations for action. This area was outside my remit to explore in detail, but I am
clear how fundamentally important it is. I believe that the Government must implement in
full the recommendations of the Bradley Report and his subsequent recommendations.
However, all the agencies represented on the KBSP could themselves review the Bradley
recommendations to see what aspects they are able themselves to implement. This could
form part of an updated Bristol Autism Strategy.
My report stresses the importance of the right to challenge. In this area the ability of
families to make a complaint about police actions and behaviour is important.

Community Provision
It is accepted that the provision of community support for people with learning disabilities
and for autism is inadequate. I have seen how the lack of community provision can lead to
placements in inappropriate facilities. Often the placement itself leads into further problems
for the individual with serious consequences, including police intervention and then
involving the prison and courts system.
In my report on the Winterbourne View scandal in November 2014, I recommended that all
institutions for people with learning disabilities be closed in favour of community provision.
This recommendation was widely supported and accepted by Government. However, the
number of people with learning disabilities and autism still in institutions remains
stubbornly high with levels not dissimilar to those in 2014 when I recommended closure. In
one of the cases I reviewed, the individual concerned had been placed at St Andrews
Hospital, and this placement had been both inappropriate and unsuccessful.

Page 129

17

The Care Quality Commission has recently reported that too many people with learning
disabilities or autism are receiving 'undignified and inhumane care' in specialist hospitals.
The report highlights the use of seclusion and physical restraint, practices that I saw were
too common when I undertook my review of Winterbourne View.
Over the course of my review, I have been in contact with other families who have had
similar experiences to the three families involved in this review and I have further evidence
of the abusive nature of institutional care and failures to provide effective support to some
of our most vulnerable citizens. This is a continuing scandal.
In discussions with the Chief Executives of the Clinical Commissioning Group and the
AWP Mental Health Trust there is agreement that community provision must be enhanced.
This will require new build and new provision with new and existing providers. I have
proposed that social finance can be used to facilitate such development and have
signposted to providers in this area such as Big Society Capital and Social and
Sustainable Capital. There are others, including some local provision.
The changes in the commissioning system to move away from the artificial provider and
commissioning split into a new collaborative approach is very welcome and should be
used as a spur to build new community provision more tailored around the individual. I am
confident that the Mental Health Trust will use these new arrangements to work with the
City Council and the proposed LD/Autism Commissioner to look at a new approach and
bring in new providers who could discuss what is needed and then build and provide it in
Bristol.
In developing these new community facilities, it is important to work with families and
individuals with autism and learning disability. Too often provision has been ‘top down’ and
designed by commissioners who feel they know best and ignore the client base, their
carers and families.
In the time available to me in this review I was not able to look at the economics of
provision in this area. However, it is clear to me from this work and work previously that
the cost of community provision is significantly lower than the cost of institutional care. In
the broader context the economic and social costs of inappropriate placements would
almost certainly amount to significantly higher costs than if effective investment had been
made in community provision. There is a question of 'double funding’ which is why I have
recommended the use of social finance. It is recognised that Council funding in particular
is hugely constrained but there are long term savings for the public purse, in addition to
better care. Some of these issues are national policy decisions, for example we still await
Government action on social care reform, and it is clear that the division between health
and care spending adversely affects social care.
I accept that the financial strains that agencies are experiencing because of the pandemic
and general austerity measures will lead to questions about whether such an expansion
can be achieved. However, this is an area where medium and long-term savings can be
secured. I believe the potential savings are significant. If decisions to expand provision are
continually put off because of current financial problems, then the future savings that could
occur will not be realised.

Page 130

18

I recommend that the AWP Trust, the Bristol Clinical Commissioning Group and the City
Council establish a panel to review the options to expand community provision, including
social finance providers, community providers and clients and families in the discussion.
I further recommend that no further placements of people with learning disability or autism
be made to institutions (inappropriately named ‘assessment and treatment centres’) such
as St Andrews. Any proposed placement in such an institution should only occur if the
proposed LD/Autism Commissioner has accepted this is the only option available at the
time.

An Autism Friendly City?
It is estimated that there are some 4,000 individuals with autism in Bristol. That may be a
conservative estimate.
Bristol can no longer claim to be an ‘autism friendly city’ and should stop using this slogan.
This is not to suggest that changes and improvements have not been made, but it is not
appropriate to use the slogan when the evidence to support it is lacking. I believe it is
widely accepted that Bristol’s Autism Strategy (published in 2015) needs review and
improvement. I recommend establishing a working group comprising of the Council, other
statutory agencies, providers and third sector organisations, as well as people with autism
and their families and carers. The Council needs to review how it complies with the Autism
Act (2009), as it would appear that many of the provisions of this legislation are not being
observed.
Alongside the review of the Bristol Autism Strategy there should be a strategic review of
approaches to learning disability. I understand that both streams of work have begun, and
I would urge those involved to give both strategic developments priority. A recent example
of good practice was the development of a new strategy for autism by Hackney Council
which was conducted with the voluntary organisation ‘Hackney Citizen’. This was a
strategy developed by the Borough, health bodies, residents and voluntary organisations
and produced a wide range of document covering the ‘whole life course’ of autistic people.
There will be other examples and discussions in consultation which will enable Bristol to
develop its own strategy and to aim to reclaim its title as an autism friendly city.

Independent Office for Police Conduct (IOPC)
When the Police and those commissioned by them fail to follow due process such as the
breaches of PACE that are identified in this report, clear consequences should follow.
There is little point in the police having clear guidelines to follow if they are either unaware
of them or ignore them. The experiences of those whose cases I reviewed was not only
that the police themselves failed to properly investigate complaints, but that when these
complaints were escalated to the IOPC there was likewise a failure to properly investigate.
The process was also far too lengthy and difficult for people with autism and learning
disability to access and navigate.
In investigating these matters, I did not find my interactions with the IOPC to be very
satisfactory and the Director General refused to meet me, but I have not had time to
pursue these cases further. My observation is that the systems and process for complaints

Page 131

19

involving people with learning disabilities and autism leaves much to be desired. I
recommend that they review their handling of such cases and work with appropriate third
sector organisations and advocates, particularly involving the views of people with learning
disability and autism.
It must be recognised that vulnerable citizens and their families will find it especially
difficult to navigate the complexities and legalities of a complaints system. Any system of
complaints about the police must be made more accessible, otherwise significant numbers
of very vulnerable citizens are effectively disenfranchised from the complaints process.

The Third Sector
Working with and through the Third Sector is often a highly effective way of engaging with
families and this client group. The Third Sector often provides more effective service
provision that is better tailored to the client. Bristol has a vibrant Third Sector, with
numerous charities, social enterprises and voluntary organisations. These should be fully
integrated into discussions on the rollout of provision and the development of strategy.
They should be closely involved in the development of provider collaboratives. They
should also be involved in the formulation of proposals for an independent commissioner,
the right to challenge and the Charter of Rights.
I was not able to meet and discuss with many of the Third Sector organisations in Bristol
because of the pandemic. However, the role of the sector as a provider of client-based
services as well as an advocate for families and clients is crucial to the development of
Bristol’s strategy, and the sector should be used effectively.

Bristol Autism Spectrum Service (BASS)
The AWP Mental Health Trust is reviewing its support and strategy around learning
disability and autism. Bristol Autism Spectrum Service (BASS) is a specialised service
which is supported financially by the Local Authority to employ social workers. BASS told
me they would be able to help hundreds more adults every year if they had more
resources. Future support by the Council could be provided in the shape of funding a small
number of embedded specialist social workers. An example of this could be the funding a
‘social prescribing’ post, to signpost and accompany individuals on the ground to a variety
of ‘autism friendly’ events happening in the city.
BASS has one social prescriber post shared across the four authorities of Avon. It is
suggested that two or three social prescribers across BCC area would be required to begin
to offer a more comprehensive service helping isolated adults start to construct less lonely
and unfulfilled lives.
BASS also suggested to me that an ‘awareness campaign’ is needed. I believe this would
be an important aspect of introducing a revised autism strategy, as my work has shown a
broader context of people not understanding autism. This was particularly demonstrated in
the case of individual AB where several agencies including the British Transport Police
failed to understand the context of his autism.

Page 132

20

The BASS team should also be enhanced to provide input into the Street Triage Service
when responding to autistic people in crisis.

British Transport Police (BTP)
My interactions with the former Chief Constable of the British Transport Police was
unsatisfactory. I regret that the opportunity was not taken by the Chief Constable to
examine and review past failures with a view to making changes in the way the BTP
interact with people with autism and learning disabilities. My review of AB demonstrated
the need for an urgent review by the BTP of their handling of cases involving people with
autism and learning disability, and such a review should look at strategy and policy as well
as effective training of officers. Leadership in this area must be demonstrated. The
Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership will wish to review this matter.

Avon and Wiltshire Police
As can be seen from the accounts of the families, the role of the police has been
particularly problematic, and has led to significant difficulties for the individuals concerned
in ways that were avoidable. This highlights the need for the police to thoroughly review
their response to individuals they encounter who have autism and learning disabilities and
their families. The accounts I have been given are extremely disturbing and unsatisfactory
and I recommend the police review their processes in the light of these findings.
There were several specific suggestions that I discussed with the chief constable. These
included the following.
• Wider promotion and use of the Safer Places scheme
• The expansion and availability of street triage
• The expansion and availability of liaison and diversion services
• A review of the police risk assessments process to include specific questions on
autism and learning disability

Recommendations to Government
In delivering this report I am conscious of the 10-year anniversary of the screening of the
panorama programme which exposed the abuse that was taking place at the Winterborne
view home for people with learning disabilities. I was asked by Government to review
actions taken by the Authorities and to report with recommendations for future policy and
practice, which I did in 2014. Progress has been made, for example the proposal to limit
powers of detention under mental health legislation announced in the recent Queen's
Speech. This is much to be welcomed.
But progress has been patchy, and the fact remains that when I looked at this matter in
2014 there were over 2000 people with learning disabilities and/or autism in institutions
and that figure remains roughly the same now seven years later. Progress has been made
in providing care plans for individuals to ensure their treatment in the community rather
than in an institution but the reality is there is a “revolving door” whereby once a bed in the
institution becomes available it is filled. There will be no progress until institutions close
and there is a major investment in community provision.

Page 133

21

However, it is now 10 years since the Panorama programme that exposed systematic
abuse of people with learning disabilities in Winterbourne View. I made recommendations
for change following my pendant review commissioned by NHS England. In particular I
recommended that all institutions like Winterborne should be closed. There is a revolving
door in institutions which accounts for the fact that placements remain at a high level.
Despite considerable efforts to review the placements of people with learning disabilities
and autism who have been in such institutions for some time and the success of these
reviews, the fact remains that if a place becomes available in these institutions it is quite
quickly filled. It is time to accept that this type of institutional care by its nature is abusive
and must end.
I recommend that the Government make a clear commitment now to closing all such
institutions and the transfer of resources into the community. A deadline of 2024 should be
established for this closure programme. Major program of investment in community
facilities should be set in train, particularly using social finance which helps tackle the
problem of double funding whilst institutions remain open.
In my discussion with Avon and Somerset police we discussed how the public often can
treat people with autism with hostility and the potential for making the recognition and
reporting of autism as a separate and distinct form of hate crime. I recommend that the
government give consideration to this proposal.

Stephen Bubb
May 2021.

Page 134

22

Page 135

Building Rights: a review of Bristol’s policies
and actions for people with learning
disabilities and autistic people

uilding Rights

Page 136

People with Learning Disabilities and Autistic people experience some of the greatest
social disadvantage of all citizens. Our social structures are not geared up to cater for
people with diverse needs. This is about equity, human/civil rights, social justice and
citizenship.
As individual organisations, support for people with Learning Disabilities and Autistic
people is disjointed, and offers incomplete solutions.
Our services approaches seek to manage crises through control. We don’t enable.
Often we send people to assessment and treatment facilities.
Sometimes people become subject to the criminal justice system, which is also not
geared up to offer progressive support.
A joined up approach through which NHS, local authority, criminal justice system, DWP,
independent, voluntary and community sector services and support are coordinated to
provide local, bespoke and progressive solutions is essential.

uilding Rights

Page 137

Sir Stephen Bubb recognised these issues in his independent review of the Winterbourne View ‘hospital’
facility in 2014. He recommended within that that all such facilities should be closed, and replaced with
progressive community solutions.
transforming-commissioning-services.pdf (england.nhs.uk)
Sir Stephen Bubb makes clear that we commit huge amounts of resource to these inadequate approache
and that we could support our citizens in better and more cost effective ways that do not involve what is
in effect, incarceration.
Sir Stephen recommended the following, in direct response to the experiences within the stories of the
three families featured in his review.
A charter of rights for people with LD and Autism.
A simple and effective ‘right to complain’, for people who feel marginalised by decisions made about
them.
An ‘independent commissioner’. (To be specified)

uilding Rights

Page 138

In Bristol, we want to follow up the report with an ‘aggressive’ challenge to the
iniquitous social experiences of people with Learning Disabilities, Autistic people and
their families have. Marvin Rees is behind this.
We are soon to hear about our Changing Futures bid: work which will bring together
disparate parts of our system to work more effectively together to support people with
complex needs.
We are working across BNSSG through the Healthier Together programme on Learning
Disabilities and Autism.
Work will include the following.
An audit of the situation ‘as is’, with a strong ‘lived experience’ approach, to actively
develop working relationships with people with Learning Disabilities, Autistic people,
their families and support organisations in order to co-produce plans.
A systemic approach to complex needs through Changing Futures.

Agenda Item 11

Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board
Title of Report:
Author (including organisation):
Date of Board meeting:
Purpose:

Bristol Health Protection Annual Report 2020
Katie Porter/ Julie Northcott BCC
28th July 2021
Oversight and assurance

1. Executive Summary
The annual health protection assurance report April19 – March 20 covers the pre-pandemic
health protection year and the first month of the pandemic. The report provides an overview
of the status of health protection priorities, targets and recommended actions identified by
the Health Protection Committee in 2019.
This report was due in September 2020, however during this period all resources were
focused on managing the Covid-19 Local Outbreak Management Plan. The pandemic
impacted on both the availability of the data we needed to complete the report and, on our
capacity to produce the report.
A number of routine annual data sets for the year 2019/20 were not produced and during
the final quarter of 2019/20 some key non Covid-19 health protection prevention deliverables
were put on hold as the health and public health systems stood up the Covid-19 response.
However, in 2019-2020 the following actions went well.
 TB Nursing service transition
 Targeted work to reduce gram neg bacteraemia's – Catheter passports /
hydration
 Continued reduction in C diff cases
 Preparation for the new RSHE requirements including a successful funding bid
 Work on HIV (HNA and Prep offer)
These are the health protection issues that will be addressed in the coming year in our
workplan:










Air Quality- continue work to address the inequalities experienced in air quality and
the implementation of the Clean Air Zone.
COVID-19 – deliver the Local Outbreak Management Plan (LOMP) to prevent and
contain COVID-19 including the vaccination programme.
Immunisations - reach a safe clinical standard to prevent cases/ outbreaks
Screening – focus on inequalities, and work to catch-up with the programme delayed
by the pandemic.
TB – work to identify both active and Latent TB.
Carry out food safety inspections to support prevention of foodborne illness
Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) strategic development to bring the many
streams of work together as a system (HCAI/ AMR / Primary, community and
secondary care)
Work as a local system to improve Sexually Transmitted Infections (STI) data
intelligence, to inform our action
Revisit and refresh the provision of Sexual Health Promotion

Page 139

2. Purpose of the Paper
To provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with oversight of the work to protect the health of
the population from infectious diseases, screening for cancers, monitor vaccination
programmes, respond to health emergencies and to have assurance that action is being
taken.

3. Background and evidence base
The annual report gathers data from a variety of national and local health protection
data sets to present an overview of the performance of the city in addressing health
protection issues and measures against national targets. This enables the Health
Protection Committee to agree a workplan for the coming year across the
partnership.
The One City Plan includes the priority to reduce health inequalities. Health
Protection impacts on health inequalities. Infectious diseases are more prevalent in
areas of poverty and higher density households and they have more severe health
outcomes in groups that suffer inequality.

4. Community/stakeholder engagement
Contributions to this report came from BCC Health Protection team, the wider BCC Public
Health team, BCC Environmental Health, BCC Civil Protection, Public Health England,
BNSSG CCG, and NHS England. The report has been shared with the Health Protection
committee, and the BNSSG CCG Governing Body.

5. Recommendations
This report enables the Director of Public Health to provide assurance to the Health and
Wellbeing Board (H&WB), that the health of the residents of Bristol is being protected in a
proactive and effective way.
The board is asked to approve the report and the approach we are taking.

6. City Benefits
The health protection actions enable the population to be protected from infectious diseases,
identify cancer at an early stage and address health emergencies.

Financial and Legal Implications
None

7. Appendices
Bristol Health Protection Annual Report 2020

Page 140

Bristol Health Protection
Annual Report 2020
April 2019 to March 2020

Report Author
Julie Northcott, Consultant in Public Health

Page 141

Contents
Acknowledgments ...................................................................................................... 6
1. Introduction ............................................................................................................ 7
2. Tuberculosis (TB) ................................................................................................... 7
3. Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) – Health Care Acquired Infections .......... 12
3.1 MRSA.............................................................................................................. 12
3.2 Clostridium Difficile ......................................................................................... 12
3.3 Ecoli ................................................................................................................ 12
4. Antimicrobial Resistance (AMR) ........................................................................... 14
4.1 Antibiotic prescribing ....................................................................................... 14
5. Sexual Health ....................................................................................................... 15
5.1 Sexually Transmitted Infections ...................................................................... 15
5.3 Antimicrobial resistance in Sexual Health Services (Unity) ............................. 17
5.4 HIV .................................................................................................................. 17
5.5 Chlamydia Screening ...................................................................................... 19
6. Foodborne illness ................................................................................................. 21
7. Immunisations ...................................................................................................... 23
7.1 Childhood immunisations ................................................................................ 23
7.2 Shingles .......................................................................................................... 24
7.3 PVV ................................................................................................................. 24
7.4 Flu ................................................................................................................... 24
8. Screening ............................................................................................................. 25
8.1 Cancer ............................................................................................................ 25
8.2 Cervical Screening .......................................................................................... 25
8.3 Bowel Screening ............................................................................................. 27
8.4 Breast screening ............................................................................................. 27
8.4 Antenatal and Prenatal Screening .................................................................. 28
9. Environmental hazards to health, safety and pollution control ............................. 29
9.1 Air Quality ....................................................................................................... 29
9.2 Avonmouth ...................................................................................................... 31
10. Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR) .......................... 31
11. Covid 19 ............................................................................................................. 32

Page 142

11.1 Timeline ........................................................................................................ 32
11.2 Bristol specific ............................................................................................... 33

Page 143

Acknowledgments
This report has been produced in exceptional circumstances at a time the Health and
Public Health systems have been working under considerable pressure in
responding to the Covid 19 pandemic.
My grateful thanks to the Bristol team, particularly Sophie Prosser, Simon Dicker and
Katie Porter for going above and beyond to produce this report in extremely
challenging circumstances.
Thanks also to all members of the Bristol Health Protection Committee and
programme leads all of whom have continued to support both essential health
protection work at the same time as supporting the Bristol Covid19 response.
Julie Northcott, Consultant in Public Health
31st May 2021
HP Committee Members
Name
Christina Gray
Thara Raj
Sophie Prosser
Katie Porter
Adrian Jenkins
Indira Barker
James Gillman
Dominic Mellon
James Bayliss
John Wintle
Jon Roberts

Lianne Strauss

Kate Bradley

Capacity
Chair, DPH
Consultant in Public Health
Health Protection
Representative
Sexual Health
Representative
Environmental Health
Representatives
Civil Protection
Representative
PHE Representative
CCG IPC and HCAI
Representative
CCG EPRR Representative
Screening and
Immunisation
Representative
Screening and
Immunisation
Representative
NHSE EPRR
Representative

Page 144

Organisation

Bristol City Council (BCC)

Public Health England
(PHE)
Bristol, North Somerset
and South Gloucestershire
Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG)
PHE

PHE

NHS England

1. Introduction
This annual health protection assurance report covers the period April 2019 – March
2020. The report provides an overview of the status of health protection priorities,
targets and recommended actions identified by the Health Protection Committee in
2019.
This report was due in September 2020, however during this period all resources
were focused on managing the Covid 19 Local Outbreak Management Plan. This
impacted on both availability of the data we need to have access to complete the
report and, on our capacity to produce the report.
A number of routine any data sets for the year 2019/ 2020 have not been produced
and during the final quarter of 2019/20 some key non Covid-19 health protection
prevention deliverables were put on hold as the health and public health systems
stood up the Covid 19 response.
As we have seen through Covid 19, there is inequality in the level of risk that
different individuals and groups are exposed to. Health Protection risks and issues
reveal these inequalities, just as Covid 19 has done. This report is a reminder of the
range of communicable disease and environmental risks which we need to address
as part of Covid Recovery.
Our next assurance report for the period 2020 – 2021 with focus on the impacts of
Covid 19.

Christina Gray
Director of Public Health
31st May 2021

Page 145

2. Tuberculosis (TB)
TB is a “notifiable disease”, so must be reported to government authorities. In
England TB has been identified as a public health priority due to the health, social
and economic burden of the disease. The rates of TB and the risks of delayed
diagnosis, drug resistance, and onward transmission are greatest among socially
marginalised, under-served populations such as illicit drug users and the homeless.
Summary points





The TB incidence rate in Bristol remains statistically significantly higher than
England’s average. In the 3 years 2017-19 the average number of notifications in
Bristol was 53 per year.
There were 50 notified TB cases in Bristol in 20191, a slight increase from 2018
(48). The annual rate per 100,000 population has also slightly increased from
10.4 in 2018 to 10.8 in 2019.
Among Core Cities, Bristol’s TB incidence rate is 4th highest – after Manchester,
Birmingham and Nottingham.
In 2019 88% of pulmonary TB cases started treatment within 4 months of
symptoms onset – higher than England’s average of 69.1%.

Incidence
In Bristol, incidence rates of TB are significantly higher than the England average –
see fig.1. The latest 3 year average rate of TB in Bristol (2017-19) was 11.5 notified
cases per 100,000 population – a 9.6% reduction from the 2016-2018 period. The
incidence rate for Bristol has decreased since 2012-2014 and is the lowest recorded
since 2000-2002 period. However, that is still significantly higher than England
average of 8.6 notifications per 100,000 and South West regional average of 3.9 per
100,000 South West average.

1

Public Health England. (2021) Tuberculosis in the South West 2020: Presenting data to end of 2019.
Public Health England: South West; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tuberculosis-tbregional-reports

Page 146

Fig 1: TB incidence rates, 2000/02-2017/19

Incidence of TB. Number of new cases per 100,000
population, crude rate over 3 year time period. Bristol
vs England

30
25
20
15
10

Bristol
5

2017 - 19

2016 - 18

2015 - 17

2014 - 16

2013 - 15

2012 - 14

2011 - 13

2010 - 12

2009 - 11

2008 - 10

2007 - 09

2006 - 08

2005 - 07

2004 - 06

2003 - 05

2002 - 04

2001 - 03

2000 - 02

0

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework March 2021

Compared to other cities, Bristol is 4th highest of English Core Cities, and 6th
highest of “CIPFA nearest neighbours”- fig 2 and fig 3.
Red bars indicate rates statistically significantly higher than England average; amber
bars indicate rates statistically similar and green bars – rates statistically significantly
lower than England average

Fig 2: TB incidence rates, 2017 - 2019 for Core Cities;

Incidence of TB. Number of new cases per 100,000
population, crude rate over 3 year time period. Core Cities
and England, 2017-2019
25

20
15
10
5
0

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework March 2021

Page 147

Fig 3: TB incidence rates, 2017-2019 for CIPFA nearest neighbours

30

Incidence of TB. Number of new cases per 100,000 population,
crude rate over 3 year time period. Bristol and its CIPFA nearest
neighbours, 2017-2019. 95% CI

25
20
15
10
5
0

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework March 2021

Treatment
In 2019, 52% of pulmonary TB cases started treatment within two months of
symptoms onset (England average 40.6%) and 88% within 4 months of symptoms
onset (England average 69.1%).
The number of new cases per year places a notable demand on the health care
system. TB “contact tracing” provides an opportunity to identify unrecognised cases
and is key to management of TB, and with new testing tools latent TB can be
identified (that could otherwise wake up and cause active disease) and appropriate
action taken to support these people.
There is an established TB service operating across Bristol which leads on the
clinical management of cases, contact tracing and works with Public Health England
in response to more complex TB incidents or outbreak situations.
Equalities data:
The Public Health England ‘Tuberculosis in the South West: 2020’ 2 report provides
data on health inequalities within the South West region.

2

Public Health England. (2021) Tuberculosis in the South West 2020: Presenting data to end of 2019.
Public Health England: South West; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tuberculosis-tbregional-reports

Page 148

Most TB cases in 2019 were of White ethnicity (48.5%), the next most common
ethnicities were Mixed-Other (14.9%), Black-African (12.8%) and Indian (11.9%).
The proportion of cases in the Mixed-Other population increased in 2019 compared
to 2018. The largest proportion of cases (21.4%) lived in the most deprived areas of
the region (the most deprived IMD2019 decile).
The Public Health England’s ‘Tuberculosis in England 2020 report’3 presents the TB
notification rates per 100,000 population for the year 2019 by deprivation decile (IMD
2019) – fig 4. The rate of TB increases with increasing levels of deprivation: 18.4 per
100,000 in the 10% of the population living in the most deprived areas compared
with only 3.6 per 100,000 in the 10% of the population living in the least deprived
areas.

Fig 4: TB notification rates by deprivation, England 2019
TB notification rates by deprivation decile (IMD2019). England
2019

25
20
15
10

18.4

15.7

14.0

5

12.6

9.7

7.8

5.8

4.7

4.1

3.6

7

8

9

Least
deprived
decile

0
Most
deprived
decile

2

3

4

5

6

Source: Public Health England’s ‘Tuberculosis in England 2020 report’.

Further data / links:






Public Health England. (2021) Tuberculosis in the South West 2020:
Presenting data to end of 2019. Public Health England: South West.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tuberculosis-tb-regional-reports
Public Health England’s ‘Tuberculosis in England 2020 report’,
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/943356/TB_Annual_Report_2020.pdf
Public Health Outcomes Framework https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/publichealth-outcomes-framework

Public Health England’s ‘Tuberculosis in England 2020 report’,
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/94
3356/TB_Annual_Report_2020.pdf
3

Page 149

3. Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) – Health Care Acquired
Infections
The BNSSG Health Care Acquired Infection (HCAI) Group met quarterly during the
reporting period, maintaining oversight and supporting joint action where needed.

3.1 MRSA
Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus (MRSA) is a gram-positive bacterium
that commonly colonised in the human skin and mucosa without causing infection.
When infection occurs, usually because the bacterium enters the body via broken
skin or medical procedures it can produce a wide variety of disease; minor skin and
wound infections, pneumonia, life-threatening blood stream infections (septicaemia)
and sepsis.
The number of MRSA bacteraemia cases assigned to Bristol, North Somerset and
South Gloucestershire health system area, and Bristol specifically, remains a
challenge. Over the last three years we have seen a reduction in the Bristol
assigned cases: 2017/18 = 33, 2018/19 = 30 and 2019/20 = 27 but remain an
outlier. Most cases are community onset of which approximately 50% are related to
intravenous drug use. A Post Infection Review (PIR) process is undertaken for each
case irrespective of onset. There is ongoing multiagency work through the Design
Council Project to develop and implement harm reduction / risk management in this
group.
3.2 Clostridium Difficile
Clostridium Difficile (C Diff) is an anaerobic spore-forming gram positive, toxin
producing bacterium. It is more common in elderly, hospitalised patients, especially
those with current or recent history repeat or extended courses of antibiotics. C Diff
can lead to severe illness and mortality but is preventable through antibiotic
stewardship, high levels of environmental cleaning in addition to standard infection
prevention and control measures by staff.
The number of C. difficile cases assigned to BNSSG for 2019/20 was under the
system threshold announced by NHS England. Over the last three years there has
been a reduction in the Bristol cases of C Diff: 2017/18 = 96, 2018/19 = 82 and
2019/20 = 74.
The CCG reviews hospital onset cases with secondary care providers and processes
are robust.
3.3 Ecoli
The national ambition targets to achieve sustained reductions in E.coli bacteraemia
have been a challenge regionally and nationally. At the end of 2019/20, BNSSG
CCG as a system did report a reduction in cases of around 6%. More specifically,

Page 150

Bristol also saw a reduction in assigned cases from 2018/19 to 2019/20, from 344 to
297 cases.
As a system there were a number of initiatives adopted in 2019/20 to support a
reduction in cases including the introduction of catheter passports and a range of
projects with a focus on patient hydration.

Page 151

4. Antimicrobial Resistance (AMR)
Bacteria, viruses and fungi are naturally adapting and becoming resistant to
medicines used to treat infections that they cause. Coupled to this, the development
pipeline for new antibiotics is at an all-time low. Together this means society is
rapidly getting close to a point where we may not be able to prevent or treat
everyday infections or diseases. Antibiotic prescribing and antibiotic resistance are
inextricably linked, as overuse and incorrect use of antibiotics are major drivers of
resistance (PHE, 2018).
A Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire (BNSSG) health system
Antimicrobial Resistance Strategy group has been established with a remit to
implement AMR 5-year plan. The BNSSG antimicrobial stewardship collaboration
and Healthcare Acquired Infections group report to the strategy group.
4.1 Antibiotic prescribing
Support was given to practices by the CCG medicines optimisation team in the form
of teaching sessions and time with practice pharmacists. This supported 38 out of 43
Bristol practices to meet the both the prescribing targets of overall prescribing 0.965
antibiotics/STAR-PU and less than 10% of antibiotics prescribed being broad
spectrum, cephalosporins, quinolones and co-amoxiclav. This work will continue
with practices that remain above the prescribing targets.

Page 152

5. Sexual Health
Efforts to improve the sexual health of the population are a public health priority.
Sexually transmitted infections (STIs) can have lasting long-term and costly
complications if not treated and are entirely preventable. Diagnosing HIV and
starting treatment earlier, minimises the impact on patients, their families and
services.
Poor relationships can have a lasting effect on an individual’s mental wellbeing, selfesteem, and confidence. Prevention of unintended pregnancies and control over
reproductive choices preserves good mental and psychosexual health.
Although progress has been made e.g. in the reduction in teenage conceptions and
increasing access to sexual health services), STIs in Bristol continue to rise.
Bristol has a relatively young population compared to England and this is predicted
to rise. The city is ethnically diverse and has areas of high deprivation. There is an
active lesbian, gay, bisexual and trans (LGBT) scene. These factors mean sexual
health is a high priority for Bristol.

5.1 Sexually Transmitted Infections
Sexually Transmitted Infections (STIs) is a term used to describe a variety of
infections passed from person to person through unprotected sexual contact. STIs
can have lasting long term and costly complications if not treated and are entirely
preventable.
There are high rates of diagnosed STIs in Bristol. 2019 saw a small increase in the
rate of new STI diagnoses (excluding chlamydia in under 25 year olds[1]) to 1,167
per 100,000 population aged 15-64 (3% higher than in 2018) which is significantly
higher than the national average (900 per 100,000). When age is taken into account,
Bristol rates of all new STIs appear similar to England’s rate. However, when broken
down by gender, Bristol’s female rate was statistically significantly higher than
England’s.
The continued local rise in STIs reflects the national pattern. Whilst this is in part
due to improved testing it is also likely to reflect increased infection rates in the
population from ongoing unsafe sexual behaviours. The impact of STIs remains
greatest in young heterosexuals aged 15 to 24 years, black ethnic minorities and
men who have sex with men.
A current concern is the observed increase in syphilis cases. There were 62
diagnoses of syphilis in 2019. This gives a rate of 13.4 per 100,000, which is similar
to England’s rate but reflects a 7% increase since 2018 and a doubling since 2016.

Page 153

Although absolute numbers are relatively low in comparison to other STIs, syphilis
can cause serious long-term problems if left untreated.
The diagnostic rate for gonorrhoea (109.4 per 100,000) has also significantly
increased in Bristol in 2019 although it is still lower than the national rate (123.5 per
100,000). Whilst the diagnostic rate for genital herpes (81.8 per 100,000) has
increased by over 13% in Bristol in 2019 and it is statistically significantly higher than
the national average (60 per 100,000).
Fig 5: New STI diagnoses (exc chlamydia aged <25) crude rate per 100,000 population aged 1564

Source: PHE Sexual and Reproductive Health Profiles, September 2020
5.1.1. STI Outbreaks
An outbreak of lymphogranuloma venereum (a type of chlamydia that causes a more
serious infection) was identified by Unity in March 2020. Unity highlighted the
increased number of cases to public health and an outbreak management team was
set up and an action plan has been put in place.
In March 2020 Unity also identified a sharp increase in cases of syphilis. There has
been an ongoing outbreak of syphilis in men who have sex with men (MSM)
population since 2018 but these cases were amongst the heterosexual population.
An outbreak management team was convened. As syphilis can present in a number
of different ways, information was shared with partners in primary care, secondary
care and Unity subcontracted partners. The Unity website and postal self-test kits
were updated to highlight the importance of testing for everyone regardless of
gender or sexuality.
5.2 Sex and relationships education
From September 2020 Relationships Education (primary schools), Relationships and
Sex Education (secondary schools), and Health Educations (state schools) are to
become a statutory requirement.

Page 154

In February 2020, the Bristol Primary Teaching School in partnership with the Cabot
Learning Federation’s Institute and Bristol City Council was successful in winning a
national Department for Education(DfE) bid to support the implementation of the new
requirements of Relationships, Sex and Health Education (RSHE) as one of the
country’s RSHE hubs.
This was to be one of only a small number of DfE funded RSHE hubs across
England will develop a cohesive programme of free support and development to help
schools in the South West region in the year ahead as they considered their
implementation of the new statutory duty.
The Healthy Schools programme continues to focus on the new three tier awards
system; essential, specialist and advanced. Demonstrating good practice in
relationships and sex education (RSE) is a key part of the new awards.
5.3 Antimicrobial resistance in Sexual Health Services (Unity)
Increased access to rapid STI testing (Gonorrhoea and Chlamydia) and same day
results using Panther has enabled more appropriate use of antibiotics and early
identification of antimicrobial resistance in STIs. This access has increased
throughout 19-20. An evaluation of Panther in terms of its costs, acceptability and
timeliness is currently underway.
Unity have also developed local guidelines for expanded local testing for
Mycoplasma genitalium (currently tests are sent to London). Its implementation was
due April 2020 (delayed because of Covid which reduced laboratory capacity).
In Jan 2020 Bristol SHIP HIT (Sexual Health Improvement Health Integration Team)
co-hosted an international conference with the London School Hygiene & Tropical
Medicine’s STI Research Interest Group (STIRIG), with funding from WHO and
LSHTM’s AMR Centre, to explore STI AMR. Presentations can be found here. The
National AMR Strategy highlighted concern regarding gonorrhoea resistance and
local clinicians will be working with national leads to address this issue.
HIV PrEP (Preexposure Prophylaxis) appears to have resulted in higher rates of
bacterial STIs. A qualitative study has been undertaken and exploring PrEP users’
knowledge, attitudes and perception of sexual health risk in an age of STI AMR. A
review of the quality of commercial on-line STI testing providers is also underway
5.4 HIV
HIV (Human Immunodeficiency Virus) is a chronic health condition that damages the
cells in your immune system and weakens your ability to fight everyday infections
and disease. The development of antiretroviral treatments over the past few decades
has transformed HIV infection from an almost uniformly fatal infection into a
manageable chronic condition with the potential for normal life expectancy when
diagnosed promptly. However, being diagnosed late is linked with increased rates of
illness, hospital admission and reduced life expectancy. Whilst great strides have

Page 155

been made around HIV treatment, people living with HIV remain a stigmatised group
who can have a poorer quality of life due to their HIV status.
Some groups are disproportionately affected by HIV. Black African communities
collectively contain the largest number of people with undiagnosed HIV infection in
the UK, and this is mirrored in Bristol - stigma is one of the main reasons for this.
Men who have sex with men continue to be the group most affected by HIV infection
870 Bristol residents were living with diagnosed HIV in 2019. Bristol’s rate is 2.6 per
1,000 population (aged 15-59), which is similar to the national rate (2.4 per 1,000).
The diagnosed HIV prevalence rate for Bristol has increased in recent years, which
is probably due to people living longer as a result of effective treatment. The
percentage of adults in Bristol accessing HIV care in 2019 who were virally
suppressed (had an undetectable viral load) was 97.2%, similar to 97.4% in England.
Fig 6: HIV Diagnosed Prevalence Rate per 1000 population aged 15-59

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework March 2021

Bristol signed up to become a Fast Track City in November 2019 to accelerate our
progress towards ending HIV transmission. The Fast Track Cities Initiative is a
global programme to accelerate work around HIV. A Bristol HIV Health Needs
Assessment was published in 2020. This identified our local HIV needs and informed
the priorities for Bristol’s Fast Track City Action Plan. The Fast Track City Action
Plan was finalised in March 2020 with actions broken down in to 3 work streams:
Increasing HIV Testing, Tackling HIV Stigma & Systems Leadership.
Fast Track City actions planned for 20-21 include undertaking a late diagnosis
lookback, working with Black communities to improve HIV dialogue, developing a
Fast Track Cities website and running a local Undetectable= Untransmittable health
promotion campaign.
Bristol was visited by the national HIV Commission in March 2020 to inform their
recommendations to the government on ending HIV.

Page 156

Fast Track Cities members joined with African Voices Forum at the start of 2020 to
develop a bid for The Health Foundation Common Ambition Fund to co-produce HIV
interventions with Black African and Caribbean populations.
Combination prevention of HIV includes education, condoms, HIV testing, Treatment
as Prevention and Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP). PrEP is a medication which can
be taken by someone who does not have HIV to prevent the risk of acquiring HIV.
Bristol’s commissioned sexual health service have continued to be involved in the
national PrEP (IMPACT) trial.

5.5 Chlamydia Screening
Chlamydia is the most common Sexually Transmitted Infection (STI) in England and
is most common in young people aged 15-24. There were 2,284 cases of chlamydia
in 2019, with 1,331 of these being among 15-24 year olds
The National Chlamydia Screening Programme supports opportunistic screening for
asymptomatic young people aged 15-24, to increase detection, to enable treatment
and interrupt spread and thus reduce chlamydia prevalence. Bristol has not been
achieving the Public Health England recommended detection rate of 2,300 per
100,000 people in the 15-24 age group4. The 2019 data on the detection of
chlamydia (fig 7.2.2.1) shows that Bristol rate (1,722 per 100,000) has fallen below
the national average (2,043 per 100,000).
Fig 7: Chlamydia Detection in 15-24 year olds: rate per 100,000 population

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework March 2021

4

[1] Chlamydia data for 15 – 24 year olds can be accessed in the following JSNA Health Profile:

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/3849453/JSNA+2019++Chlamydia+%28updated+Oct+2019%29.pdf/22fe3162-74d5-d948-8d55-7c93860274ee

Page 157

Local partners have responded to a national consultation on proposed changes to
the national Chlamydia Screening Programme. We are awaiting the outcome of the
consultation and we will consider local actions to address any changes needed. We
will also continue to explore how we can better understand chlamydia prevalence at
a local level and will work with the CCG to ensure partner notification can take place
for infections detected in primary care.

Page 158

6. Foodborne illness
Foodborne illness (more commonly referred to as food poisoning) is any illness that
results from eating contaminated food. Foodborne illness can originate from a
variety of different foods and be caused by many different pathogenic organisms at
some point in the food chain, between farm and fork. Although the majority of cases
in the UK are mild they are unpleasant, result in absences from education or the
workplace and place a significant demand on healthcare services. Occasionally
foodborne illness can lead to complications or even death.
Access to safe food and water is one of the most fundamental human
needs. Figures from the Food Standards Agency state that there are over 500,000
cases of food poisoning per year across the UK from identified causes and if the
unidentified causes were to be included this figure would more than double. In
Bristol, there were 715 confirmed cases of gastrointestinal infection between April
2019 and March 2020 (see Fig 8).
Fig 8: Confirmed cases of gastrointestinal infection notified to Bristol City Council
Environmental Health of residents of Bristol local authority, April 2019 to March 2020

100

Notifications 2019-20

Typhoid
Suspect food poisoning
Shigella sonnei
Shigella (other)
Shiga toxin-producing E.coli
Salmonella typhimurium
Salmonella enteritidis
Salmonella (untyped)
Salmonella (others)
Salmonella
Psittacosis
Paratyphoid
Others (Food Poisoning)
Other I.D.
Legionella
Giardia
E. coli
Cryptosporidium

90
80
70

60
50
40
30
20
10
0
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Source: PHE Notifications recorded on Civica.

6.1 Food Safety Inspections
All food businesses based in the UK are subject to food hygiene laws enforced by
local authorities. Businesses can be inspected at any point, and authorised
environmental health officers (EHOs) have the right to enter and inspect any
premises without appointment or approval to ensure that businesses meet the
requirements of the Food Standards Agency (FSA).

Page 159

Inspections utilise the FSA’s ‘Food Hygiene Rating Scheme’, awarding businesses a
‘star’ rating upon completion of the examination. These ratings run from 0-5 stars,
with a score of ‘0’ indicating that serious action must be taken immediately to avoid
penalties or the closure of your premises.
The Food Standards Agency requires Bristol City Council to achieve 100% of food
safety inspections annually. During 2019/20, the Environmental Health team
completed 78% of inspections against a corporately set target of 80% required by
the Statutory food programme 2019-2020 focussing on high-risk premises.
Currently, there is a backlog of approx. 800. Inspections. The service is regularly
audited by the Food Standards Agency and work on clearing the backlog of
inspections during 2020/21 will continue, although it is expected that COVID
restrictions will have an impact on this. Inspections are likely to be postponed with
EHO resource being diverted towards important Covid enforcement work to ensure
that businesses in Bristol are compliant with any safety measures to protect our
population.

Page 160

7. Immunisations
Immunisations are acknowledged as one of the most significant public health
developments in the prevention of infectious disease.
7.1 Childhood immunisations
Childhood immunisation uptakes in Bristol are similar to England average, although
it should be noted that we remain below the national clinical standard required
to control disease and ensure patient safety and 95% population coverage is
required to protect. MMR and DTap-IPV 2nd vaccines at age 5 are of particular
concern with neither reaching 90%, although both have seen small increases
compared to 2018/19.
The UK wide Measles and Rubella Elimination strategy was released in 2019 and a
South West wide action plan was developed to support implementation of the plan
following a regional conference on measles held in February 2020. The Bristol
contribution to the plan was developed via the BNSSG immunisation group led by
Public Health England. Projects included practice visits and uptake plans to GP
practices with lower MMR uptake and comms and media activity to promote the
MMR vaccine. Detailed work was undertaken from December 2019 to March 2020
by BCC and PHE to gather insight into current behavioural barriers and enablers of
childhood vaccination uptake in Bristol, from the perspective of parents and
professionals. There was a particular focus on the MMR vaccine, and the Somali
community in Bristol because this is a group identified, locally and nationally, as
being at risk of under-immunisation, especially for MMR.
Fig 9: Childhood Vaccination Coverage Statistics

Source NHS Digital

Page 161

7.2 Shingles
The shingles vaccine is offered to people aged 70 or 78 years old 5. In
addition, anyone who was previously eligible (born on or after 2 September 1942)
but missed out on their shingles vaccination remains eligible until their 80th birthday.
The shingles vaccine is not available on the NHS to anyone aged 80 or over
because it seems to be less effective in this age group.
Shingles vaccination uptake in those turning 70 or 78 in Bristol was 44.7% in
2019/20 slightly above the England at 44.4%. Work is ongoing to understand the
vaccine coverage across eligible ages and all from age 70-80 will be eligible in
2020/21.
7.3 PVV
The pneumococcal vaccine protects against serious and potentially fatal
pneumococcal infections. It's also known as the pneumonia vaccine. Pneumococcal
infections are caused by the bacterium Streptococcus pneumoniae and can lead to
pneumonia, blood poisoning (sepsis) and meningitis. The vaccine is offered to adults
aged 65 or over plus those with long-term health conditions such as serious heart or
kidney conditions. Uptake of the PPV vaccine in 2019/20 was 69.4%. this compares
to the England rate of 69.2%. Vaccine shortages of PPV remain an issue nationally
particularly during winter.
7.4 Flu
Uptake of flu immunisation fell in 2019/20 compared to the previous season, the
starkest reduction was in uptake of 3-year olds which reduced by 10% but there
were some delays in vaccine supply. When comparing at a regional level Adult flu
immunisation uptake was similar but childhood flu immunisation at ages 2 and 3
were lower.
Fig 10: Flu Vaccination uptake for different groups across the Bristol
population

5

Eligibility correct as per data frame of this report. All aged 70-80 are now eligible.

Page 162

Source: NHS Immunisation and Screening Team

8. Screening
8.1 Cancer
The UK National Screening Committee defines screening as “The process of
identifying apparently healthy people who may be at increased risk of a disease or a
condition so that they can be offered information, further tests and appropriate
treatment to reduce their risk and/or complications arising from the disease or
condition.” There are currently three national cancer screening programmes: breast,
bowel and cervical; and eight non-cancer screening programmes: six antenatal and
new-born (Fetal Anomaly, Infectious Diseases in Pregnancy, Sickle Cell and
Thalassaemia, New-born and Infant Physical Examination, New-born Blood Spot
and New-born Hearing) and two young person and adult (Abdominal Aortic
Aneurysm and Diabetic Eye).

8.2 Cervical Screening
Cervical screening data is broken down into 2 specific age groups, 25-29 and 50-64
years. For the 25-49 age group there has been no significant change in coverage
with just under 70% of women accepting a cervical screen. For the last 4 years our
screening rates to this group have been similar to the England rate but remains
lower than the South west rate. Based on 2019/20 data there were over 30,000
eligible women age 25-49 in Bristol who did not receive their cervical screen.
Table 1: Cervical cancer screening coverage - women aged 25-49 years

Page 163

Source; NHS Digital (Open Exeter) / PHE

In the older age group 50-64 uptake is higher at 73.8%, again a stable position over
the last 3 years but a downward trend over the last 10 years. This is lower than both
South West Region (77.2%) and England (76.1%). Just under 9000 eligible women
were not screened in 2019/20.
Table 2: Cervical cancer screening coverage – Women aged 50-64 years

Source: NHS Digital (Open Exeter) / PHE

The cervical innovation fund offered funding of approx. £147k to practices across the
SWAG alliance to develop innovative approaches to increasing uptake of cervical

Page 164

screening. Projects were hampered by Covid-19 in March 2020 but an evaluation
report is being produced to assess the impacts of these interventions and share
learning.

8.3 Bowel Screening
Bristol’s bowel screening rates have increased over the last 3 years with over 4000
more people accepting a screen in 2019/20 compared to 2017/18. This is good
news. Bristol does however remain lower than both the South West and England.
Table 3: Bristol Bowel screening coverage

Source: NHS Digital (NHA&IS) / PHE

8.4 Breast screening
Bristol’s breast screening rates have remained static over the last 3 years with
2019/20 reporting only 71% of eligible women being screened. This is below both the
South West (76.4%) and National levels (74.1). Due to Covid-19 we do not have
granular detail on the demographics of who is being missed for this year.
Table 4: Breast Screening Coverage

Page 165

Source NHS Digital (Open Exeter) / PHE

South West wide stakeholder event was held in October 2019 to identify priorities
arising from national reviews of cancer screening and the evidence base. A project
database developed of previous initiatives to improve uptake and the SW CSU
commissioned to provide mapping software to target areas of lowest uptake. This
work was presented nationally in October/November 2019 at the cancer alliance’s
early diagnosis workshop and the PHE screening inequalities conference as an
example of working across partners on improving cancer screening uptake. Work is
ongoing with the cancer alliance to support primary care networks to embed
screening uptake in practice, as part of the cancer early diagnosis enhanced service
specification arising from the NHS long term plan.
Funding agreed (£180K) across the Somerset, Wiltshire, Avon and Gloucestershire
cancer alliance for a suite of interventions to be rolled out to increase cancer
screening uptake. Projects range from cervical screening drop in clinics to
investment in social media resources. These will be overseen and led by the
screening and immunisation team in 2020/2021.
8.4 Antenatal and new born Screening
The antenatal and new born screening services covering the Bristol locality area
delivered by NBT and UHBW have been delivered to national standards in 2019/20.
Performance and quality indicators are monitored by the Screening and
Immunisation team in PHE and assurance provided to the Bristol Health Protection
Committee.
Somenational changes to the prenatal screening programme are expected, but have
not yet been implemented. It is expected that this will be progressed during 2020/21.

Page 166

9. Environmental hazards to health, safety and pollution control
9.1 Air Quality
Poor air quality can have an impact on health at all stages of life, from being
associated with low birth weight, impacts on lung function development in children,
an increased risk of chronic disease and acute respiratory exacerbations, to acute
and chronic premature death. Latest evidence is linking air pollution with impacts on
cognitive function. All these health impacts can impact upon a person’s quality of life.
The most vulnerable are the young and old.

Air quality in Bristol is sufficiently poor in many locations for the health impacts
described in the previous paragraph to be experienced by citizens in Bristol.
Monitoring data shows continued exceedances of the annual mean nitrogen dioxide
(NO2) air quality objective close to roadside locations in the city centre and along the
main arterial routes. Concentrations of NO2 do, however, appear to be declining but
further urgent action is needed to comply with legal limits.

A report commissioned by BCC6 calculated that approximately 300 deaths of Bristol
residents can be attributed to air pollution (particulate matter - PM2.5 and nitrogen
dioxide – NO2) in 2013. This equates to 8.5% of all deaths in Bristol annually. These
deaths attributed to air pollution compare, on average, to 9 people killed in road
traffic collisions in Bristol each year.
Air Quality Management Area
Road transport is a major source of particulate matter and nitrogen oxides (NO x)
accounting for 34% of nitrogen oxides and 12% of primary particulate matter (PM 2.5)
emissions in the UK7. At busy roadside locations the contribution of traffic to nitrogen
oxides can be greater than 80%.
Through monitoring of the city’s air quality, a geographical area has been identified
where health standards (known as objectives) are not achieved and an Air Quality
Management Area (AQMA) has been established in line with DEFRA (Department
for Environment and Rural Affairs) recommendations (See Figure 1).

Figure 10 indicates the boundary of the Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) for
Bristol, inside which air quality is at risk of exceeding government objectives.

6
7

Air Quality Consultants (2017. Health Impacts of Air Pollution in Bristol.: Air Quality Consultants Ltd
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2018). Clean Air Strategy 2018.

Page 167

The AQMA is based around busy road junctions and arterial roads where nitrogen
dioxide from the exhausts of vehicles does not get readily dispersed because of the
surrounding buildings.
Domestic solid fuel burning is a re-emerging area of concern. Recent evidence
shows that this source contributes to 38% of all PM2.5 emissions nationally.

Figure 10 Map of Bristol’s Air Quality Management Area (AQMA)

Air pollution generated from human sources such as the combustion of fuels for
heat, electricity and transport is having an adverse effect on the health of Bristol’s
communities. In 2016, 5.3% of “all-cause adult mortality” in Bristol was considered

Page 168

attributable to “anthropogenic particulate air pollution”8, which is the same as the
national proportion (5.3%) and is mid-ranking for English Core Cities.
The proportions of deaths attributable to air pollution vary across the city in relation
to pollutant concentrations, from around 7% in some wards to around 10% in others.
Concentrations are highest in the centre of the city and therefore so are deaths
attributable to air pollution.
A Clean Air Zone (CAZ) is in development with plan to implement from October
2021. Clean Air for Bristol | Bristol Clean Air Zone | Clean air for everyone

9.2 Avonmouth
A community oversight group has been established in the Avonmouth ward, working
alongside the MP and local Councillors to look into complaints of fly pollution in the
area. A fly expert has been commissioned to independently produce a report to be
shared with all parties.
A number of historical complaints pertaining to flies were alleged to be linked with a
local waste plant that has recently closed down. This has reduced the number of
complaints significantly.
Moving forward we are continuing to monitor the local situation and work with the MP
Cllrs and community.

10. Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR)
10.1 Local Resilience Forum, March 19 – Jan 20
Prior to Covid, Avon and Somerset Local Resilience Forum (ASLRF) work had been
focussed on Brexit, the risks identified in the ASLRF Community Risk Register and
the agency capabilities needed to respond.
Brexit preparations centred on impacts of supply chain disruption and on ports of
entry; the sea ports of Avonmouth and the Royal Portbury Dock and Bristol
International Airport. Other risk work addressed excess death planning – noting the
lack of local body storage capacity, contextualising the terrorism threat and a range
of environmental risks, including flooding, snow and severe winter weather and
heatwave.
In Summer 2019 the National Security Risk Assessment (NSRA) was published,
updating the National Risk Assessment and, for the first time, capturing both national
risks and threats, as identified by all central government departments. The
document is intended by the Cabinet Office to be the primary driver of LRF work
8

Via Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF), 2017

Page 169

across the country and required a re-assessment of the ASLRF Community Risk
Register. The NSRA identified 125 risks and threats, of which 14 were judged ‘very
high’, including 6 terrorism associated risks, flooding, pandemic flu and failure of the
electricity transmission system. Notably, cyber threats made it onto the assessment
for the first time, the most significant being a cyber-attack on the health and social
care system, judged to be a ‘medium’ risk.

10.2 The Covid Response, Jan 20 onwards
ASLRF, like all LRFs, played a key role in the governments command and control
structure in responding to Covid. ASLRF declared Covid a ‘major incident’ in March
and a full command structure comprising of a Strategic Co-ordinating Group, a
Tactical Coordinating Group and numerous operational cells were stood up. Cells
included the Multi-agency Intelligence Cell, which completed central government
data returns and produced dashboards across key activities and workstreams to
understand the covid response; the Logistics Cell, which received and distributed
centrally provided PPE across the region, and the Excess Death Cell.
Excess death management was based on the initial fatality modelling and supported
the placement of both locally sourced and government provided body storage
facilities in hospitals and mortuaries across the region. The work, led by Bristol City
Council, worked with coroners, funeral directors, cemetery and crematoria facilities,
public mortuaries, registrars and community groups to clarify procedures and find
capacity in the ‘death management process’. This work supported local ‘After Death
Working Groups’ formed in each Local Authority area.
Working across three Clinical Commissioning Group areas; Bristol, North Somerset
and South Gloucestershire (BNSSG), BANES, Swindon and Wiltshire (BSW) and
Somerset and five Upper Tier Local Authorities presented a significant test of ASLRF
capacity in the early stages of Covid. Response systems primarily designed for high
impact, geographically specific and ‘short lived’ incidents had to adjust to this allencompassing, chronic, public health emergency.

11. Covid 19
11.1 Timeline
On 31st December 2019 Wuhan Municipal Health Commission, in Hubei Province,
China reported a cluster of cases of pneumonia. A novel coronavirus was eventually
identified.

Page 170

On 10th January 2020 the World Health Organisation issued a comprehensive
package of technical guidance online with advice to all countries on how to detect,
test and manage potential cases, based on what was known about the virus at the
time.
On 22nd January 2020 China announced that there was clear evidence of person to
person transmission.
The first 2 cases were reported in the UK on the 31st of January 2020
The Pandemic was declared by the World Health Organisation on 11 th March 2020.
On the 23rd of March the Prime Minister announced the national UK lockdown which
came legally into force on the 26th of March
11.2 Bristol specific
Towards the end of January 2020 local systems were requested to have dedicated
screening areas for patients with symptoms, suspected of having contracted COVID19. In February 2020, weekly telephone conferences began with system partners to
review the frequently updated guidance and ensure local processes were being put
in place to respond and adapt.
The first national guidance for COVID 19 was published on 3rd March 2020.
During March many services that deliver health protection, for instance sexual health
services, worked swiftly to radically remodel their service delivery to adapt to a
COVID pandemic, provide business continuity, protect staff and service users.
Council ASC commissioners ran a large conference event to brief providers and
distribute resources to assist with infection prevention and control.
During March 2020, there was a dramatic increase in activity to work through a
range of issues including, screening processes, cleaning and decontamination, use
and access of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE guidance was issued in April
2020). All of this was in an environment of escalating pace and level of concern Staff
were redeployed to focus on Covid and much non-critical work was put on hold.
Bristol had its first reported case of Covid-19 on the 6th of March, by the 15th of
March Bristol had 5 confirmed cases. Bristol Royal Infirmary reported its first Covid
death on the 15th of March and its first death in a care home in the week ending the
27th of March.
The next Health Protection report for Bristol will focus in detail on the Covid 19
response.

Page 171

